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COMMITTED TO CREATING BETTER LIFE
X 0 A JH A E &

Each city is full of energy and alive, —EHT - BWED

growing, buzzing with activity like a hive. BEAER  BEAK -

La dolce vita, we shall be thy source, ERPMAKREHETHIRR
and nourish industry with bountiful resource. LAE ¥ &R il B B % -

Our diversified products reduce everyday strife, UNZTERBEDELY

our innovative services boost quality of life. NEIFT R SRR BB

When we achieve infinite fusion of people and city, B Bt A B 3k TTOAY M PR AT BB
then drink we all from the fountain of joy and prosperity. HE— UK - FTEHEHEE -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREBE

Dear Shareholders:

| am pleased to present the annual results for 2024 of China
Merchants Land Limited (“CML" or the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

RESULTS OVERVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024 ("Reporting Period”),
equity attributable to shareholders of the Company amounted to
RMB8,022 million, and net asset value per share was RMB1.64. For
2024, the Group's operating revenue amounted to RMB20.7 billion,
and gross profit amounted to approximately RMB985 million.

Against the backdrop of a declining real estate market, the scale of
real estate development projects carried forward and gross profit
margin both dropped significantly as compared with the same
period last year, and total gross profit also decreased significantly
year-on-year; combined with the significant year-on-year decrease
in profits and losses of the Group's joint ventures and associates,
the Company's share of profits of joint ventures and associates
decreased, and the Company recorded the loss attributable to
the owners of the Company of approximately RMB1.85 billion.
However, the retained profits attributable to the owners of the
Company at the end of the Reporting Period remained at RMB7.5
billion.

MARKET REVIEW

In 2024, China's economy achieved a year-on-year growth of 5.3% in
the first quarter, but the growth rate slowed down in the second and
third quarters. The central government strengthened macro-control
in response to the prevailing situation and an array of policies was
introduced in a timely manner, which boosted social confidence
and restored growth in the fourth quarter, with a year-on-year
growth of 5.4%.

6 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2024

EHMFMRR :

AAMRARZHRARENERAR([HBEEM LK
READEEMBRAR(REIAEE])  #HE-F_-MO
FZEFRERS -

XENE
HE_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—BILFE(RSH])
KANRIRREGERAARES0.22BTT - BREE
SHEAARE1 647 o —E - IUF - NEFML I
ABARE207E T TREHAREISSETT

EEHETS TENSRT  FHEMEEEAER
BRENXGE EFRIBARTRE - EMEARTRL
RIER D BMARESECEMBEDRBERLL
RIER D - BEARADEBMALEENBETE A
REAFFARBEEAREBEOARK18.5ET
BRBERRARBEE ARERBENDESAR
B75EITIRE -

15 Bl 8

—EoNF - REKEEFERRISS3%MRLL
BEEE- F=FEIRENE - PREAFREZM
BREABHRE —EBYEREERFLE  RIETHEE
O MFEIREIER - FLLIERS.4% °



China’s gross domestic product (GDP) for the year exceeded RMB
134 trillion for the first time, ranking second in the world, with a
year-on-year growth of 5%. China’s economic growth rate ranked
first among the world’s major economies, with a solid high-quality
development, continuing to be an important driving force for the

world's economic growth.

In 2024, the proportion of real estate industry value added in GDP
continued to decline, down 0.5 percentage points from 2023 to
6.3%, reflecting that the China’s overall real estate market was still
in a downward cycle and the situation was getting increasingly
difficult. In the first nine months of 2024, the sales amount of
nationwide new commercial housing amounted to RMB6,888
billion, a year-on-year decrease of 22.7%. Since the Political
Bureau meeting in September 2024 firstly proposed "to promote
the stabilization and recovery”; and the Political Bureau meeting
in December clearly stated that it would continue to "stabilize
the property market and the stock market", the sales amount of
nationwide new commercial housing in the fourth quarter rose
significantly, with annual sales amount of RMB9,675 billion, and the
year-on-year decline narrowed to 17.1%.

The current international political and economic environment has
a significant impact on China's economy. The US government
advocates tariffs increase and supply chain delinking, which
aggravated the geopolitical risks. In the face of unpredictable
economic and political fluctuations, all the employees of the Group
has been united in finding ways to compress project costs while
accelerating the launch of high-quality products and reducing
reliance on promotional discounts; secondly, actively disposed
of inefficient and ineffective investments to generate positive
profit contributions in the current period through disposal; thirdly,
maintained a moderate investment scale to achieve long-term
development.
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DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS

In recent years, the Group has maintained its strategic strength
and continued to consolidate its fundamentals, focusing on core
quality cities and projects, enhancing its operational capabilities to
the extreme, and fine-tuning to improve quality. Customer-oriented

featured product series such as " Xu Series ", " Cuican Series
and " Tianging Series " continued to develop. Through deepening
the “Full-dimensional Scene Creation” system, the first opening of
the Nanjing Hexi “Jinling Xu” project achieved a 92% sell-through
rate; Guangzhou “Lin Yu Jing”, as the benchmark of the first fourth-
generation residence, achieved a real scene display and opening
within 99 days of land acquisition, creating a value miracle with an
average price exceeding the feasibility study report in the outer
suburbs.

In 2024, the Group, together with its associates and joint venture
companies, achieved the aggregate contracted sales amount of
RMB42,460 million and sales area of 1,895,802 square meters,
achieving a V-shaped reversal from a 32% year-on-year decline at
the beginning of the year to a 10% growth throughout the year.
Among them, there were projects such as Nanjing Zhongshan
Fengjing that exceeded the sales target for the year. In terms of
annual sales in full-coverage basis, the Group ranked among the
top five in cities such as Nanjing, Chongging and Xi'an.

In 2024, the Group added three new land parcels over which it
had major control, with a total permissible area of approximately
285,500 square meters, and a total land premium of approximately
RMB 2,778 million. We treated all investments with prudence,
carefully selecting projects in quality cities and prime locations to
ensure the stability and sustainability of future income and create
lasting value for shareholders.
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ASSET OPERATION

In 2024, the Group's CM+ Hotel and Serviced Apartments (“"CM+
Hotel”) in Hong Kong continued to deliver outstanding results,
with a combined occupancy rate of over 75%, an average nightly
room rate of approximately 8% which was higher than the market
average, an increase in operating revenue of 3% compared to the
previous year, and a year-on-year growth in EBITDA of é%. CM+
Hotel have replaced the old sofas with sofa beds to increase the
number of occupants in each room and seize the daily stay market.
The daily stay customers are globalized, with 10-20% coming
from the mainland China, South Korea and local areas, and the
rest coming from Europe, North America, Asia-Pacific and other
countries and regions. In addition to economic indicators, CM+
Hotel have also taken up their social responsibility by winning a
number of awards, including the “Traveller Review Awards” issued
by Booking.com, an international online booking platform, and the
"Quality Wedding Merchant” issued by ESDlife, a e-lifestyle media
organization in Hong Kong. CM+ Hotel have been recognized for
their fulfillment of social responsibility, customer satisfaction and
operational management.

In terms of ESG, the Company was recognized by CCXGFI x HERA:
Qutstanding Green and Sustainable Finance Award in 2024. China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (1503.HK)
managed by the Group participated in the 2024 Global Real Estate
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) assessment for the first time
and was awarded a 4-star rating by GRESB, indicating that the
achievements of the REIT in the field of sustainable development
have been recognized by the international ESG system. As of the
end of 2024, total asset size of the China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust exceeded RMB 10 billion, contributed
annual asset management services revenue of approximately RMB
17.42 million.
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FUNDING AND FINANCE

Under the situation that the offshore financing environment is
becoming increasingly severe due to multiple shocks such as the
US dollar interest rate hike and the intensification of geopolitical
conflicts, the Group has smooth financing channels, abundant cash
and sound financial position. In response to the continued high
interest rate environment in the Hong Kong market, the Company
continued to optimize its financing structure and has replaced all
Hong Kong dollar loans with low-cost RMB loans. Benefiting from
the window period of RMB interest rate cuts, the weighted average
cost of financing for the Group's bank and financial institution
borrowings for the year was 3.77%, which was at a relatively low
level in the industry. As at the end of 2024, the Group held RMB12.7
billion in currency funds, with a gearing ratio of 53% and a net debt
ratio of 26%, with the “Three Red Lines” constantly in the green.
The robust capital structure helped the Company to resist the
economic cycle and capitalize on the opportunities arising from
market adjustments.
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OUTLOOK

With the support of policies, 2025 may become a key year for the
real estate market to bottom out and stabilize. Market changes will
be deeply affected by the solid implementation of existing policies
and the timely introduction of incremental policies. At the same
time, the recovery of the macro economy, the increase in residents'
income and the improvement in employment expectations will also
be important drivers of the real estate market recovery.

The Group will firmly grasp this development opportunity, further
strengthen its deep-rooted urban development strategy, start from
the basic work, and make efforts in the following aspects to strive
for excellent quality.

Development Speeding Up: For new land acquisition projects,
we will make every effort to achieve the speedy opening; for old
renovation projects, we will accelerate the incubation process to
improve project progress efficiency.

Price Management: We will strengthen the refined management
of sales prices and re-evaluate current sales prices. By deeply
exploring product highlights, telling good product stories, and
doing well customer guidance, we strive to achieve a balance
between sales volume and sales prices, thereby increasing project
profits.
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Inventory Digestion: For existing projects, especially those located
in the core areas of the cities, we will continue to upgrade and
renovate them through the "re-doing old projects" approach to
improve the quality and added value of the projects. In the process
of "re-doing old projects ", we will uphold the spirit of innovation
and pioneering and actively explore new marketing strategies.
In addition to traditional sales channels, we will make full use of
opportunities brought by policies such as acquisition and storage of
housing, government repurchase, housing ticket resettlement, and
old-for-new exchange to help key and difficult projects get rid of
historical burdens as soon as possible.

Enhancing Product Competitiveness: In 2025, the Company
will be committed to comprehensively improving product
competitiveness to achieve the leap from an industry "follower" to
a "leader". Benchmarking the product creation model of domestic
first-line excellent competitive enterprises, on the one hand, we will
collaboratively improve the entire product system, strengthen the
close cooperation among marketing, cost, procurement, customer
service and other departments to achieve efficient operation and
cost savings, effectively serve the Company's operations, and
improve the current operating difficulties; on the other hand, with
the empowerment of technological innovation, we will actively
explore innovative applications in the fields of customer analysis,
consumption guidance, and improving operating efficiency,
increase the implementation of latest scientific and technological
innovation results in residential service scenarios, and especially
think deeply about how to embed emerging sciences and
technologies such as artificial intelligence.
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Cost Reduction and Efficiency Enhancement: We will continue
to deepen the work of reducing costs and enhancing efficiency,
deeply explore the space for saving construction costs and
operating costs, and strengthen the control of management
expenses, sales expenses and financial expenses to optimize the
financial situation. For loss-making projects, we will take extreme
measures to reduce costs and enhance efficiency.
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customers and partners for their trust and support, and to all of our
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Jiang Tiefeng
Chairman
12 March 2025

* Unless otherwise specified, the currency of this statement is RMB.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEAEBERERE

As of the last practicable date prior to the publication of this
annual report, the Directors’ updated information is set out below,
save as disclosed below, there is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among the Directors. The
change of directors’ information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) since the Company'’s
last published interim report is set out in the section “Change of
Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. JIANG Tiefeng, aged 52, is a senior engineer. He was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company, the
chairman of the board of directors of the Company and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company on 25
September 2023. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors and secretary of the Party Committee of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. ("CMSK"). He has been
a director of CMSK since October 2019 and the general manager
of CMSK from October 2019 to September 2023. He has been the
assistant general manager, deputy general manager and general
manager of China Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.
Nanjing Company; the general manager of CMSK’s Shanghai
Company, the executive deputy general manager of the East
China region, the general manager of the East China region and
the general manager of the Jiangnan region; and the deputy
general manager of CMSK. Mr. Jiang graduated from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology with a Bachelor's Degree
in Civil Engineering, majoring in Architectural Engineering, and
later studied at Tsinghua University with a Master’s Degree in
Engineering.
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Mr.YU Zhiliang, aged 46, prior to rejoining the Company as a
non-executive Director on 5 August 2024, he joined the Company
as an executive Director on 2 June 2012, was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on 3 February 2023 and resigned as a non-
executive Director on 5 May 2023.

He also served as the general manager of the Company from 18
August 2016 to 3 February 2023 and the chief financial officer of the
Company from 29 June 2012 to 17 August 2016, respectively. Mr.
YU was a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company during
the said period. Mr. YU has been the chief financial officer and
secretary to the board of directors of CMSK since 8 July 2024. He
was the deputy head of the finance department (property rights
department) of China Merchants Group Limited. He was a director
of China Merchants Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd., the
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 001914.S27) from 24 November 2022 to 5 May 2023. He was
appointed as a non-executive director of the REIT manager ("REIT
Manager”) of China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment
Trust (the units of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, stock code: 1503) from 11 July
2019 to 25 May 2023 and rejoined as a non-executive director and
the chairman of the board of the REIT Manager since 6 August
2024.

He was the chief financial officer of China Merchants Property
(Xiamen) Co. Ltd.* and Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate
Development Ltd.* from 2010 to 2012.

Mr. YU obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Xiamen
University and a master’s degree in business administration
(finance) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is an
accountant in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC").

*  For identification purpose only

REREE  RF465 R-ZE_FAARLHBR
MARRABHEFRITESZA  R=F— %A
“AMARRBHAERTESE R-_F_=F_A=
HREHERTEERN T =F A AT ABHEI R
TEE-

BAPBE_E—A"ENATNARE_ZE_=F=
AZHHEEEARRFBEE  UWERBZE—ZFX
AZt+hAZEZZ—X"ENA+tHEHRHEARQF
I EBE o REEE LMY EARGETHER
FZEE - fEEA T -NFE+L A\ BREERRA
AU BKBEENESSWE - BETHREREEER
ARIMBE(ERET)BFR BT ==_F+—A
THMNMEBE-E-—FRARAAEITHRERESREE
BERBEBRMHERAG (ERORRINEHFZ S E
W BRARER  001914.S2)ME S - —T— NF+ A
+—HAEE T -_=FRA-t+HBEZTAHERER
HMERHEREEAES (EESBEMNRBEBHER
ZFBRATIER LT - BRMHKSE : 1503) FEE R
ATEAEBADRIENTES  YE-Z-HFN
BARBEBIIMABTEEEAETFNTEERES
fES

BR T —EFE T —_FHMNEETHEERME
(EF)ERAREEETHEFHERZERAFLZ
B HBE -

RAELEBEMAREEHBLIBURBBRINARET
HER(CRMB) EXELEMU - REERPEAR
HABE([HE ) &5Ham -

* ERES)

T DNFEFR BEREMBRAR 17



Mr. LI Yao, aged 38, was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company and a member of the audit committee of the
Company on 5 May 2023. He is currently the general manager
of the overseas development division of CMSK. He joined China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited* in 2012
and has since served as the engineer and assistant department
manager of the engineering department and administration
department of China Merchants Colombo International Container
Terminals Ltd.*, the manager of the administration department of
China Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited*, the
manager of the overseas business department of China Merchants
Holdings (International) Company Limited*, the permanent
representative of China Merchants Group Representative Office in
Djibouti, the manager of overseas department and international
cooperation department of China Merchants Group headquarters,
deputy director of Executive Office of China Merchants Group
headquarters.

Mr. Li was appointed as a non-executive director of the REIT
manager of CMC REIT on 25 May 2023.

Mr. Li graduated from Tianjin University with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering management and English in July 2009 and later

graduated from Tianjin University with a master’'s degree in

management in engineering management in January 2012.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 73, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr.
SO resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and
his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an
executive Director.

Dr. SO was the vice-chairman, an executive director and CEO of
SJM Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 880), which is listed on the
Stock Exchange, before his retirement on 15 June 2023. He is
also the chairman of the executive committee of MACAUPORT —
Sociedade de Administracao de Portos, S.A.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance
Professional and a Fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a Doctoral Degree
in Management Studies from the International Management Centre
of the Southern Cross University in 2001.

Dr. SO has been appointed as an executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of DOMAINE POWER
HOLDINGS LIMITED (the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 442) since 1 December
2021.
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Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 57, executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016 and further appointed as a
General Manager of the Company on 2 February 2023.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry.
He served as assistant property manager in property agency
department in China Merchants Properties Development Limited
in February 1995 and subsequently he was promoted as deputy
manager, manager, deputy general manager and the current
position of director and general manager. From January 1999, he
acted as general manager assistant in China Merchants Property
Agency Limited and later he was promoted to the position of
deputy general manager and the current position of director
and general manager. From September 2001 to December 2002,
he served as director and general manager in China Merchants
Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited and from September
2017, he also acted as director and general manager in China
Merchants Property Management (Overseas) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor’'s Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring
in finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’'s Degree
of Science in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in
December 2006. Mr. Wong holds an Estate Agent's Licence from
the Estate Agents Authority of Hong Kong and a PMP (Tier 1)
Licence from the Property Management Services Authority of Hong
Kong. In 2010, he was awarded the membership of Hong Kong
Institute of Real Estate Administrators.

Ms. CHEN Yan, aged 47, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 3 February 2023. She is currently the chief
financial officer of the Company and also the chief financial officer
of Shenzhen China Merchants Construction Management Co.,
Ltd.* (RYIBREEZEIEBRAF), a subsidiary of CMSK. She had
held various positions in CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. She joined CMSK in October 2009 as a senior manager
of the finance department until July 2016. She was also appointed
as the senior financial controller of the finance department of CMSK
from July 2016 to May 2017. From May 2017 to January 2018, she
was the deputy chief financial officer of the Company. She has
also been the internal auditor of REIT manager of CMC REIT since
December 2019.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from School of Management of
Sun Yat-Sen University with a Master’s Degree in Accounting and
Business Studies in 2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public
Accountant in the PRC in 2002.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 73, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.
WONG is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently
holds the following positions in other listed companies:

¢ independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1104);

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 757);

e independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, (its shares have transferred of listing from
GEM to main board with stock code 6966 since 17 December
2019);

¢ independent non-executive director of Dexin Services Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2215); and

e independent non-executive director of Tian An Medicare
Limited (formerly known as China Medical & HealthCare
Group Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 383).

Other listed companies in which Dr. WONG has served as an
independent non-executive director in the past three years include
the following:

e Dexin China Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2019)

e China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited
(Stock Exchange listing number: 6166 before delisting)
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In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm
in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served
as Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private
professional auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to
2017. Dr. WONG was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND
Associates CPA Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG
was elected or admitted:

e  afellow of The Chartered Governance Institute in September
2002;

e afellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute in
February 2002;

e afellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January
1999,

e amember of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute in November 2012;

. a fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

. a fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

° a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002,
and

e 3 Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in
December 2010 and a Bachelor's Degree in commerce from a
joint program held by Shenzhen University and Clayton University,
Missouri, USA in May 1990. He also received a Bachelor's Degree
and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Nottingham
Trent University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.
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Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 66, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor's Degree and a
Master's Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University in January 1982 and November
1984, respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in
December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner
of the PRC in October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of
the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of
Architecture and Urban Planning School in Shenzhen University
from December 2000.

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 66, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI is a member of the
audit committee and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company.

Dr. SHI was an associate professor of the Department of Finance
and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University before
retirement.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor's Degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster
University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex
University, UK in July 1995.
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Mr. Ip Man Ki Ryan, aged 35, has joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director since 25 May 2023.

Mr. lp is currently the Vice President and Executive Director of
Public Policy Institute of Our Hong Kong Foundation (OHKEF).
Before joining OHKF in January 2017, he has worked at both
Jones Lang LaSalle and the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as an
economist.

Mr. Ip participates in various public offices. He is a member of
the HKSAR Government’s Advisory Committee on the Northern
Metropolis, and Land and Development Advisory Committee, the
Town Planning Board, the Hong Kong Maritime and Port Board,
and the Estate Agents Authority. He is also a Vice President of
the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce Hong Kong and
International Chapter, and a board member of the Hong Kong
PropTech Association.

He obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in July 2012 and a Master of Science in
Economics from the London School of Economics and Political
Science in July 2013. Mr. Ip is a Chartered Surveyor (MRICS) and a
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA).
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CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO EHBHEESR &
DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant 1R & FWRAIE1351BINVGEECATIHRERHES

to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below: BN 2 EREREY T
Name of directors Details of change
EEnE BEFE
Ms. CHEN Yan Ms. CHEN ceased to receive emoluments from the Group since October 2024.
PRI+ BRzzt B —Z_MFE+ AR TEE AR ERNEH -

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from @R AFVEH BEERWREERR - BAREREA
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this annual report, there  ZEHFAEFIEIN - B A A T RE T 2 PR L% -
are no other changes in the directors’ information required to be & iR# F 813 51BNEBATIRBREHES
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the &}l 2 Hih &t &) o

Company's last published interim report.

*  For Identification Purpose Only * e
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Zhu Mingyu, aged 44, graduated from Nanjing Tech University
with a degree in civil engineering. He has been the general
manager of the Group’s Nanjing Company since July 2024. Since
starting his career, he has been cultivated in the real estate market
of Jiangsu Province.

Previous work experience includes: From February 2021 to January
2023, he served as the general manager of CMSK Suzhou Company.
From January 2023 to July 2024, he served as the general manager
of CMSK Southern Jiangsu Company.

Mr. CHANG Chun, aged 38, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Chang startd his career in 2006 and joined the design and
development department of the Group’s Nanjing Company in 2013
and was subsequently promoted to manager of the development
and operation department and the investment and development
department. He was the assistant to the general manager of the
Nanjing Company during the period from 2018 to 2020 and the
deputy general manager and then the general manager of CMSK
Hefei Company during the period from 2020 to 2023. He was
appointed as the general manager of the Group’s Guangzhou
Company since June 2023.

Mr. Chang graduated from Nanjing University in 2006, majoring in
Resources, Environment and Urban Planning and Management,
and obtained a master’s degree in land resources management
from Nanjing University in 2010.
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Mr. WANG Zhuoran, aged 48, is the general manager of the
Group’s Chongging Company and is mainly responsible for the
development and operation of the Chongging Company.

Mr. Wang graduated from Nanchang University in 1999 with
a bachelor’s degree in architecture from the Department of
Architecture.

Mr. Wang joined CMSK in July 2009 and became the deputy
general manager of the product management center of CMSK
in February 2012. In June 2016, he was promoted to the general
manager of the product management center. He has been the
general manager of Chongqging Company of the Group since
August 2022.

Ms. LI Danyi, aged 42, is the deputy general manager of the
Group's Xi'an Company and is responsible for the operation,
development and management of our Xi'an Company.

Ms. Li joined the Group as the manager of the marketing
management department of Xi'an Company in 2018 and was
promoted to the position of deputy director in 2019. In June 2020,
she became the assistant general manager of Xi'an Company and
started to act as the general manager in January 2023.

Ms. Li has been rooted in the Xi'an real estate market for a long
time. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for Shaanxi Poly Real
Estate Development Company Limited and Xi'an China Resources
Land Development Company Limited.

Mr. NG Ho, aged 37, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 31 May 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Master of Business
degree from Monash University in Australia and is a fellow of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He has extensive experience in
banking operations, corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions,
restructuring and reorganisation, capital market operations, cross-
border investments, compliance and listed company secretarial
practices since 2010.
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“RUDDER” CULTURE
N 2 X AE B @

The “Rudder” is the icon of the maritime heritage of China Merchants Group.
It rallys strength and guides us to achieve our goals.
It is the guarantee of achieving the goals and the spirit of mustering the power.
Adherence to “China Merchants family and Shekou gene”,

We strive for advancement and excellence as we march forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEN®WE DN

MARKET REVIEW

In 2024, China's gross domestic product (GDP) for the entire year
reached RMB134,908.4 billion, with a year-on-year growth of
5.0% calculated at constant prices. The economic operation was
generally stable and made progress steadily.

In 2024, the overall real estate market in China still presented
an adjustment trend. In the first three quarters, new home
sales decreased significantly year-on-year. Subsequently, on 26
September 2024, the Political Bureau meeting proposed “to
promote the stabilization and recovery of the real estate market”,
releasing the strongest signal for maintaining stability. The policy
goal was directly aimed at reversing the fundamental situation of
the industry and injecting confidence into the market. Since the
fourth quarter, both new home and second-hand home transaction
volumes have rebounded significantly. In December of the same
year, the Political Bureau meeting proposed “stabilizing the
property market”, and the Central Economic Work Conference
once again emphasized “continuous efforts to promote the
stabilization and recovery of the real estate market”, setting the
tone for the property market in 2025 and releasing an even more
resolute tone for stabilizing the property market. The annual real
estate development investment was RMB10,028 billion, a year-on-
year decrease of 10.6%,; the sales area of new commercial housing
was 973.85 million square meters, a decrease of 12.9% compared to
the previous year, and the sales amount of new commercial housing
was RMB9,675 billion, a year-on-year decrease of 17.1%.

In 2024, high-quality improved real estate projects were still
popular, and prices were rising. In terms of demand structure,
cities including Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, and Chongqging had
the proportion of new home transactions of 90-120 square meters
accounting for more than 30%, occupying the mainstream position
in the market; while Xi'an took the improved new homes of 120-144
square meters as the main force of transactions.

Facing the test of the decline in industry scale, the Group adhered
to the strategic mainline of “seeking development in stability and
leading the market with quality”. Facing the trend of overall dot-
like high heat and continuous differentiation in the land auction
market, the Group focused on the “Three Excellences” (excellent
cities, excellent locations, and excellent plots) investment strategy.
Throughout the year, three new land development investments in
which the Group has significant control were added, all located in
first-tier and strong second-tier cities such as Guangzhou and Xi'an.
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The Group, together with its associates and joint venture
companies, completed the aggregate contracted sales amount of
RMB42,460 million throughout the year 2024, achieving a V-shaped
reversal from a 32% year-on-year decline in the first quarter to a
10% growth throughout the year. Among them, there were projects
such as Nanjing Zhongshan Fengjing that exceeded the sales
target for the year. Through deepening the “Full-dimensional
Scene Creation” system, the first opening of the Nanjing “Jinling
Xu"” project achieved a 92% sell-through rate; Guangzhou “LIN YU
JING”, as the benchmark of the first fourth-generation residence,
achieved a real scene display and opening within 99 days of
land acquisition, creating a value miracle with an average price
exceeding the feasibility study report in the outer suburbs.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2024, loss amounted to RMB1,689,630,000 (2023:
profit of RMB1,251,815,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 235%. The loss attributable to the owners of the
Company was RMB1,850,755,000 (2023: profit of RMB133,414,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 1,487%.
Basic and diluted losses per share was RMB37.73 cents (2023: basic
and diluted earnings per share of RMB2.72 cents), representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 1,487%.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was RMB8,021,863,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB9,912,250,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 19% as compared with that of the end of
last year.

Turnover

In 2024, the Group recorded turnover of RMB20,661,233,000 (2023:
RMB28,800,845,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 28%. In 2024, projects in Nanjing and Jurong, Xi‘an,
Chongging, Guangzhou, Foshan and Hong Kong accounted for
approximately 40.7%, 26.98%, 21.08%, 7.29%, 3.61% and 0.34%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit amounted to RMB985,420,000 (2023:
RMB3,870,543,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 75%. This was mainly due to the relatively high
proportion of items with lower gross profit margin in the carried
forward income. The gross profit margin was approximately 4.77%
(2023: approximately 13.44%), reflecting 8.67 percentage points
year-on-year decline.

Share of results of associates and joint ventures

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's share of
results of associates and joint ventures both recorded a loss
of RMB128,635,000 (2023: profits of RMB303,351,000) and
RMB117,677,000 (2023: profits of RMB64,730,000), respectively.

This turnaround in financial performance was mainly attributable
to the fact that the associates and joint ventures in which the
Group had invested in earlier years suffered losses at the
project level amidst the unfavourable environment of the overall
downturn in the property market, which affected the overall
performance.
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FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2024, the net current assets of the Company
amounted to RMB27,538,618,000 (2023: RMB22,584,063,000).

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash was
RMB12,734,449,000 (2023: RMB10,283,322,000).
currency denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided
into RMB12,413,565,000 in Renminbi, RMB56,554,000 in US$ and
RMB264,330,000 in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

In terms of

As at 31 December 2024, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB34,908,872,000 (2023: RMB35,238,088,000). In
terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt
can be divided into RMB4,562,819,000 repayable within one year,
RMB11,522,228,000 repayable after one year but within two years,
RMB16,784,828,000 repayable after two years but within five years
and RMB2,008,997,000 repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt
(total interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to
equity (including non-controlling interests) ratio (the “Net Gearing
Ratio”) was 67% (2023: 71%). The Group further utilizes the flexibility
of its capital structure and resources in a rational manner according
to project needs. The capital cost of the Group still remained at
industry-low level. As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average
finance costs of the interest-bearing debt is 3.23%, of which the
average finance costs of bank and financial institution borrowings
was 3.34%.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised via

balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to
RMB5,400,816,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB6,432,174,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, land included in properties for sale and
located in Chongqging, Xi'an and Nanjing with carrying values of
approximately RMB12,233,355,000 (2023: RMB10,673,297,000),
investment properties with carrying values of approximately
RMB1,538,548,000 (2023: RMB1,631,575,000) and trade receivables
with carrying value of approximately RMB199,000 (2023:
RMB1,071,000) have been pledged to secure bank borrowings
amounting to RMB3,099,149,000 (2023: RMB3,848,969,000) granted
to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, together with
its associated companies and joint venture companies, achieved
aggregate contracted sales of approximately RMB42,462 million
(2023: RMB38,600 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
10.00% with an aggregate contracted sales area of approximately
1,895,802 square meters (2023: 1,898,545 sqg.m.), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 0.14%. The average selling price for
the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB22,398 per square meter (2023: RMB20,331 per sq.m.).

Contracted sales amount by region in 2024 (RMB million)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 45 projects in Guangzhou,
Foshan, Chongging, Xi’an, Nanjing and Jurong, with a primary
focus on the development of residential properties, as well as
residential and commercial complex properties, types of products
include apartments, villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

A breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing the
geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of the
Group in the PRC are set out below. The saleable gross floor area of
properties which had not been sold or presold as at 31 December
2024 ("Land Bank”) was 4,201,823 sg.m..
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

e -

FHER X (&)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank of
the projects of the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) EHERRERE)

Note: The following table shows the address, existing use, and actual or expected — ffif - TRERAEEAR -2 -_NE+ - A=+ —HZFHEREE
earliest full or phased completion date of the Group's property development Bt - REBERERSEFNRR 2 28y BEKA
projects as at 31 December 2024. 8-

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)

B fhE

Projects Existing usage Y4B H

bi=f=| Addresses 34k RERAE (£/R)

Foshan {11

China Merchants Xi'an South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan, s Residential and  January 2019

B 1st Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water Channel  EER& 1L commercial ZZT—NhF—A
in the south to Fochen Road g1 @ R A SR EEREE
in the north, i =[eayeakil
Southern side of South Jinchang Road, RESRERK
Chencun Town, Shunde District, AEHL—R -
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, A RN KE -
The PRC Bl S
China Merchants Yuefu Nan Jin Village Committee Lot, 2] Residential and  October 2019
BRI Sha Long Road, ERAHLM commercial  ZZ—NF+A
Jiujiang Town, e FEREH
Nanhai District, JUTHR
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, e
The PRC MENEEE
China Merchants Yueyuan Plot 1, the western side of Jianshe Yilu, A Residential and  January 2020
HREE Xinan Street, EREHLT commercial ZZEZTF—AH
Sanshui District, =K@ FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, P EE
The PRC R T AR —
China Merchants Anzhitinglan ~ The northern side of Jiangwan 2nd Road, R Residential and  June 2020
EEEIETE and western side of Wugang Road, EERAHLT commercial  ZZEZEFXA
Chancheng District, = FEEEZ
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, JLE—RRAbA -
The PRC el
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

EROER (#

Property Development Business (continued) P ER X% (E)

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BHfEE

Projects Existing usage &M HH

1HH Addresses hhk RERE (F£/R)

Xi‘an (F%R)

China Merchants South of freight line and east of ALER SR Residential and December 2021
Main Urban Site west Gangwu Road, EIEGIAE commercial Z—TZ—F+=H
BEMT LS Xi'an International Port District R TRRAR FTEREE

Xi'an Merchants Silk Road South of freight line and east of BABEEE% R Commercial August 2022
Center west Gangwu Road, EiEGLE SE —E-—F)N\A
Piil e F e s I Xi'an International Port District ISR AR

Chang'an Xi South of Hangteng Road, east of Hangxin PEIPRFEE AR T Residential and  June 2023
KRB Road, north of Hangfei Road and west of PR B AL BR LA commercial ZZEZ=%XA

planning road, Xi‘an Space Base, 9 MURTER DAZR EEREZ
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC MR AL - FREIRE AT

Weiyang Xi South of Qiyuan Yi Road and west of Guangyuntan ~ # BEIPEFEE Residential and September 2022

%9& Avenue, Xi'an City, AL MRUR—FEAR commercial —EZZFfA
Shaanxi Province, The PRC &R BIAT FEREE

Zhen Jing Northeast of the intersection of # Residential June 2023

273 Wei Er Shi Liu Road and Xitai Road, BREH P2 Th i T EE TTT=FKA
Hi-tech Zone, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, 48— 7 IR ER T AR
The PRC RERRIL A
Xi'an Xu East of Guangyuntan Avenue, west of Xingtai North /1[5 Residential December 2023
ifEzged Road, south of Eurasian Road 5 and north of PREEAfELmEGERRE TF —ZT==%+=A
Shangshui Road, Chanba Ecological Zone, Xi‘an EEEREIAR
City, Shaanxi Province, China BB LAY -
Bidp FEELAR
1K B LALL
Yonglanwan East of Zhengyang 5th Road, south of Lanchi 2nd F Residential March 2024 to
7R Road, west of Zhengyang 6th Road and north of D iE=Yiike F= March 2025
Lanshang Road in Weibei Area, Qinhan New Town, %x%%ﬁ?ﬁ/ﬁit)#[ —ZE-MFE=/AZE
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, China ERSRIEIAR —E-RF=A
Bt — ERL/\F;@
IEFG/RERIATE
T 1 B8 AL
WONDERLAND About 210 meters south of the intersection of i Residential May 2026 to March
Eiel kil Olympic Avenue and Linxi Road, Bagjiao District, PREG & Fa T = 2027
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, China TiE R R ZEZRFERAZEC
BIMOE R AX XK T-t+F=A
ER#I210K

China Merchants Yunlan West of Jing 26 Road and East of Jing 32 Road, 3l Residential December 2025

HEER Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China [ GEEik-ai] F=E —E-RF+-HA
8+ XBR AR -
B=F AR

T|anq|ng Yunlu North of Xinglong Lin Er Road, Chang'an District, s Residential May 2026

AEEE Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, China iR Tika] F=E —E-XFRA
Rzel@ SRR — KL

Yunshanjian Southeast of the intersection of Hangfei Road and ~ H[El Residential December 2025

ZLA Wangyue Road, Chang'an District, Xi'an City, PREE LT F=E —E-HF+-A
Shaanxi Province, China Rz @MARRE
P AR AR Al

TIAN QING YUN MO West of Jing 20 Road and South of R Residential December 2025

rEER Planning 15 Road, Central Innovation Zone, PRAA LT = TR F=E —E-RF+=A
Hi-Tech Zone, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China R Al TR AR = B
UATE - AR B+ IER AR
XI'AN XI About 90 metres south of Xi'an Quan Yun Village, Residential December 2026
frit-g- Lugang Green City, Chanba International Port DR EE = ZEZRF+ZA
Xing Si Road, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China. A B B S L Y
BEB AR P 2 2B
B fI#9905K

WUTONG SHUYUAN Northeast corner of the intersection of Olympic A Residential September 2027

ERER Avenue and Linhong Road, Chanba International kil F=E —E-+FNA
Port, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province, China
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEEt
Projects Existing usage &M HH
EH Addresses 3k RERZ (£/R)
Guangzhou EM
China Merchants Yongjing Wan The northern side of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road A Residential and  July 2019
BrEEsE and eastern side of the northern extension o 3T N ANk R commercial ZE—NFtA
lane of No. KS4-4 Road, Sino-Singapore HAEKS3-2REE FEREE
Guangzhou Knowledge City Southern LAJE + KS4-45R &4t
Start-up Area, The PRC EARIAR
EXCELLENCE China North of Huangpu East Road and East of i Residential December 2023
Merchants Zhenlongfu Longtou Road, BRAEMT = —E-=F+=A
BHIRRI RN Huangpu District, iR EHRR
Guangzhou City, LAJE - BEBEBK AR
Guangdong Province,
China
Nansha Qingsheng Project North of Shagongbao Chung, east of FBIERE EMT Residential July 2024 to
MY ERIER Longitudinal Road 3, south of Heng Yi Road, EYEADANEREILE - EE January 2025
west of Longitudinal Road 4, Nanchang District, HE=FEERA - BB —ENFELARE
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China [Ea Utk =iy il —E-RF—AR
Bao Sui Tian Yu Court No. 2437, Xingang East Road, Gl Residential December 2023 to
RIER I Haizhu District, Guangzhou City, EREBEMT F= ch 2024
Guangdong Province, VIR FTB R R =F+=-A%
China 2437%% —E-WF=A
LIN YU JING 21 Yisha Road, Nansha District, Guangzhou City, i Residential August 2026 to
RIS Guangdong Province, China EREREMT F= December 2026
M ERE D215 ZE-RFNRE
—EoRE+ZA
Chongqing EE
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Danzishi Nan'an District, Gl Residential and  August 2021
RE Chongqing City, EE™ commercial —ZF=—FNA
The PRC MEFRETFA EEREE
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road R Residential and  July 2021
KETE and northern side of Neihuan Expressway, HE™ commercial ZZEZ—F+tA
Banan District, EEE FEREE
Chonggjing City, 2% B% SR fRl £
The PRC MERBREIL A
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F, s Residential and  August 2024
NEPN ] Lianglu Zone, BEM commercial ZZFZMFENA
Yubei District, ipla TEREE
Chongging City, B 48
The PRC FREDE
Yongjingcheng Sub-zone J, H Residential and  March 2020
=3 Lianglu Zone, Liangjiang New District, BEM commercial Z—ZEZTF=H
Chonggjing City, LT s E FEREE
The PRC JoE
Yundi Xiao Qu Nanping Business Centre, E Residential and  September 2020
ZER/NER Nan'an District, BEM commercial ZZTZZFNA
Chongging City, FA 7R EEREE
The PRC [EzpaREilE]
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O )

Property Development Business (continued) P ih ZE B3 K15 (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BB E
Projects Existing usage &M HH
BHE Addresses biup7ld HEAR (®£/R)
Ideal City Xiyong Area, FE Residential and September 2021
BABH Shapingba District, BEM commercial —ZE=Z—%F A
Chonggjing City, DTS EEREHZE
The PRC [t 9y
Park Uptown Shuitu Town, Gl Residential and  June 2020
NER= Beibei District, BEM commercial ZZEZTFXA
Chongging City, Bl FEREE
The PRC KA 5B
Shi Guang Xu Next to Chongging Rail Transit Loop line — Gl Residential April 2023
B Caiyunhu Station, Chaoyang Road, EEMAEKR = —E-=FNIA
Jiulongpo District, Chongging, China ISR o BIEIRIR »
FE WL
Yutianfu Parcel AH20, etc., Xiyong, FE Residential June 2023 to
VIPN Wenxian Road, EESITERE = July 2026
Shapingba District, BB TEK ZEZ=FRAE
Chongging, AH20% H 38 —ERFEA
China
Yutianfu AHO9 Plot AHO9, etc., Xiyong, Wenxian Road, e Residential September 2024 to
EIRIFAHO? Shapingba District, BEDITHRE *=E March 2027
Chongging, MBIk —ZE-MFEAAZE
China AHO9% il 3R ZEHE=A
China Merchants 1872 Sub-Area K, Dayangshi Cluster, Jiulongpo District, & Residential September 2024
EERE1872 Chongging, China BEENERRE F= (completion of
AGAEEKDE latest building
phasing)
“E-MFEAAEE
B9 B RS )
Nanjing and Jurong RR AR
China Merchants Eastern side of Baosi Road, R Commercial and September 2018
International E City southern side of Jingjiu Road, IEE AT residential —ZT-)\FNA
1REBIREN Baohua Town, FEHE IR A EEREE
Jurong City, Jiangsu Province, - Yeafil]
The PRC
Dongwangfu Junction between Hedong Road e Residential and  August 2021
RERF and Siwang Road, IEREE R commercial ZZTZ—FN\A
Qilin Street Jiuxiang, Jiangning District, TLE R B E e iE U8 EEREHE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, JA] B % B PO B PR AT
The PRC
Xijiang Ruifu Xiangxian Road in the east to Yuanten Road in H Residential and  March 2022
GispRiloy the south to a planning road in the west to IEEmRTRAE commercial —EZ-#=A
Zi Chuang Road in the north, DHEERERIAR - EEREE

02 Land Parcel, north of Zi Chuang Road

and east of Jiangpu Street and Puyun Road,

Pukou District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
The PRC
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fhE
Projects Existing usage &M HH
b= Addresses 3k RERZ (£/R)
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu  a piece of land, i Residential May 2022
B RIKORZEEE T eastern side of Bisheng Road, BB AT F= —E-FFRA
Xijiang Street, Qixia District, R P 718
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, EFFER Al
The PRC
Yongningfu Yushan Xi Road in the east to Jianshe Road il Residential October 2021
n;‘aﬁgr in the south to an existing in the west to IEER T F= —E-—F+A
Guangdian Road in the north, EOR L EEE
Pujiang Street, Pukou District, HEMLUAE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, [EES 51 i
The PRC Wik - EEEER
Ninglong Mingzhu a piece of land, Residential June 202’]
BIRAE east of Rungi Road and south of Tianhuan Road, TEEmRmaiER F=E —ZT=—%<A
Dongshan Street, Jiangning District, TEERILEE
Gulou District, Nanjing City, EEE AR - RIREE
Jiangsu Province, ARG Hb 3R
The PRC
Yonglanyuefu East of Xinpu Road and south of s Residential December 2021
2RI Xinglong Road, Jiangbei New District, TERAR AT F=E —E-—%+=A
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, TTACHT R FTEREIAR
The PRC HE K IAR
Jlangxm in Intersection of Meizizhou Road and Wentai Street, ~ BT &k %& fg R 2% T Residential December 2023
TLED Jiangxinzhou Street, Jianye District, Nanjing, DINETHERFIMNBEE YR EE —Eo=F+=
Jiangsu Province, China HRIER
Shanyujingfu - No.1 Qiaoxin Road, Qixia District, Nanjing City, PEOI#H G RTIZERRB Residential December 2021
R R LSRR Jiangsu Province, China fRB& 155 F= —E-—%+=A
China Merchants Centre - a piece of land, north of Danxia Road i Residential and  March 2025
Zhenjin and east of Hengjia Road, TEE commercial ZZTZHF=A
BB « & Hongshan Street, Ep] FERBE
Xuanwu District, ZRE
Nanjing City, AT ATE
Jiangsu Province, HER AL
The PRC 15 52 BE LA SR 38
LAKESIDE MANSION East of Phoenix 10 Road and South of Phoenix Road, A BT &% f M/ T2 T Residential November 2023
BRHEE Jiangning Development Zone, Jiangning District, EHREEBEEAR - FE R =F+—
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China JEE R AT A
JOLLY GARDEN North of Kening Road and east of Xingmin South Road, Bl T# & F A T/ T 2@ & Residential July to November
BELIEE Jiangning District, Jiangning Development Zone, N - BIRE 2025
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, China —E-RF
+AZE+—A
Nanjing Yuecheng Tiandi West of Zhongshan South Road, Zhonghuamen Street, 1 BT #5 & Fg R & B+ Residential Phased completion
E{iﬁ,ﬂiﬁ%ﬁﬁ Qinhuai District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China.  ZEPI#7EA 1L ﬁﬁ%uﬁ F= from August 2020
to August 2027
—T-_TF)\RZE
ZEHENA
DEET
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Newly Investment Projects

The following table shows the new investments in which the Group

has significant control during the year ended 31 December 2024:

XKERE )

5 Hh EE B B TS (48)

FRREER
TRIITHE-_T-mE+- A=+ B FFAE
BE E ARG IBRE

Average
land
Total land Total Total premium per
Cities Projects consideration site area permissible area permissible area
Tt RER
W HH TiAE AEmEE BITREE 18
(RMB million) (sg-m.) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
(AR
(AREBZT) (FF2K) (FF2K) FHAK)
Guangzhou LIN YU JING
FEM PRI 1,018 31,200 78,000 13,049
Xi'an XI'AN XI
[iik:q ALE 999 45,900 101,000 9,887
Xi'an WUTONG SHUYUAN
ik ERER 761 42,600 106,500 7,146
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Foshan

In 2024, contracted sales amount of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Foshan was approximately
RMB3,943 million and contracted sales area was 193,501 sg.m.
Foshan Baohua Project (f# 1L/ %) was one of the major projects.

As at 31 December 2024, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Foshan reached 1,050,690 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future
will amount to 85,639 sg.m..

Introduction of Foshan Baohua Project

The project is located in the core area of Qiandeng Lake, Guicheng,
Nanhai District, Foshan City, covering an area of about 149,600
square meters, with a total construction area of about 860,000
square meters, and will be built into a large-scale complex
metropolis in the future.

The project is surrounded by very mature supporting facilities and a
strong living atmosphere. It is close to Foshan Guicheng'’s landmark
- Qiandeng Lake Park, and large-scale commercial complexes such
as China Merchants Land Center, Wanda Plaza and Xin Kai Plaza.

Currently, the first phase of the project is on sale, with a floor area of
about 190 - 545 square meters and a total of 270 suites. The second
phase has a floor area of about 160 - 210 square meters, with a total
of 178 units, and the second phase of the project is expected to be
opened for sale in 2025.

E SEI -1 )

FEER R ()

1

oG AEE(ERAEBEATRASLE)R
BT ARBESBEHABAREIMIEET AR
WEEEBI193501F K - BILEEATSIER

— o

R-Z-NE+-A=+—H  NREERGILTHE
B A2 miEE,050,690F 7K - REATERET
T 15 585,639 F K o

EIL BRI
BREURGLUTREERER TESNR LRS- 4
HETRKI149,600°F J5 K » B S mTEAI860,000°F I3
Ko REBEITER —EAREE S EE AR

ZIEEFERE TR - EEAERE - ZAEHEL
SRR E - TR LE - ARBE BT
O BERES  FEHESEANHERSRE -

BAl-HE —HEEEEFR - PEEELA190 -
545 5K - HBE270ERR - —HFAAEELE160
— 210K 7R - HEH178E - BE ZHIFESEES
TRFHE -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2024, contracted sales amount of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB8,547 million and contracted sales area was 275,712 sq.m..
Guangzhou Xipai Tianhe Xu Project (BN #8Ik X7 FF) was one of
the major projects.

As of 31 December 2024, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Guangzhou reached 991,290 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 311,843 sq.m..

Introduction of Guangzhou Xipai Tianhe Xu Project (JE/H 74 K&
)

The Xipai Tianhe Xu project is jointly developed by two central
government-owned enterprises, presenting four to five bedrooms
with perfect space, and a pure improvement community with a
low plot ratio of 3.0 meticulously designed by world-renowned
designers, that elevates urban living to new heights.

As Guangzhou's premier “wisdom + quality” benchmark, Xipai
Tianhe Xu is designed with 125-240 square metres of all-round
improvement units to meet users’ unlimited imagination of home.
The Baiyun Mountain is close at hand, and the Meihuayuan Station
of Metro Line 3 is only around 200 metres away, which is 5 stops
away from the Tianhe Road business circle, which is home to a
number of high-end commercial centres such as Zhengjia Plaza,
Teemall City, Tianhuan Plaza, Taikoo Hui and K11.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Chongqing

In 2024, contracted sales amount of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Chongging was approximately
RMB4,416 million and contracted sales area was 341,369 sq.m..
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE (& 3z[#) was one of the major projects.

As of 31 December 2024, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Chongging reached 6,369,267 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 2,230,164 sg.m..

Introduction of LANDMARK RIVERSIDE (5% /%)

Located on Taichang Road in Nan‘an District, Chongqging, China,
with a total gross floor area of approximately 1.5 million square
metres, LANDMARK RIVERSIDE is an integrated urban living
project comprising residential and commercial properties.

The "Two Rivers Peak”
approximately 400-460 square metres and a 174 square metre

series, with a gross floor area of

high-rise, occupies a more central position along the river, with a
panoramic view of the landmarks of Chaotianmen, Jiangbeizui and
Nanbin Road as well as the landmark where the Jialing and Yangtze
rivers meet. The project is well-equipped with a wide range of
transport, medical, education, financial and living facilities.

The commercial properties of the project are located in the
golden triangle of Chongging's CBD, with famous facilities such as
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Shopping Park, Danzishi Old Street and
Danzishi Square, among which LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Shopping
Park gathers global fashion trends and Danzishi Old Street is
listed as a national 4A tourist scenic area. The Danzishi Square is
a broader view of the confluence of the two rivers and is known as
the "best place to take photographs of the confluence of the two
rivers”.

¥ O
EH AR K (E)
T

—FoME - ARBCEREBRERRRAEEER
BEEZARMESROAARELL16BET AR
HEMER341,369F 1K - REER/RTEBA 2 — -

HE_ZT-_NF+_A=+—8 AEEREETH
TH B R R TE TE 6,369,267 F K - RIRAT S
& 52,230,164 F K -

REERBIT
RREMRTEEETEFRESNE - SELEEEY

1%%?H*-E—M§E%ﬂ%%%%mmm$%
4RATEE o

REE [M)IE | 48EEEmEL400—460F F K -

MEMTAFHANBRTIABRSRESE  HEBEERIAE
EE oA - —BRIRPT EI;lt"% FAKSMIT
REWZEFE - HAELES BE #EF -

TR ARERIEERE ﬁi*ﬁ

HARRYEEREENMCBDES =M  T#E T
RREBYAR - ?ﬁ?E%&T BT ARISEERR
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] o

“ECNFFR BERBEMARAR 47



£

EEEEERIRI)

e LR S

i

T LR ey
Rprnery i e

ted Annual Report 2024

China Merchants Land Limi

48



BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang

In 2024, contracted sales amount of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Nanjing and Jurong was
approximately RMB13,003 million and contracted sales area was
380,779 sq.m.. Nanjing China Merchants CentreeZhenjing (@ 218
& B Ly e 5835%) was one of the major projects.

As of 31 December 2024, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Nanjing and Jurong reached 3,496,802 sq.m. and the saleable GFA
in the future will amount to 818,124 sg.m..

Introduction of Nanjing China Merchants CentreeZhenjing (F.7 15
UL

Located in Nanjing’s Xuanwu District, Nanjing China Merchants
CentreeZhenjing occupies the core of the new Xuanwu area
in the heart of Nanjing’s main city, close to Nanjing Station
and Zhongshan Scenic Park. The project covers an area of
approximately 174,000 square metres with a total gross floor area
of approximately 750,000 square metres, incorporating a variety of
commercial and high-end residential developments, and is directly
connected to the metro to form a large-scale TOD project, bringing
China Merchants’ unique “Sea World"” world-class lifestyle to
Nanjing.

The project is extremely conveniently located on Nanjing's Line é
and Line 9 metro, with three other metro lines within 2km — Line 1,
3 and 7. There are 9 bus routes within Tkm of the site. Hongshan
Road, Hengjia Road, Beiyuan East Road, Jingwu Road, Daimagnan
Road, Lingzhi Road and Hongshan South Road form a four vertical
and three horizontal road networks, which connects directly to
Nanjing'’s city inner ring via Xinzhuang Junction, providing quick
access to the whole city.

The project features 118, 134, 143 and 181 square metres, covering
3- and 4-bedroom units.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2024, contracted sales amount of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Xi'an was approximately
RMB11,990 million and contracted sales area was 701,384 sg.m..
WONDERLAND (#7518 ) was one of the major projects.

As at 31 December 2024, total GFA of the Group's projects in Xi‘an
reached 3,665,435 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 756,053 sq.m..

Introduction of WONDERLAND (#8E1& %))

Located in the core area of Olympic Avenue in Xi'an International
Port District, WONDERLAND covers an area of 143,500 square
meters, with a total construction area of 496,800 square meters and
a total of 2,693 flats, and is dedicated to creating a model of urban
life with “river and garden symbiosis”. The project is close to the
dual subway hubs and the city’s main roads, with 15-minute access
to the administrative center’s business district, and a simultaneous
view of the Ba River, the Wei River landscape and the Chanba
National Wetland Park’s scarce ecological resources, and the main
types of apartments range from 100-168 square meters of three-
bedroom and four-bedroom apartments. All the units are equipped
with intelligent security, environmentally friendly building materials
and star property system, integrating the genes of education,
ecology and science and technology, creating a quality residence
with both prosperity and nature for urban elites.

EKERE )

B EREER(E)

AR

ZENF - ARBE(EREBEARRAEEREIR
ALMEREESHENAAREN,90858T - 6
HEEEA701,384F HK - BB AT EHEE Y

— o

RZZE-_WNF+_A=+—H AEBEEAZHNEE
B TEES,665,435F 5K © RRAIEREEE
18 5756,053F J5 K °

BB
BEEHLEAREBREFRBEBRBRZ ORI - 5
HOEIAE143,500°F 77 K - £ EEH18496,800F /7oK
#2,693F - WEITE FiTﬂﬁEJE’J%E?ﬁiﬁiﬁzﬁ
18 B S SR A R T E B8 - 150 EREITH
FLERE  BEREEREN - BR Eﬁ'ﬁ‘&/}é&ﬂ.?\/%
HABRMBRERLER - T HPERE100-168F 5 K
ZRERNEE - 2REETRLZY - REREMEE
TMERR  MEHE - ERENEER - BRHE
R EEERGARGHRERRN

T DNFEFR BEREMBRAR 5]



XIAN AEZ

China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2024




BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Asset Management Business

The Company commences its REIT management business through
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the REIT manager of the
China Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded asset
management services income of approximately RMB17,422,000
(2023: RMB14,971,000).

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

Premier Li Qiang of the State Council emphasized in the
government work report on 5 March 2025, that the Chinese
government will continue to exert efforts to promote the
stabilization and recovery of the real estate market, reduce
restrictive measures, and fully unleash the potential of rigid
and improved housing demand. Measures include reasonably
controlling the supply of new real estate land and promoting the
acquisition of existing commercial housing, and taking high-quality
"good houses” that are safe, comfortable, green, and intelligent
as the driving direction. Under the new model of real estate
development, the Company will take measures in four aspects of
development, price, inventory, and cost based on its own situation,
focusing on both stability and development.

At the development end, the Company will aim at “speeding up,
improving quality, and enhancing efficiency”, and comprehensively
enhance the operational level of projects. For newly acquired
projects, the Group will strengthen the cross-departmental
collaboration mechanism, and strive to achieve the “ultimately
speedy opening” and shorten the development cycle through pre-
positioning, deepening the pre-study and resource inclination; the
old renovation projects will accelerate incubation through policy
docking and resource integration to release the potential of urban
renewal in core cities.

In terms of price management, the Company will deepen the
refined control system, dynamically optimize sales strategies, shift
from "exchanging price for volume” to “determining price based
on quality”, and achieve the balance of volume and price and profit
improvement through product value remodeling and customer
demand guidance. At the same time, the promotion strategy will
shift to a benign “cost-performance competition” to stand out
with “good houses” that meet the high-quality living needs of the
people.
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PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (continued)

In the field of inventory digestion, the existing projects will take
“re-doing old projects” as the starting point to break through the
traditional path dependence. For assets in core areas, the Company
will reshape the competitiveness through product renewal, scene
upgrade and service value-added, and combine with innovative
marketing strategies to enhance the premium space; for difficult
projects, it will actively make good use of local policies, seize policy
windows such as "acquisition and storage of housing, housing
ticket resettlement, and old-for-new exchange”, accelerate the
clearance of historical burdens, and make room for resource
reallocation.

Facing the challenge of pressured industry profit margins, the
Company will implement “cost reduction, quality improvement,
and efficiency enhancement” throughout the entire value chain. On
the one hand, all employees of the Group will continue to deeply
explore the potential of construction cost and operation cost
control, strengthen the rigid constraints of the “three expenses”
(sales expenses, management expenses, and financial expenses),
and promote the slimming and strengthening of the financial
structure; loss-making business units will implement ultimate cost
control to ensure bleeding stops and recovery.

At the same time, the Group will firmly practice the overseas
strategy of “deeply cultivating Hong Kong and intensively
cultivating Southeast Asia”, accelerate the construction and
operation of key overseas projects, build an international asset
allocation and income growth pole. Through localized operation
and resource collaboration, enhance the brand influence in
overseas markets and inject diversified momentum for medium and
long-term development.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.* (A7 B EZEARAK
BHERAT) (“CMPD") (a company later merged with CMSK (as
defined below) in December 2015) entered into a non-competition
deed on 19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4
October 2013 (the “Non-Competition Deed”). On 30 December
2015, the Company, CMPD and China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (BEAREAIXEZERENHERA
al) ("CMSK") Nete T had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation, pursuant to which all the obligations, undertakings,
interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-Competition Deed
were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in replacement of CMPD
as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-Competition Deed in
substitution of CMPD with effective from 30 December 2015. Other
than that, all the other terms of the Non-Competition Deed shall
remain unchanged N2, On 17 December 2018, the Company and
CMSK entered into an amended and restated non-competition
deed which supersede and replace in its entirety the Non-
Competition Deed (the “Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed"), and subsequently entered into a re-amended and restated
non-competition deed (the “"Re-Amended and Restated Non-
Competition Deed”) on 21 October 2019, which supersede and
replace in its entirely the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had completed the
major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant to which, among
other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts and all others
rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up and assumed by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
and the shares of CMSK became listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with
effect from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraph under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to
CMPD in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.

THEFRIE

REMERREEST  AEEERRNBMETER

BOERAR(THRBBE]) (RER-_F—AF+=
AEFEERN(ERL TOEHH—RA T)E@f

=FRNATNBAFUTNHEFEBE(R =2 —=F+
A B&ET k7)) ([ TEFRED - E/\_?—E

F+ZA=+H ARG BEwERBEERELL
¥EERBOERDR (RO |)WE]z — I8
FIREREE - Bt BEMERTREZIEETA
BEME A#H - EakiaSEE THEEmr 0L HA
e DR BBt EAE - BOAREEA —BEARE
%ﬁm?2$%%ﬁf23wﬁ'§:§—£¢+:
AZ+HBAER - BRILLSN - TERFZIE 2 1A Eit
EREFH g P2 F—NF+ZF++H ' K
AEEBEEAF Y —BEBITREN 2 THRFH
B EEBRRREBEOTHEFZE(LEITRESZ
BFLE]) VEREBE-_Z—NF+A=+—
A EMEE] REH 2 5 F 2% ([ L EMEE]
RENZTHRRIE]) UK REBRBDEEFTR
BYZ TRFRIE -

et -

1. REABEARABREERIESISATIEZAE K=
T £$+ A=1+H ARt EfEtETKEREES
ARES  BU(ATeE)RELEMGEE  AfF ¥
EE‘é%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁa@m%ﬁmﬂﬁg%%m
ERW AN « MENERLIERRIES RS LD - MHEE
ARBRARNEFZZHA LT HE-E—RF+-A=+
HARBAER »

2. RERER  EEX[THRFRE|—BP  HHER0 2z
R-F-RAF+- A=+ ANEAREAERSEBEEL
Bt o

“EONFFR BERBEMARAR 55



NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed, (i)
CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”)
will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing, and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group but
managed by the Group under certain operation agreement entered
into between the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to Chongging
and Xi'an, the Company is considering to cease to conduct Property
Business (other than participating in property-related investments
on a minority basis across the PRC (the "Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement”)) in and exit from such two cities in due
course, depending on the results of an annual review process;
(iii) CMSK Group will not compete with the Group in the cities of
Chongging and Xi’an unless the Group ceases to conduct Property
Business (other than the Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement)
in such city; (iv) the Group will not compete with CMSK in 46
other cities in the PRC ("CMSK Cities”) except the Group will
have the rights to participate in the Non-Controlling Investment
Arrangement across the PRC (including the CMSK Cities); (v) the
Group will also be entitled to conduct the Asset Management
Business for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai exclusively,
subject to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK Group
in Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing and
Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer 1”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal to
conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”) for other
cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the CMSK Group
has an Property Business as at the date of the Non-Competition
Deed ("Unoccupied Cities”).
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT
Management Business for REITs with underlying properties
permitted to be situated in or come from all over the PRC on an
exclusive basis. In return, the Company (by itself or through its
subsidiaries) are entitled to receive cash and/or units in the REITs.
Other than the inclusion of the REIT Management Business and
the updates to the terms with respect to the Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in Beijing and Shanghai in order to
reflect the situation at the time of the completion of the Proposed
Transfer |, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management Business for
Office Premises in Four CML Cities, Xi'an and Chonggiing plus
Beijing and Shanghai; and (c) Property Business of the Re-Amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed remain unchanged
compared to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed.

For details of the Non-Competition Deed and Operation
Transitional Assets, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of
the Company dated 10 October 2013.

For details of the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Four CML Cities, Property Business, Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement, the CMSK Cities, Asset Management
Business, the Proposed Transfer |, the Right of First Refusal and
the Unoccupied Cities, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 10 January 2019.

For the details of the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, REIT Management Business and REITs, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2019.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with Re-Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of
the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Group will continue to operate its traditional property
development business in Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, Jurong,
Chongging and Xi'an. Upon the annual review of the portfolio of the
Group's Property Business for the year ended 31 December 2024,
taking into account the financial resources available to the Group
at the relevant time and the relevant market conditions, the Group
decides to continue its Property Business in Chongging and Xi‘an
for the time being.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group had no plans authorised by the Board for material
investments or additions of capital assets as at the date of this
annual report.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the
Group and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 712 (2023: 859) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.The Group determines its staff
remuneration based on various factors such as qualifications, length
of service, market conditions and performance of the individual
employees. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
had no share scheme in effect.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

REBRERKKXE

This report covers the environmental policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in
accordance with Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in
depth with our cooperative partners to improve construction
management and innovate construction technology. We would
consider using materials available from the neighborhood as much
as possible and to reduce the consumption of materials, energy
and water in the course of construction for creating a clear, clean,
comfortable and safe construction environment. Besides, we also
launched a “Harmonious Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively
collect the opinions from the residents who live nearby with an aim
to doing our best to reduce the effects of construction works on the
surrounding natural, cultural and social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The Group has set up a Safety Management Committee. Each
project has established its own safety management team to
proactively promote the standardised management of safe and
civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of
every front line construction workers and back office staff with best
efforts.
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REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check and
introduce the third-party assessment system for subcontractors in
order to ensure the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major
equipment safety and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for
green construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model

"o

with combination of “Green Planning”, "Technique Application”
and "Energy Saving through Action” from the traditional technique
application. As early as in 2015, the Company built up a green
research and development and application system named “Green
Life+"” and issued the “Green Ranking Guide” and “Energy
Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously promote

the innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation
and pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation
and the habitats in the development zone during the process
of planning and project construction. Through these efforts, we
systematically repair the eco-system which is degenerated or
damaged by project development. In addition, by building the
landscape water system and seedling transplantation according
to location and situations, we can reduce the effects of project
development on local environment.
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

Information on the gender representation of all employees
(including senior management), any plans or measurable targets
set by the Group to achieve gender diversity, and any factors
and circumstances that make achieving gender diversity more
challenging or less relevant for all employees (including senior
management) can be found in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report. The Group currently employs at
least 30% of each gender. In order to maintain gender diversity,
the Group is committed to applying similar considerations in the
recruitment and sourcing of key management personnel and other
candidates in the Group's operations. In 2024, we maintained
approximately a 2:1 ratio of men to women (excluding directors)
in our work environment. Nevertheless, due to the nature of the
work, gender diversity is not very relevant to the Group's real estate
development business.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system to
evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to
ensure they have complied with protective measures and have
adequately implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the
rights of construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee
ZERE

Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers’ wages and deposit
the wages in advance
EXRTREADEARIATIERESE,  AFLE
RE®

Implement real-name system management for
workers, establish an alert mechanism for worker’s
wage and inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s
wage by the construction cooperation units

B IABRGIERE BUYIATEREHT - FH
BESERIEMNTATEERER

Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
BRAERELEEMBERDERE AT AR
S EXRNLBERM

Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site
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Wages Guarantee

TERE

Safety Guarantee
ZE2RE

Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as
a compulsory check item in the annual review of
qualified suppliers
EXMIAABHELIMNMBEIALER  UAHESE
REEARETIELER

Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of
workers attending for work without receiving the
three-tier safety education
BRATARAN=ZRELZEHEHNE  HBRE=&
REHEREE LHOBER

BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of
the core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply
chain management strategy of balancing between quality and
efficiency. Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’
closed-loop management system and open communication sharing
mechanism between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible
supply chain, to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with
the enterprises in the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF
SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering
process and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of
tendering. We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing
information and have stringently complied with the contracts, and
have safeguarded the basic rights of suppliers with fairness, justice
and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship
with our suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general
purchasing, annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have
enhanced the comprehensiveness and closed-loop management
for certification, selection, examination and assessment towards
suppliers from different levels and types. We have identified and
fostered possible strategic relation with our suppliers through the
ERP Purchasing Management Platform.
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UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly
report system for key suppliers and have senior management
conducting on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite
outstanding partners to share their sophisticated experience in
order to mutually improve the ability to perform both parties’
duties. Meanwhile, we endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers
with high quality for long-term cooperation. For those suppliers
with high quality, they will be registered in our selected unit
automatically and entitled to higher percentage of payments upon
goods delivered and awarded with public recognition. For existing
issues, we will sort out corresponding solutions one by one.

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build
a comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a
stable growth and development for our employees.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion
path, comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training
system, strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s
development and achieve the goal of enterprise development on
the basis of employee’s development.

EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according
to their own career development direction incorporated with
the position requirement of the Company to realise a win-win
situation on both the Company's development and the employee’s
development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and
accelerating the optimisation of staff training system. After years of
fulfillment, optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff
training system with three main elements, which are leadership,
professional capability and general performance, in order to
provide a favorable platform for staff's development.

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and
the management, the Group requires every project company to
organise different types of face-to-face communication seminar
regularly throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get an instant
responses. Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management
to point out their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars
can strengthen both parties’ mutual understandings and break any
barriers between them.
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OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and
regulations, international practices and business ethics, and fulfills
the theme of the central government and China Merchants Group
— “Three-Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& = &)" to strengthen
the practice of building and establishing the implementation of
responsibility and promote the culture of corruption-free and
prevention and punishment system comprehensively. We will
consciously accept the supervision from relevant authorities and
strive to become a good example of operating in compliance with
the law and with honesty and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture
and research development. The Company has promoted the
compliance works and integration of operation management, so
as to enable the operation of the Company to be in compliance
with the applicable law requirements and contemporary corporate
governance requirements and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness
of our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote
the legal risk awareness while building up the precaution
mechanism of legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in
advance control of legal risks.
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The Group has formulated policies such as “Compliance
Management Regulations”, “Anti-Money Laundering and

|u

Compliance Manual” and “Code of Conduct for Employees”,
and signed “Employee Integrity Performance Pledge” with
all employees and external suppliers to fully implement the
accountability and supervision mechanism for integrity building.
In addition, the Group has also established the “Code of Conduct
for Reporting Complaints”, which encourages employees to report
misconduct and violations of laws and regulations through the
compliance hotline and the compliance reporting mailbox, and
ensures that the information of the reporting party is handled
confidentially. In order to enhance the legal awareness of all staff,
especially frontline staff, the Group conducts thematic training
in line with the requirements of the industry and promotes in-
depth integrity education, including topics such as prohibition of
commercial bribery, anti-competitive practices, commercial secrets
and information security, in order to strengthen the awareness of
responsibility and anti-corruption of all staff.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong that prevent bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering from having a significant impact on
the Group, and complies with international practices. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any corruption cases filed
or concluded against the Group or the Group's employees.

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a
risk management system on the basis of forward-looking and
systematised comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a
platform connecting to the risk management system of the
professional departments covering operating level and business
level. Meanwhile, we will gradually incorporate the non-financial
risks management systems, including environmental protection and
anti-corruption, into the comprehensive risk management system
and these can further reduce the potential risks in the operation
processes of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRSE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “"Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) are pleased to present to the
shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2024
(the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding,
together with the subsidiaries, are principally engaged in the
following activities:

()  development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties;

(i)  assets management; and
(iii) investment holding.

Details of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), a fair review of the Group's
business, the principal risks and uncertainties to which the Group
may be exposed, details of significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year and insights
into the likely future development of the Group’s business
(including, to the extent necessary for an understanding of the
development, performance or position of the Group's business, an
analysis of financial key performance indicators) are set out in the
“CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT"” and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS" in this annual report.

The Group's financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

A discussion of the Group's environmental policies and
performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations that significantly affect the Group, and details
of the discussion of the Group’s key relationships with, among
others, employees, customers and suppliers and others who
have a significant impact on the Group and on whom the Group
depends for its success, are set out in the "ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE" section of this annual report,
the Company's separately published “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”, and this “Directors’ Report”.

Information on compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group is set out in this Directors’
Report. The review forms part of this statement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance
by the Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules")), nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share
capital, had any interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Each of the Group’s financial statements for the Year, which have
been presented in this annual report, gives a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of its results of operations and
cash flows.

DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved not to recommend a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$0.012 per share).
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB1,122,219,000 (2023:
RMB1,646,883,000). Under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends, if any, to shareholders subject to the
provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BONDS AND DEBENTURES

During the Year, the Group has no outstanding bonds and did not
issue any debentures.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on the
last page of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
publication date of this report were:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. JIANG Tiefeng (Chairman)

Mr. HUANG Junlong (resigned on 5 August 2024)
Mr. YU Zhiliang (appointed on 5 August 2024)
Mr. LI Yao

Executive Directors:

Dr. SO Shu Fai
Mr. WONG King Yuen
Ms. CHEN Yan

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan

According to Article 99 of the Articles of Association, Mr. YU
Zhiliang, who was appointed as a non-executive Director by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy, shall hold office until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and, being
eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

According to Article 116 of the Articles of Association, Ms. CHEN
Yan, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Dr. SHI Xinping shall retire
by rotation at the annual general meeting, and all being eligible,
shall offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Mr. Yu Zhiliang, who was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 5 August 2024, has obtained legal advice as referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 5 August 2024, and he has confirmed
he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising
from their offices and execution of their powers, duties and
responsibilities has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
"SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

EEREMITHRAERA A7) H A
/f.ZHXﬁJ\ HERORES 2 &
KRB (4%)

I

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company AArlEBR 2R
Percentage of
the Company'’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held EEQATE
EERR ERME g EREE BITRAB AL
SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%

FAREpc RIS 2 AaiEa (i)

Note: These shares were directly held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”), which is
owned as to 90% by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company, and
10% by Mr. SO Man Cho, the son of Dr. SO Shu Fai. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Skill China is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability.

Long Positions in Underlying Shares of Associated
Corporation

Hret - SR MEEERAT([ERLDEERA - FHRALRA
WITEFEHERE L REAMBE L2 RFEHRCREEDREE
90%F10% s » FEIL - RIEES REE EOISEXVED - #isE
ELRERNES HEZJ&@EP%E%EA FERANKBRER
BMEEMRILZBRA

MHESE B ARG < A

Approximately
Number of  percentage (%)
underlying in the associated

Name of Director Nature of interest shares involved corporation
(Note)
{EAEEEE 2
EEnE EmtE BRAEBRNEE BAOBEDL
(Hiiz) (%)
JIANG Tiefeng Beneficial owner 122,000* 0.00%
i s ERfEBA
YU Zhiliang” Beneficial owner 11,653* 0.00%
RER EmEAA
HUANG Junlong? Beneficial owner 124,000* 0.00%
"R ERfEBA
Note liofs3
* These are interests in associated corporation, CMSK, an indirect controlling ~ * RERBAEBEEREE O (KRR R B EERARR)
shareholder of the Company. e
" appointed as a non-executive Director on 5 August 2024. " RZZ_MFENARRBEERINTES -
# resigned as a non-executive Director on 5 August 2024. # RZZE-MFENARABHEIERTES -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
"DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS", at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests of 5% or more

of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the

register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant

to Section 336 of the SFO:

TERRREMALTRAATRG KA
B 2R AR

RZZE-_WNF+_A=+—8 ' TIREARBIE%ET
AEARFR 5% 8 A FHEZS O s8R IR BB 5 M B E 150
FEIBIEARFAGFTEZ S LA -

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of ordinary shares held issued share

Capacity and nature ESEEt e 42 capital
Names of interest Long position Short position (AR AFE T
8 BORERME #E 8- BRABDL
China Merchants Group Ltd. ("CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BERERAERLR([BEREE]) g /NS Y]
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone  Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. ("“CMSK")
BERE NI XRERROER AR S PA/NIE S
(MMBawn )
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hRREBEERAA (M=) BEEH 2 ABRE
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")

REREBRAR(E])

mé}
/‘\

Fo

\
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well. Success
Well is 20% and 80% owned by Good Ease Holdings Limited
("Good Ease”) and Eureka respectively. Good Ease was wholly-
owned by Eureka, which was in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMG
directly or indirectly owned more than 58% of the issued share
capital of CMSK, and CMG is owned and controlled by the SASAC
of the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section "INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS" above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of
a contract made by the Company or a related company with
the Director or with a firm of which he is a shareholder or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed "CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” (except for connected transactions at the
subsidiary level), “CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
and "NON-COMPETITION DEED" (each if applicable) in this
annual report, there were no contract of significance between any
member of the Group and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
contract of significance for the provision of services to any member
of the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted as at the end of the Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have
interests in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

SHARE SCHEME

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on various
factors such as qualifications, length of service, market conditions
and performance of the individual employees. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company had no share scheme in effect.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

M

Reference is made to and as disclosed in the Offering
Circular of the CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 that
(i) CMC REIT was constituted by the Trust Deed entered
into on 15 November 2019 between China Merchants Land
Asset Management Co., Limited (the "CMLAM") (as the
REIT manager), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Trustee, and (ii) following the completion of
the global offering of the units of CMC REIT, Eureka Investment
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK, being
a controlling shareholder of the Company, would become a
holder of the units of CMC REIT holding more than 30% of the
issued units of CMC REIT. CMLAM has been providing the
REIT Management Services to CMC REIT pursuant to the terms
of the Trust Deed. Since CMSK is a connected person of the
Company by virtue of being a controlling shareholder of the
Company, CMC REIT is deemed as an associate of CMSK under
the Listing Rules, the REIT Management Services provided
by CMLAM to CMC REIT under the Trust Deed constitutes
a continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Trust Deed set for
the year of 2024 was RMB58.7 million, and the annual caps for
years of 2025, 2026 and 2027 have been set at RMB52.1 million,
RMB52.1 million and RMB52.1 million respectively.

More details are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 November 2019 and the supplemental
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2020 of the
Company. On 21 December 2021, the Company made an
announcement to provide details of the annual caps for the
REIT Management Transaction under the Trust Deed for each
of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

OPERATION AGREEMENT 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the
Operation Agreement 2022 with CMSK pursuant to which
the Group will provide project operational support services
to CMSK, including but not limited to taking charge of land
acquisition, project development and sales, commencing from
1 January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
CMSK is the controlling shareholder of the Company
holding approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of
the Company, and therefore is a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Operation
Agreement 2022 was set at RMB 60 million for the year of 2024.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company also entered into
the Property Management Master Agreement 2022 with
Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd.* (B RWEE
BAMR A (“"Merchants Property Management”) pursuant
to which Merchants Property Management, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK, will provide property management
services to the Group’s PRC operating subsidiaries, from 1
January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transaction under the Property
Management Master Agreement 2022 was set at RMB142.5
million for the year of 2024.

Merchants Property Management is a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the
Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the total
issued share capital of the Company. Merchants Property
Management, therefore, is an associate of CMSK and
accordingly a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.

Details including the annual caps, of both Operation
Agreement 2022 and Property Management Master
Agreement 2022, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2021.

BERERS®)

(©)

TR CFYEEREHE
R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8H  KAQRJEER
HRMEEREBERAFR([BERMEETE])
IV _FYWETEARE B B
WOKEZENBARBERYEETEBE =
T —F—-A-BREE-ZZFT-MF+=A
=t—HL(BEEEMB)AAEENFEE
NiE &M B A RIREYEEER

—EC_FPEEEEMBER I ISR _F
ZMERFE ERERE A AR 142,500,000

JG ©

FERYMEERRAARNZERERAE LA
MR EHBAR  AEEORARFREEHT
Me AR B R B 4)74.35% % - AL - 48
ERYEEERBEELANBEA - SRE L
TARAE14AI3(DE - RERRNEEAL -

BREC_FEEMER S _FMEE
BERZNFELRENZFS  B2EAQ
AIBA-ZEZ - —F+_-_A=1+—HzZzR%E -

“EONFFR BERBEMARAR 79



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@

OFFICE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS

On 30 June 2022, Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise Management
Co. Ltd.* (EBEAMBEEEREZERBERAR]) (“Shanghai
Bangxin”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Office Property Management
Agreement A with Shanghai China Merchants Plaza Real
Estate Co. Ltd.* (L/BHERESEXAEMRAF]) ("CM Plaza”)
and Office Property Management Agreement B with Shanghai
China Merchants Building Co. Ltd.* (E/8HRERRAEARA
7)) ("CM Building”), respectively, pursuant to which Shanghai
Bangxin shall be the exclusive manager of the projects
(namely, the Shanghai China Merchants Plaza* (E/8RiE B E
%) and Shanghai China Merchants Building* (/838 BAE))
providing services of, among others, business management,
leasing promotion, leasing management system authorization
and human resources respectively to CM Plaza and CM
Building during 30 June 2022 to 29 June 2025 (the “Operation
Period”).

The aggregated annual cap for the transactions contemplated
under the Office Property Management Agreement A and
Office Property Management Agreement B for the year of
2024 was set at RMB 10 million.

Each of CM Plaza and CM Building is an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of
the Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. Both CM Plaza and
CM Building, therefore, are associates of CMSK pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules and accordingly connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 30 June 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

©)

OFFICE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
AND OFFICE PROPERTY LEASING AGENCY SERVICE
AGREEMENT

On 15 September 2022, Shanghai Bangxin, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Office
Property Management Agreement with Shanghai Pujun Real
LEREFMERBERERAD
A]) (“Shanghai Pujun”), pursuant to which Shanghai Bangxin

Estate Development Co. Ltd.* (

shall be the exclusive manager of the project of Shanghai
(E/BFREIZEA) providing services of, among
others, (i) business management to Shanghai Pujun for a

Senlan Meihuan*

term commencing on 15 September 2022 and ending on 31
December 2022 and (i) leasing promotion as further stipulated
in the Office Property Leasing Agency Service Agreement.

On 15 September 2022, Shanghai Bangxin also entered into
the Office Property Leasing Agency Service Agreement with
Shanghai Pujun, pursuant to which Shanghai Bangxin agreed
to provide leasing agency services for the Project to Shanghai
Pujun for a term commencing on 15 September 2022 and
ending on 14 September 2025.

The aggregated annual cap for the Office Property
Management Agreement and the Office Property Leasing
Agency Service Agreement for the year of 2024 was set at
RMB4.4 million.

Shanghai Pujun is beneficially held as to 60% equity interests
by CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the Company
indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the total issued
share capital of the Company. Shanghai Pujun, therefore, is
an associate of CMSK pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules and accordingly a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 September 2022.

FFERE

(5

BXHE)

I NEL)E S BERTE YN
AiEs

REWERHEERER

RIZE-—FNA+ER  ARABEE2EMH
BARELERME LSHERMEREERA

A EEBEDURAETMEE R R - &
b - EABMEET LEREFERLEENBR
EIRANB LA I ERE(HRBE) )
HEBRRE HRE-_Z-_—_FhLA+HB#E
B CF T A=+ —HLERMPAE

¥HERERBHHE —FTPENHEEHRER
% o

R-ZZE-_—FNA+ERB - LEAMIAE LS
HEUNAEWEHNERERE HHE - B
bt EAABMAEREE R DS EERERE
RERY  HRE-Z=_FhALATHAERE
“E-RFNATTAL -

RZZ-WF - RAEWEEEMELBRAE
MEHERBREHENFE LREBERTES
AE#4,400,0007T ©

EEHERREENER T 0% ER © A
MO AMERBEARRDBHITRALELY
74.35%RIARBIEIRAR R o EIL - ABIE LR
AIZE14A13Q) K - EBHEEABE A ZBHE
A BBRE ETMRAAERAG 2BEAL -

\ mw

E2MARBHBAZE-_—_FAA+THEAN
NE - A TERERFFS °

T DNFEFR BEREMBRAR 8]



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

©)

CAR PARKING SPACES SALES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
2023

On 22 December 2023, the Company entered into the Car
Parking Spaces Sales Framework Agreement with SZ CML Real
Estate Consulting, pursuant to which (a) SZ CML Real Estate
Consulting (and its subsidiaries and branches) shall exclusively
manage the sale of the car parking spaces located in cities
including but not limited to Nanjing, Xi'an, Guangzhou,
Chongging and Foshan owned by the Company or its
subsidiaries during the effective period (being 22 December
2023 to 21 December 2026, which may be extended by the
Company to 31 December 2028 provided that (i) SZ CML Real
Estate Consulting does not object to such extension; and (ii)
the requirements under the relevant laws, regulations and
the Listing Rules are complied with); and (b) the Company
shall pay the premium of the selling price of the relevant car
parking spaces over their respective selling base price and a
commission agency fee to SZ CML Real Estate Consulting in
accordance with the terms and conditions under the individual
agreements.

The aggregated annual cap for the Car Parking Spaces Sales
Framework Agreement for the year of 2024 was set at RMB 60
million.

SZ CML Real Estate Consulting is an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of
the Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of
the total issued share capital of the Company. SZ CML Real
Estate Consulting, therefore, is an associate of CMSK and
accordingly a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 22 December 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

)

TENANCY AGREEMENT

On 31 July 2024, Shanghai Bangxin Beijing Branch, a branch of
Shanghai Bangxin which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the lessee, entered into the tenancy
agreement with Nanjing Xuansheng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.* (ARZBEEHEMRZEFRLF) ("Nanjing
Xuansheng”), as the lessor, for the lease of the premises, being
the commercial complex with six overground floors and three
underground floors located at Lot No. 2021G24, Hongshan
Street, Xuanwu District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, China*
(PRI &AM A ZR R 4L A7382021G24H058) for a rental
term of one year commencing on 1 August 2024 and ending
on 31 July 2025.

As Nanjing Xuansheng is a 30%-controlled company held
indirectly by CMSK, Nanjing Xuansheng is an associate
of CMSK pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules,
and therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Therefore, the tenancy agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitutes a
continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap under the tenancy agreement for the
period from 1 August 2024 to 31 July 2025 was set at
RMB24,324,904.62.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 July 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

®)

NOVATION AGREEMENT IN RELATION TO PROJECT
CONSULTING SERVICE AGREEMENT

On 9 December 2024, Chongging Merchants Land
(EEHBEMMAEARLA)
("Chongqging Merchants”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary

Development Co., Ltd.*

of the Company, entered into the novation agreement (the
“Novation Agreement”) with Chongging Merchants Yi Gang
Property Development Co., Ltd.* (B E R i {55 thE i
BR/AF]) (“Chongging Yi Gang”) and China Merchants Real
Estate (Chongqing) Garden City Co., Ltd.* (B B E (&
B )TEE W B R A R]) (“Chongqging Garden City”), pursuant
to which Chongging Garden City will assume Chongqging
Yi Gang's rights and obligations in and under the project
consulting service agreement dated 13 December 2022
entered into between Chongging Merchants and Chongging
Yi Gang (the "Project Consulting Service Agreement”) and
provide consulting services to Chongging Merchants in
accordance with the Project Consulting Service Agreement.

Chongging Garden City is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the Company indirectly
holding approximately 74.35% of the total issued share capital
of the Company, and hence is an associate of CMSK and a
connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.13(1)
of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Project Consulting Service
Agreement (as supplemented by the Novation Agreement)
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitutes
a continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap under the Project Consulting Service
Agreement (as supplemented by the Novation Agreement)
for the financial years ending 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2025 were set at RMB5,544,000 and RMB2,139,000,
respectively.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 9 December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the transactions had been entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Group;

(i)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor's
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Board has received an unqualified
letter from the auditors of the Company in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules containing the auditors’ findings and
conclusion on the above continuing connected transactions of the
Group, stating that the auditors have not noticed anything that
causes them to believe that any of these continuing connected
transactions: (a) have not been approved by the Board; (b) were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or
services by the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such continuing connected
transactions in all material aspects; and (d) have exceeded the

relevant annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December
2024.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year 2024, the Company has disclosed transactions
relating to material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures in accordance with the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as
disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to be disclosed herein
pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules
as of 31 December 2024.

e On 30 May 2022, the Company entered into a facility letter
with a bank in relation to a revolving loan facility of up to
RMB1,000,000,000. The loan facility has a term of three years
from the date of acceptance of the facility letter.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

On 28 June 2023, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a loan facility of up to
RMB1,950,000,000. The loan facility has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of the facility agreement.

On 27 September 2023, the Company entered into a facility
letter with a bank in relation to a revolving loan facility in the
principal amount of RMB1,100,000,000. The maturity date of
the loan facility is 16 May 2026.

On 2 February 2024, the Company disclosed that it had
entered into a facility agreement with a bank in respect
of a term loan facility in the principal amount of up to
HK$4,000,000,000 (multiple withdrawals available). The term of
the loan facility is for a period of 36 months from the date of
the facility agreement.

The following events (among other things) would trigger breach of

one or more of the above mentioned loan agreements:

the Company ceases to be the indirect subsidiary of CMSK;
or each of CMSK and the Company fails to maintain its listing
status;

CMG and entities acting in concert with it ceases to continue
to be the largest single shareholder of the Company;

CMSK fails to remain a listed company on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange;
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

iv. CMSK fails to maintain its direct or indirect shareholding in the
Company of not less than 50%;

v. CMG and its concert parties are required to maintain their
status as the single largest controlling shareholders of CMSK
and the Company;

vi. CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at
least 50.1% of the issued share capital of or ceases to control
(directly or indirectly) the Company;

vii. CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50.1% of the equity interests of or ceases to control (directly or
indirectly) CMSK; or

viii. the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council of the PRC or the Central
People’s Government of the PRC ceases to beneficially
owned (directly or indirectly) at least the majority of the equity
interests of or cease to control CMG.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to
the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company and the subsequent interim/
annual report of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding principal of loans
owed by the Group under the above loan agreements were
approximately RMB6,483 million.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The composition and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in the section headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT" -
“AUDIT COMMITTEE".

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate
governance are set out in the section headed “"Corporate
Governance Report”in this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

KPMG has audited the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the financial year ending 31 December 2024, and Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu had audited the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, 31
December 2022, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019.

The Group has completed the rotation of external independent
auditors during the financial year of 2024 in accordance with the
relevant regulations of the Ministry of Finance of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
of the PRC in relation to the appointment of accounting firms by
state-owned enterprises. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the
independent auditor of the Company and KPMG was appointed as
the independent auditor of the Company on 28 June 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

KPMG has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment
as independent auditor of the Company. KPMG will retire and a
resolution for their reappointment as auditor shall be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
JIANG Tiefeng
Chairman

Hong Kong
12 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TXRERB®SE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group")) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year").

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a sound corporate governance of
the Company is the core to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate
governance purposes, the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “HK CG Code") contained in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (collectively, the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations
from code provisions B.2.2, C.1.6 and F.2.2 of the HK CG Code
which are explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its businesses
and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with the HK CG Code.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. All Directors do not
have specific terms of appointment. However, all of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting according to the Company’s articles of association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect
of accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of
appointment.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings, and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. JIANG Tiefeng, a non-executive Director, and
Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan, an independent non-executive Director, did
not attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
June 2024 (the “2024 AGM") due to other business engagement.
However, there were sufficient Directors, including executive
Directors, independent non-executive Directors and non-executive
Director, present to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. JIANG Tiefeng,
the chairman of the Board, could not attend the 2024 AGM held
on 28 June 2024 due to other business engagement. However, he
had appointed Mr. Huang Junlong, a non-executive Director as his
alternate director who presided at the 2024 AGM and answered
questions for shareholders of the Company.

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture

The Board of Directors of the Company pursues higher vision,
values and strategies of the Company, taking into account both
long-term and short-term corporate values, and requires the
establishment and promotion of a corporate culture of “acting
legally, ethically and responsibly”, which is reviewed and updated
on a regular or occasional basis. For more information on corporate
performance, development and future business strategies, please
refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” sections of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

Rationale for not publishing quarterly results

The Company publishes quarterly operating data, which includes
key business information such as contracted sales amount and
area. Our reasons for not publishing quarterly results after careful
consideration are:

Quarterly reports are not meaningful to the Company'’s
shareholders;

- Quarterly reports tend to give a short term view of the
Company's business performance;

—  The Company does not operate on a three-month cycle and
therefore we should not disclose information on such a cycle to
allow investors to judge our performance; and

—  There are costs associated with the preparation of quarterly
reports, including the cost of time spent by the Board of
Directors and management in preparing quarterly reports.

THE BOARD
Composition

The composition of the Board and the categories of Directors
and the names of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ REPORT - DIRECTORS” in this annual report. The
personal particulars of each Director are set out in the “DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE” section of this annual
report, which is also available on the Company’s website.

Diversity

The current Board of Directors includes directors from various
fields with professional backgrounds including real estate, trading,
finance and accounting, etc. Meanwhile, eight of the Directors
are male and two are female, aged between 35 and 73, four of
whom have doctoral or professorial degrees, and all of them have
experience as directors of listed companies, which shows that the
current Board of Directors is able to achieve diversity.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the strategic leadership and control
of the Group to maximize returns for shareholders, while giving
due consideration to the interests of the Group's business partners
and other parties. The achievement of the Company's business
objectives and the day-to-day operations of the business are the
responsibility of the Group’s senior management.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company and subject to the relevant laws and regulations, the
Board may exercise a number of reserved powers, including but not
limited to:

- Maintaining and promoting the culture of the company
—  Developing long-term strategies

- Approving various announcements, including financial
statements

—  Undertaking all major investment decisions

—  Authorising significant capital structure changes and material
borrowings

- lIssuing or repurchasing securities of equity companies under
the relevant general mandates

-  Developing and review significant policies, including the
board'’s diversity policy, to ensure that the board has the
appropriate skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
and views required by the company’s business

-~ Reviewing the operational and financial performance of the
business

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the group’s corporate
governance policies and disclosure, legal and regulatory
requirements, risk management and internal control systems,
and recommend to the Board of Directors

- Ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budgets for staff in the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the company

- Overseeing sustainability issues, including overseeing the
company’s materiality assessment with respect to ESG;
ensuring the proper and ongoing implementation of ESG
policies; and promoting a top-down culture of decision
making that incorporates ESG considerations into the
business.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

The Board is in charge to promote the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group
for the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast
of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To
facilitate effective management, certain functions have been
delegated to various Board committees, namely Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each
of which has its own written terms of reference and whose actions
are reported to and monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee is also constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the HK CG Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance policy and the Company’s internal codes for
securities dealing. The Board will review, consider and determine
the appropriate policy for corporate governance of the Company
from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill
and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non-
executive Directors have included the functions as specified in the
code provision C.1.2 of the HK CG Code.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate
the day-to-day operation of the Group in the ordinary course
of business to the senior management and divisional heads of
different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board to senior management include execution of business
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:

EESH)

I
EELEH

FN - BEFNEFE EZEZEE

HMZ B e HECEHIT

Audit  Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee

Bxg EREEE REZES FMEES
Number of meeting held during the Year F£REB{TEEHEZRH 5 4 2 2
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Mr. JIANG Tiefeng (Note 1) BEE eI 1/5 - 1/2 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Note 2) BB EE(MF2) 3/3 - - 2/2
Mr. YU Zhiliang (Note 2) RERFEE(ME2) 2/2 - - -
Mr. LI Yao =k 4/5 4/4 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai EanEiE L 4/5 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen BRI E 4/5 - - -
Ms. CHEN Yan PRI 5/5 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHTEF
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert FokEEL 5/5 4/4 - 2/2
Ms. CHEN Yanping AT+ 5/5 4/4 2/2 -
Dr. SHI Xinping LEITEEL 5/5 - 2/2 2/2
Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan ExulhE 5/5 - - -
Notes: Kzt -

(1) Due to business affairs, Mr. JJANG could not attend some of the Board meetings
held during the Year. Mr. HUANG Junlong or Mr. YU Zhiliang, as the case may
be, therefore had been appointed to act as his alternate to preside over the
Board meetings held.

2 On 5 August 2024, Mr. HUANG Junlong resigned as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company and Mr. YU
Zhiliang was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and
decisions reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised
by the Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given
by any Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis,
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate. Guideline is available for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also arranged
appropriate liability insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. JIANG Tiefeng, a non-executive Director, has been appointed
as the chairman of the Board since 25 September 2023. The
chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. Wong King Yuen, an executive Director, has been appointed as
the General Manager of the Company since 3 February 2023.

The General Manager of the Company is responsible for the
strategic development and operational planning of the Group, in
particular the day-to-day operation of the Company's business, and
performs the same duties as the Chief Executive Officer. Therefore,
the Company considers that the written rules and regulations of the
Company have embodied the division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

EEE ()

EEeeHE)

®¥e BRIEE FHMEEeRE4EEerE
B REENEEEYEERFERMRE (S
EAAREEE ORISR SR ) EEE
048 - IS BERMATNERS  CAEERE
FEAEEN HARNEABENANEHZEeHD

REEYNERRAWE 2B ENRY - NERES
SREFLERRRIASERIGEEEST o

AN ARREEHAMAERERBBALEER

EEEBZETEN ESRSESBR A IER
AEEZ—YEE  IRNEERFHER2 NGRS L&
g ARBIRBE-EHED - RBEBZ/PTRIS M A
ABVEXER(EMERAARRRARE) - KRR
ERAEEFRENIEFABEEE 2BERR ©

FRERATHAER
FPTEERHBEFE T _=FNA_THARE
EZEREFEIR  IRARAEESFE  HBRH
BRETEAEZBE - WHEELRERE -

BITEFERRAEB S _F _A=AREER{E
RARBRERE -

ARRBEEREAEENBEEREREES - LH
ARBEBHBEERLE  BOTRAERMETREMR
Rl o Al ARBRBR/AANEEREHEDRET
TFERTHRARBE 28D -

“ECNFEFR BERBEMARAR 97



TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and
report to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training
course for the Directors at the Company's expenses.

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:
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BEAEENERECHSEELHE - FARHY
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KEE - W T HRIE LR RBBEERER
REREANBENMEE -

EXREASMBZEILAARRRSE - ARAHK
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ARRE TN ERNEERRUAREBETISE
b MBFRHENEN  UWHPHEFBEITRE - F
W 2REFCHTEBLEETATRISTRIEXE
ClAG2BEFEFEEE - BRLFEABUTER
ZHEE - AN B BN - BRI BHIRE M
B IREE

Attending seminars/
Reading materials in 2024
ZECMESHEERE HEMR

Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. JIANG Tiefeng gL s
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE
Mr. LI Yao ERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai R EE T
Mr. WONG King Yuen HmEFIREE
Ms. CHEN Yan PRI+
Independent non-executive Directors BUFBTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert EoxiEEL
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRAE 22+
Dr. SHI Xinping SEFFIEL
Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan BExHEE
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in
full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply
the Board and its committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board
and each Director have separate and independent access to the
Company'’s senior management for making further enquires where
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of the following members:

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LI Yao (Member)

Most of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr.
WONG Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Board considers that Dr. SHI Xinping and Mr. LI Yao
have sufficient financial knowledge and experience to discharge
their responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its revised terms of reference in
January 2019 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Group's corporate governance,
financial reporting, internal control and risk management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Its key functions include:

reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company's system of internal controls, the
audit reports and management letters issued by the external
auditor and the co-operation given by the Company’s
management to the external auditor;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure
the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and
focus in particular on the changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting
from the audit and compliance with financial reporting
standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and

announcements before submission to the Board for approval;

and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management and reviews the findings of the
internal auditor of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings
in a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact
of the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on
the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
relevant legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the Company'’s external auditor.

The Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2024 published on 12 March 2025 was reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings and has
performed the following duties:

- met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

- considered and discussed the reports and presentations by
the senior management and the external auditor, with a view
to ensure that the Group's consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;

- met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
and key audit issues;

- assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control;

—  carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

- reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget; and

- reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company's affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company'’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management
expertise and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s
function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. JIANG Tiefeng (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group
has adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on
the criteria established, evaluate and select candidates for the
directorships.

In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship to the Board, the Nomination Committee will give due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to:

(@) reputation for character and integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

in which the Company’s business is involved and other
professional qualifications;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(c)  commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service;

(e) contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the
Board; and

() plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and its board committees in addition to
the contribution by the chairman and each individual director
to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The
performance evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the
structure, composition and size of the Board, the Board's access to
complete, adequate and timely information, Board's procedures
and accountability. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions
to be made. The performance criteria that the Nomination
Committee will consider in relation to an individual Director
include the Director’s industry knowledge and/or expertise, time
and effort dedicated to the Group's business and affairs, work
commitments, attendance and participation at the Board and
Board committee meetings. Each member of the Nomination
Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making
recommendation and/or participating in respect of the matters in
which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular
meeting in a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when
required. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee satisfied that the independence
of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors meets
the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied that there are
no relationships which would deem any of the independent non-
executive Directors not to be independent. The Board is able to
exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide
the management with a diverse and objective perspective on
issues.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects
of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since
September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational
background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service.
In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take
into account factors based on its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would review
the measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress of attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation.
The Nomination Committee is satisfied that the current board
composition has achieved a diversity and would enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
and the committee has performed the following duties:

- reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

- recommended re-election of the retiring Directors
after assessing their contribution and performance and
recommended the appointment of the new Directors, and has
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and

- reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
The term of appointment of non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors and all the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company do not have specific terms of
appointment. However, all of them are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meeting according to
the Company’s Articles of Association. The Board considers that
the requirement has the same effect of accomplishing the same
objective as a specific term of appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Member)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member) (resigned on 5 August 2024)
Mr. YU Zhiliang (Member) (appointed on 5 August 2024)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. In setting
remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration the pay and employment conditions within the
industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group's
relative performance and their individual performance. The
Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice on remuneration
of all Directors as and when necessary.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms

of reference. Its key functions include:

reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company's
policies and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration as are competitive and
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors and
senior management of the required quality to run the
Company successfully and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

either determining (with delegated responsibility) or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Year

and has performed the following duties:

reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors;

and

reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the directors and senior management of the
Company is determined on the basis of their industry expertise
and experience, the performance and profitability of the Group
and with reference to the remuneration benchmarks of other local
and international companies and the prevailing market conditions.
Executive Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the Group's performance and individual
performance.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION FOR 2024

Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration includes
amounts paid to them by the Company. Please refer to note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements for details of the emoluments
payable to each of the directors and senior management in 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision C.1.3 of the HK CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company'’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific
enquiry to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all
Relevant Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period.
In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent
and reasonable judgments and estimates and have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also
warrant that the Group's financial statements will be published in a
timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to
provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and
assessment of the Group's financial position and prospects. The
management currently provides the Board with monthly update on
the Group's performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company's
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company is set out in

the section headed "Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual
report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 24 January 2019,
pursuant to which in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account
the following factors:

(@) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;

(b) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands;

(c) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(d) the investment and operating requirements of the Company;
and

(e) any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend
Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any
particular amount for any given period.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MATTERS

The environmental, social and governance report of the Group
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited covering the year ended 31 December 2024 will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in due course.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group
and the interests of shareholders and consider the governance
of risk. Annual review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
has been conducted by the management and reviewed by the
Board. The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the
internal control system is inadequate. Review will be made at least
annually to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk
management and the internal control system of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on
each audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their
risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its
internal audit function to an independent accounting firm, Deloitte
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group with a focus on the property business.
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision
D.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024, no significant risk
was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

*  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An
effective information platform has been created to enable relevant
and timely information are sent to the Board for decision making.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a
good control environment for handling and dissemination of inside
information. The access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements
are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.
Where necessary, Directors to speak on behalf of the Company
when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2024,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted at least
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management's
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional
services provided by the Company's auditor, KPMG, is set out as
follows:

12 S B 57 B
RN - AR TR RS E DB iR
B HEESIMT -

(RMB’000)

(AR®ET)

Audit services EET RS 2,476
Non-audit services IEEFT RS 524
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ B 5 BN 3,000

Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in
connection with the continuing connected transactions review,
reporting accountant for major transactions and internal controls

assessment.

The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review
of the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and
the Board has concurred with the nomination of KPMG, for
reappointment as independent auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the company secretary, Mr. Ng Ho, undertook at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of
the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings

held during the Year were as follows:

8 N
EERFABTZREAGZ HEDHABNT

Persons holding office as directors at the date of the general meeting

RETRRAEZERAESHAL

WONG P
JANG  HUANG Ll WONG Wing Kuen, CHEN SHI Man Ki
general Meetings Tiefeng  Junlong Yao SO ShuFai KingYuen CHEN Yan Albert  Yanping  Xinping Ryan
RRAE B R 3% EHE ERR R IXE [FE e LHF Eygt
28 June 2024 N Y Y Y N Y Y Y Y N
“E-RERAZTIR
(2024 AGM/ =2 =
BREFAE)
COUNT/ K& 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0

N=Absent,/ 7 /&
Y=Attended, /B &

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

Significant Changes In The Issuer’s Constitutional
Documents During The Year

During the Year, there had been no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Shareholders’ Communication

The Company’s shareholder communication policy, as updated
from time to time, is posted on the Company’s official website
http://en.cmland.hk/web/.

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year

e we held our annual general meeting on 28 JUNE 2024 to
provide an opportunity for shareholders, investors and analysts
to engage directly with the directors and senior management;

e we have published key corporate governance policies, the
respective terms of reference of the Board committees, the
Group's press releases and announcements on the Company’s
website;
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

(continued)

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year (continued)

the timely publication of our annual report, interim report and
announcements to the Stock Exchange and on the Company'’s
website;

the Directors and senior management communicating with
shareholders, investors and analysts through financial calls,
the Company’s website and face-to-face meetings to present
annual and interim results and to provide real-time answers
to shareholders, investors and others regarding the Group’s
financial and operational position;

the annual general meeting of the Company serves as a
regular communication platform where shareholders have
the opportunity to meet with the directors and senior
management and the notice of the annual general meeting
together with the meeting information will be sent to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20
business days before the annual general meeting to be held;

the external auditor was also invited to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and to answer questions
at the meeting regarding the audit work, the preparation
and contents of the auditor’s report, accounting policies and
auditor independence;

the chairman of the Board and the respective chairmen of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee (or in their absence, other members
of the relevant committees) will be available to respond to
questions from shareholders and stakeholders at the general
meeting;

the share registrar of the Company to handle the registration
of shares and related matters for shareholders and to monitor
the votes at general meetings;

all shareholders are welcome to provide feedback to and
communicate with the directors or management through the
investor relations team at any time; and
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

(continued)

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year (continued)

e all shareholders are entitled to receive dividends in
accordance with our dividend policy. Dividend payments
should be determined based on the Group's financial
performance, future capital requirements and general
economic and business conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company considers
that the above measures are in place and the shareholder
communication policy has been effectively implemented.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings or, if
unable to attend, to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on their
behalf at the meetings.

The Company’s last annual general meeting was held on 28
June 2024. All the resolutions proposed at these meetings were
approved by shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of the
poll results are available under the “Announcements and Notices”
section of the Company’s website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll
in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required
and permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained to the shareholders at the inception of general
meeting to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such voting
procedures. Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on the same business day of the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

22ND FLOOR,

308 CENTRAL DES VOEUX,

NO. 308 DES VOEUX ROAD CENTRAL,
HONG KONG

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also
be convened on the written requisition of any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out above specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results
in a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general
meetings on each separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
at the annual general meeting will also be included in the circular
to shareholders which will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange or dispatched together with this
report upon request.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are
made available on the Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:
Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt
Road Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BV A% B RS

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
China Merchants Land Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 127 to 299, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

M % BLED R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

B ET S

RETFEERERMNEXZHE - RAH AR
EUBHRENBAR/EENFR - BLEFTHEER

PIEFT ERRA M BRR L AR R EITRIEN
BT e ELERREHRHERFNER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Assessment on net realisable value of properties for sale

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 163.

Key audit matter
HEEFTER

SHETH I B Y TR RFE

FERMG AU BRRM T2 1638 25T HE ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RN E BN EEEIR

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of the Group's
properties for sale (“PFS") was significant. PFS are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.
RIZZZNFE+ZA=+—H ' AEEAMEEEMETAIHEL
EWE DEREERK - A HEMEURARNERZERFEHR
EEFIR °

The calculation of the net realisable value for PFS as at
balance sheet date is performed by management. This
calculation involves significant management judgement
and estimation in forecasting the costs to complete each
property under development for sale as well as in assessing
the expected future selling prices for PFS, the estimated
future selling costs and the relevant taxes.
MEBEAGBERBHNAHEEWE 2 #HFENEHERE
BT - T B REREIRE A6 Kbt - AIRRISTK &I
B J R AT 1) 25 B0 BN DA B BT AT 65 W 2R MO TR B AR 2R
BB - AETARREER AN RABATIE
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
PFS included the following:
BRI E W% 2 AT SR FENEEF BEEA T RIA

e assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the
preparation and monitoring of management budgets
and forecasts of construction and other costs, the
calculation for net realisable value of the PFS, and
write-down of PFS for each property development

project;

o FHMEBEMFEEREBAERENEEEERENFENZE
EHAKA - GHERf# ﬁ%fF%%Z—J """"" AZR A K HORR AT 4
HEMEFEHNEEABEZNR - BENETESR
R

e evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology adopted by management for assessing
the net realisable value of PFS with reference to the
requirements of prevailing accounting standards and,
on a sample basis, assessing the reasonableness of
the expected future selling prices by comparing those
adopted in the valuations with market available data,
historical selling prices and the sales budget plans
maintained by the Group;

o MHEEEEREBRITSENMNERFTEAHEEMEY
AR FERMEANGEREZREEEHE - WEBMK

AR BEETRANEERATSAAEE  FLEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BV A% B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Assessment on net realisable value of properties for sale

(continued)

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 163. (continued)

Key audit matter
BEETER

B ETSEIE ()
FHER N EYE 2 IR FE(E)

BL2HRE M BERRMT2RE1638 2 GHHER
(&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

PR E T N R R B

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of
the Group’s PFS as a key audit matter because of the
significance of PFS to the total assets of the Group and
because of the inherent risks involved in estimating the
costs to complete each property development project and
the future selling prices for each PFS, particularly in light of
the current economic circumstances and various property
market measures introduced in various cities across
Chinese Mainland.

MK BSEERHEEYEIERFEN LB ABEE
STEIE - DRENRAMEEENER BEEEERBEMIRER
st S EY R B R T A KA R EFIEA 4 HE YRR
EERTFEEARRER  CHEZRISAINLELE RPENA
IR TH A B R IR EE 5T i o

on a sample basis, assessing the reasonableness of the
estimated future selling costs and relevant taxes to the
historical selling costs and relevant taxes;
FRIETT - BTl TR B AR 2K 85 5 AR AN 2 AR A A TE AR
RELHEXAREATHIBARETARE ;

on a sample basis, assessing the reasonableness of
the estimated construction costs to complete each
property development project by comparing those
with the Group'’s latest budgets, and on a sample
basis, inspecting the supporting documents of certain
items of construction cost in the budgets to assess the
reliability of the budgets;

FRMESR  FRE EEERANEEETHE
FHESEYREREBRNRIZENRNEERE - B
AL BRERERETREKAEENZHAX
- FHMETEE R B RISE

on a sample basis, performing sensitivity analyses
on expected future selling price and unit cost to
determine the extent of changes in these assumptions
that, either individually or collectively, would be
required for PFS to be materially misstated and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in
those key assumptions arising and the potential for
management bias in their selection.

BRMETR  HRARREBREUKTETERE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT") in Chinese
Mainland

Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 193.

Key audit matter
BEETER

B ETSE ()
o B N = B (E R ([ SIS (E R | ) B

B2 E PERRM IR FI1938 2 FFHEUR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

E PR ET N R BB

LAT in Chinese Mainland is one of the main components of
the Group's taxation charge.

REAM IR ER S BEREFEENEEERE O 2 — -

LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of
land value. At the end of each financial reporting period,
management estimates the provision for LAT based on its
understanding and interpretation of the relevant tax rules
and regulations and the estimated total sales of properties
less total deductible expenditure. The estimated total
deductible expenditure includes lease charges for land
use rights, property development costs, borrowing costs
and development expenditure, and the estimation of these
expenditure requires management judgement. When the
LAT is subsequently determined, the actual payments may
be different from the estimates.

THIREBR R FEE R T MEE 2 IBENRRET RI%E
0% - NEFHEME IR - BIRERIZ LRI A K
AR IR R o e R DA R il ST A0 W 2R A 8H R PT A BR ST i AR RR 2R
et LI ETEE - AR H AR BB e RERE
EEM MEZBERE  BERARBERAX  ZERAXHM
STABEIEEHE o 8 L HIRERERETER  BRXNEEA
BEBRfLEt R AR ©

We identified provision for LAT in Chinese Mainland
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the
estimated provisions for LAT are based on management’s
judgement and interpretation of the relevant tax laws and
regulations and practices.

A B A IR ER AR AR ES ER - ThAR
HRGREMBmk cREM - B L MIRERAEFHEETE
WE IR EHRATSCER - ER R BRI FIE 28 -
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Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT in
Chinese Mainland included the following:

BAFHEREA D IR EREENETRFREAT SR

e  assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the
calculation of the estimated LAT provision;

o FHARTEMGELHEERBREN TR ABEENRE
B ETRARN

e  engaging our internal tax specialists to evaluate the
reasonableness of the Group’s LAT provisions as at
31 December 2024, which involved challenging the
Group's assumptions and judgements based on our
knowledge and understanding of the practices of the
application of the relevant tax laws by the various local
tax bureaus on a sample basis;

o ZERMOABBBERRNME BEER_T_MF
TORA=1T-HOLHIBETRRELSDAIE @ kA
R =175 B B e B ARRA DR B I B T f#f K IR
AR AR NE R BEEERRR R

e on asample basis, assessing the reasonableness of
the Group's estimation of the value of the deductible
expenditure by comparing to historical data; and

o FBWHEAN  LBELEE  FE ESRELANK
FXEEMFTEEEE &

o re-calculating, on a sample basis, the provision for LAT
and comparing the provision made by management
with our calculations.

o FBRWHEAN G EFFELIMEEREE  UKEREE
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

BB R E T RS B HRRAENEE

(%)

o HEEEMRASHTERRNBELEREL G
HETMERRENS R -

s HEERARKEBELCZSTEAMNRERIELA
i o RIFPIEMMNETRE  HEEEFEHR
FRABABENEATHEEN - KEMATaEE
HY BEEENBECLERNEESTKRERE -
MRBEMBBFEEATHEEN  MAESERE
R RETRBEAEIBGEAMBTRRD
WARREE - REEHENEKRETR - RIRME
BERRFERETR - HAINERIEENZE
B & B AL FTERS VB AT ERRE © A - RIKE
BHBERAIEEH EEETRFELE -

o ELHAVBHRENEEIFZHIN - BEAA
B BEEE URGEMBEHREREESTER
MLZ ZANEIE o

o FIEIMMITEEEF - NENER BEEER
ERIEBHEMMBEENRTR BENET
B FRHEEMBRRVKERLNER -
BMPARESE BEEMNMEXEEEB MM
HITHES TIE - HPIABEAERAELAE
-

BB -
BE - FHEARH  EAFAERS
e 383 L P 3420 5 4 1) S KR o

BMEBZEEG/BR T T ENERT
BREREMEER

—ToNEFR BERBMARAE 125



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % B R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Chu Fai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

12 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4= A
I 5 = |
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

Sm RNEMEERZ

2024 2023
—E-ME —EF=F
NOTES RMB'000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥T T AR¥EFTTT
Revenue Wz 5 20,661,233 28,800,845
Cost of sales SHE A (19,675,813) (24,930,302
Gross profit E7 985,420 3,870,543
Other income HAbUgA 7 357,603 453,737
Finance costs B & B AN 8 (577,247) (740,390)
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain X (B51E), W5 (75,285) 6,451
Selling and marketing expenses HE M EHAY (761,655) (849,323)
Administrative expenses ITECE (169,003) (379,112)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEZ R EER 17 (160,210) -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures ReLbEr2#n  ORERBE 19 (211,453) -
Allowance of expected credit losses TREEEEERE (335,148) (2,497)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial asset BAFEFABZE((EAFE
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") STABmICERMEEL
N EWE (EE) 29,649 (36,420)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—HastEzBE (1,820) -
Share of results of associates DIREE R B 2 ¥E 18 (128,635) 303,351
Share of results of joint ventures DAL ZEE 19 (117,677) 64,730
(Loss)/profit before tax KRR (E518),m 10 (1,165,461) 2,691,070
Income tax expense FriSiA 9 (524,169) (1,439,255)
(Loss)/profit for the year NEE(EE),/afl (1,689,630) 1,251,815
Other comprehensive income, net of Hib2mikas
income tax R ATISH
ltemn that may be reclassified subsequently to HgnsEfoEEEne
profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences arising on translation of BN RRIGEE+ >
financial statements of foreign operations HEHEH 12,432 18,932
Total comprehensive income for the year AFErHEREETE (1,677,198) 1,270,747
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AR ALTRIEAREE(EE),/
A
Owners of the Company KATEE A 13 (1,850,755) 133,414
Non-controlling interests e AR HE = 161,125 1,118,401
(1,689,630) 1,251,815
Total comprehensive income for AT ALTEIEREE2E RS
the year attributable to: HER
Owners of the Company NATES A (1,838,323) 152,346
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR FE RS 161,125 1,118,401
(1,677,198) 1,270,747
(Losses)/earnings per share BR(EE) B
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) HEAR#EARED) 13 (37.73) 272

The notes on pages 136 to 299 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk R &

At 31 December 2024
R-E-—mE+=-H=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Jiiofza AR®T T AR®ET T
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - R KRG 14 401,997 522,611
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 16,294 50,387
Investment properties wEME 16 2,942,343 3,106,657
Goodwill GHES 17 - 160,210
Interests in associates REE N 7] 2 S 18 11,217,742 12,407,071
Interests in joint ventures REEDE 2R 19 3,139,765 4,117,458
Financial asset at FVTPL BAFEFABRZERHEE 20 121,671 92,022
Other receivables H it e Y S0 I8 23 18,997,696 18,426,740
Deferred tax assets IRIERIIBE B 21 760,899 931,491
37,598,407 39,814,647

Current assets RBEE
Properties for sale Al E 22 59,254,675 67,634,899
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights W& + {8 F#E T2 S 152,847 249,750
Trade and other receivables 75 R E M EIGRIA 23 11,520,006 11,526,393
Contract costs SN 5 326,532 230,949
Prepaid income tax TS ETS 3,138,317 2,930,587
Bank balances and cash RITEREIA S 24 12,734,449 10,283,322
Assets held for sale FEREZBE 18,797 -
87,145,623 92,855,900

Current liabilities nBAE
Contract liabilities aHEaE 5 23,958,048 21,441,790
Trade and other payables 75 N ELAth FE < FRE 25 28,179,946 35,155,132
Lease liabilities HEESE 26 29,425 54,038
Loans from non-controlling interests JEIE RS B 27 129,420 479,241
Loan from a fellow subsidiary —EREMB AT ER 28 528,409 205,937
Bank and other borrowings WITREMES 29 4,021,610 9,663,814
Income tax payable R FTISHE 2,760,147 3,271,885
59,607,005 70,271,837
Net current assets REBEERE 27,538,618 22,584,063
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBERS 65,137,025 62,398,710
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk R &

At 31 December 2024
R-FE-mE+=—F=+—H

At 31 December

BR+=—BR=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE =&
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loans from non-controlling interests JEERR R I B X 27 1,498,268 1,409,035
Loans from an intermediate holding company —XEEER AT ER 28 12,699,218 14,111,183
Loans from a fellow subsidiary — IR R B A R &K 28 573,699 543,723
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE 29 16,621,727 10,306,790
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 258,117 315,254
Other payables H h fE T RIR 25 = 88,030
Deferred tax liabilities EERHIBEE 21 391,988 499,706
32,043,017 27,273,721
NET ASSETS AEBE 33,094,008 35124989
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRRFHE
Share capital RE R 30 39,132 39,132
Reserves i 7,982,731 9,873,118
Equity attributable to owners of the Company — ARQARI#EA AR 8,021,863 9,912,250
Non-controlling interests FEI IR RE RS 40 25,072,145 25,212,739
TOTAL EQUITY R 33,094,008 35,124,989

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 299 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

FI21R29B A M MEAEETEN S -5
FZA+-_AMERREAEEAUATESAEXSE

=

CHEN YAN
DIRECTOR
EZE

The notes on pages 136 to 299 form part of these financial

statements.

WONG KING YUEN
BT
DIRECTOR
EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e == N/
mEER

28 %

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_—FT_mF+-F=+—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

LN TN
Equity Non-
Share Share Other transaction ~ Translation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium  reserves reserve  reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
Bx  BHEE  AtRE BERSEE  EXBE  REE Mt FBREE  BREE
RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB0O0  RMB'00  RMBOO0  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTT ARETR ARBTR  ARMTT ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 30fi)  (Note 30i) (Note 30()
(Hict00) -~ (WeE30ii) (K&t 300)

At 1 January 204 RZZ-MmE-F-A 39132 3879555 (2,369,537) (1,036303) 32801 9,366,602 9,912,250 25212739 35124989
(Loss)/profit for the year KER(5E)/ 67 = = = - - (1,850,755 (1,850,755) 161,125  (1,689,630)

Other comprehensive income for the year: REBAMRANE :

- Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ ~BEGNEEEEHR
financial statements of oreign operations Ei7ERZEE - - - - 12432 - 12432 - 12432
Total comprehensive income for the year FERRENRER - - - - 12432 (1,850755) (1,838,323 161125 (1,677,198
Acquisition of non-controlling interests of WE—RANBAT

asubsidiary kiR - - 1518 - - 1518 (65545)  (64,027)
Capital reduction by non-controlling interests e 2 AR E - - - - - - - (4,500) (4,500)
Capitalinjection by non-controlling interests FERELIR = - 121 - - - 121 5611 2573
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests AR RERERRE - - - - - - - (257,285  (257,285)
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERREMHiE12) C (53,703) - - - - (53,703) - (53,703)
At 31 December 2024 RIE-MET-AZT-B 39132 3825852 (2369.416) (1,034785 45233 7515847 8021863 25072145 33,094,008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBD X

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

Attrioutable to the owners of the Company
ARREE N
Equity Non-
Share Share Other  transaction ~ Translation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium  reserves reserve reserve profits  Subfotl interests equity
RE ROEE  AbRE ERRSEE  ENRE  REEA G FERER  ERLE
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'0O0  RMBOO0  RMB'O0  RMBOO0  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTT ARETR ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
(Note 30(i) ~ (Note 30(i) (Note 301)
(Fict00) - (WeE3agi) (Hit30p)
At 1 January 2023 R=2-=%--R 10132 4015014 (2402195 (1,036,199 13869 9233188 9862815 22863450 32726265
Profit for the year REERT - - - - - 133414 133414 1118401 1,251,815
Other comprehensive income for the year: REEAHRANG :
- Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ ~REENERERRE
financial statements of oreign operations EivEREE - - - - 18932 - 18932 = 1893
Total comprehensive income for the year REERANEER - - - - 18932 133414 15346 1118401 1210747
Acquisition of subsidlary accounted foras asset ~ WEEMB AR ANEENE
acquisition - - - - - - - 1761698 17616%
Acquisition of a subsidiary without change of ~ XHliET EEE T IRE K
control BA7 - - - (10) - - (10) - (110)
Share of a joint venture's reserves movement ME-HALPERERY - - 2,34 - - - 2034 - 203M
Capital reduction of subsidaries WBARZEREE - - - - - - - (2650000 (265000
Capital injection by non-controlling interests FaRERTE - = 5317 = - - 5317 (1,759) 3558
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests ~~ FI3EERERE Wﬁ g = - - - - - - (264051 (264050)
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERRE W1 - (135459) - = = - (1354%9) - (135499)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+ZA=1-H 1132 387955 (2369531 (1,036,303 2801 9366602 9912250 B2739 35124989

The notes on pages 136 to 299 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

2024 2023
—E oA —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLRT(EE) T (1,165,461) 2,691,070
Adjustments for: BRFIFE
Depreciation of investment properties EYHEITE 152,408 150,778
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - = L RETE 37,466 50,026
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEETE 21,496 30,893
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial asset BATFEFABRZ
at FVTPL TREEZATE
(M), /18 (29,649) 36,420
Impairment loss on goodwill R 2 R E R 160,210 -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures REELEZHERZ
HEEE 211,453 -
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HE—fH& &b EE 1,820 =
Gain on early termination of lease RPKLIEAEH Wz (2,794) (747)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, LEME  BENREZ
plant and equipment &8, (W) 48 (48)
Allowance of expected credit losses TRHEEEERE 335,148 2,497
Finance costs A& A AR 577,247 740,390
Interest income WA (334,591) (430,767)
Share of results of associates DG E N T 2 EE 128,635 (303,351)
Share of results of joint ventures DREERE L 117,677 (64,730)
Unrealised exchange realignment REFIRE S 75,285 16,084
Operating cash flows before movements EBE R IR 2 LE
in working capital Hense 286,398 2,918,515
Decrease in properties for sale AR EmER D 9,159,529 7,080,670
Decrease/(increase) in deposits paid for Yol + b (5 RREFR TR &
acquisitions of land use rights () 96,903 (249,750)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 75 R E A FEURGRIE R 191,493 5,378,490
Increase in contract costs A KIBANIE N (95,583) (1,924)
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR HIER 1T E g AN 1,334,299 (2,525,075)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHAa’EEm GRd) 2,516,258 (6,703,273)
Decrease in trade and other payables SE 7% I LAt JE A5 ZRIE R D (5,898,691) (4,960,759)
Cash generated from operations KEMSHE 7,590,606 936,894
Income tax paid ETFTSH (1,180,763) (1,676,837)
Interest received B AIE 137,952 188,155
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

2024 2023
—EoE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
NET CASH GENERATED FROMY/(USED IN) KESEE TS, (FTA)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES Re&FE 6,547,795 (551,788)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Advances to fellow subsidiaries EIEES | =PNEIE-E = (19,579)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries CIEXR VNG /S - 6,652
Advances to other related parties and Al £ 4th B EE 5 K
non-controlling interests FEFE P HE 2 B R (4,839,054) (4,073,778)
Repayment from other related parties and H fth AR 7 K
non-controlling interests FEIE R i B X 5,648,112 1,548,484
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi FE1E iR i 2 (2,017) -
Disposal of a joint venture HE—fEa & 9.224 -
Capital reduction of associates NI RN ) 134,500 -
Capital injection to associates mEEE R EEE (137,260) (1,861,748)
Capital injection to joint ventures ARErELIE (440,511) (432,669)
Cash (outflow)/inflow arising on acquisition of EXBKEHRB AR
subsidiaries accounted for as assets acquisition WIAEEWEARZ
ReORL),/mA (24,541) 302,405
Dividend received from associates B B R AU B B 245,072 192,416
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BWELEXE (1,419) (14,772)
Addition of investment properties REREME = (231)
Proceeds received on disposal of property, HEME - BB R&H
plant and equipment Fri8ki18 94 344
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) BREZEFE(FTA)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFHE 592,200 (4,352,472)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\ /\ IE, é /J|Lv£ ’13—%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—EMmEF —EC=fF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
st AR¥T T AR®ET T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 2ERIEAE 34 11,382,988 11,782,720
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERTREMES 34 (10,752,795) (11,701,756)
Repayment of factoring arrangement BERIBELH (572,715) -
Advances from other related parties and non- H b RE 5 & I AR RE 2R EA TR
controlling interests 970,283 1,636,482
Repayment to other related parties and non- A EL At BB 77 M IR g e R
controlling interests B (1,329,619) (1,844,284)
Advances from intermediate holding companies  E#EERA BIEA R 8,171,503 15,271,238
Repayment to intermediate holding companies BElEEE 2 NG (11,049,790) (13,935,329)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries EELRIEIN 7%& 2,426,550 1,849,660
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries AR R B A RERR (1,167,880) (367,618)
Interest paid 255 34 (1,300,446) (1,527,308)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEGE 34 (74,573) (75,559)
Dividends paid B S 34 (53,703) (401,425)
Capital contributed by/(reducted to) NEEWB AR 2 TR
non-controlling interests of T8 CRE)
subsidiaries of the Group 14,900 (87,403)
Capital reduction of subsidiary B /B 2 B) & A HI Rk - (265,000)
Cash outflow arising on acquisition of additional 24 5 UgiE —RIKE 2 )
interest in a subsidiary BIMER 2SN = (111)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM BEEE (FTA) g
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REeFE (3,335,297) 334,307
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

2024 2023
—E U4 —E-=4
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
K et AR¥T T AREETTT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND BeERERRELER
CASH EQUIVALENTS ' ORd)EE 3,804,698 (4,569,953)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHNEERERRESEH
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,755,442 11,340,742
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERESHTE
RATE CHANGES (19,272) (15,347)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRERELER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 10,540,868 6,755,442
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF ReRERESEHERH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS iy
bank balances and cash RITHEBRKEIR S 12,734,449 10,283,322
less: restricted bank deposits B R BIRITIER 24 (2,193,581) (3,527,880)
10,540,868 6,755,442

The notes on pages 136 to 299 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

CREE &

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE—

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a
limited liability company and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “"Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 39.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success Well
Investment Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). One of its intermediate
holding company is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holding Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Shekou”), which is
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Merchants Group
Limited ("CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise regulated and
directly managed by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council and is owned
and controlled by the PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

?FT/_\

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements — Non-
current liabilities with covenants (2022 amendments”)

o Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

The Company has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements (the 2020 and 2022 amendments,
collectively the “HKAS 1 amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the classification of a
liability as current or non-current, and have been applied
retrospectively as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the classification of a
liability that can be settled in its own equity instruments. If the
terms of a liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments and that conversion option is accounted
for as an equity instrument, these terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or non-current.
Otherwise, the transfer of equity instruments would constitute
settlement of the liability and impact classification.

2.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
i

CREE & A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EHE=

138

FEomFEF A=+ —HIFFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements (the 2020 and 2022 amendments,
collectively the "HKAS 1 amendments”) (continued)

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions with which an
entity must comply after the reporting date do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current. However,
the entity is required to disclose information about non-
current liabilities subject to such conditions.

The application of the amendment during the year will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has provided additional disclosures about its
non-current liabilities subject to covenants in note 33.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

The amendments clarify how an entity accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction. The amendments
require the seller-lessee to apply the general requirements
for subsequent accounting of the lease liability in such a
way that it does not recognise any gain or loss relating to
the right of use it retains. A seller-lessee is required to apply
the amendments retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application.
The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Company has not entered into any
sale and leaseback transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements
to enhance transparency of supplier finance arrangements
and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. The Company has provided the new
disclosures in notes 25 and 33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning

on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21,
The effects of changes in foreign

1 January 2025

exchange rates — Lack of
exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
Financial instruments and HKFRS 7,

1 January 2026

Financial instruments: disclosures —

Amendments to the classification and

measurement of financial instruments
Annual improvements to HKFRS 1 January 2026
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure
in financial statements

1 January 2027

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public
accountability: disclosures

1 January 2027

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current accounting period reflected in
these financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”)
and the Group's interest in associates and joint

ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for financial asset as FVTPL is stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there

are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—FT_WmF+-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give
it power, including:

o the size of the Group's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and
o any additional facts and circumstances that

indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the
time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries
(continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument ("HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

RENBBRIEHEEERERS

b2 N =]

FTHERER (#)

3.2

EXEABRERN (&)
HREEX(E)
FEEREEHE L 72 BB (F)

FERERLSHE 2 AHESERE MK
BURREAFECHNEZEEEN Ex
R WEAREEEAME

BEAEEXEYH BB QR 2=
- RIBUERRBZMBRARANEENRE
ERIEERER(E) - WaEsiEBER
Bz AR - WAHETIIME ZEE : (i)
ERRERXFEMMEMNKEER AT
Bz RiEEFEE(RERE)
RARBEBEANEEMNBARAE - 5t
ZHBARBEREMEHEKRSERR
BEFRRARBINAREEER L ERX
MEAREREEXBBE(NERSBE
BRNEEEACEERBREER)D AT
HE/ RS —RRER) - AIMER
ARKREENEEBRERENAFE
BRIRHERCE BB RE LR FE95HR
A TA(KEEUBREEL)EHR])
BTREBSFREZATE (8
R MARERE L AR REELRIREN
DN

—ToNEFR HBERBMARATE 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
e

B %% ¥R Ak MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude bank balances and
cash, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined
not to be a business and no further assessment is
needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/liabilities at
the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does
not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquire (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BMENEBRRZGEREERERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SFTBERER @)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.0 BBAEHESEER(E)
Investments in associates and joint ventures REZATIRAZDESInE
An associate is an entity over which the Group has BANTEAEENEASEATE S
significant influence. Significant influence is the power TEE . BEATE ) YIS EH R YA

to participate in the financial and operating policy

BRGEHRREL2EARR2ES - B
FEHZ Il ok H FHE 2 B R

decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the A A TEA Mo %TQ?JH?EE_

parties that have joint control of the arrangement have R ST TR YA e
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint éfé/?@%ﬁ@éﬂ /\HTI%U%?E o]
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of AW E Y — AR P T e

an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about EBEEEEZSH AT NEREBLAZ A
HlHE 2 FH — R ERTE -

the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and BANTIRASNRE e  xEpa
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated BURR S ER R AR BERE A

financial statements using the equity method of

B

accounting.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
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evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint

venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence I (R e s g &gz =0 BE T (E
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is RE —BERE(E B ER) L3365

tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint
ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates or joint
ventures

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, goodwill is recognised at
acquisition date if there is excess of the consideration
paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or
joint ventures acquired. Any excess of share of carrying
amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates or joint ventures acquired over
the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the additional interest are
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

J the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group; and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time

when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date for service contracts in which the Group bills
a fixed amount for each month, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right
to invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of money if the timing
of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether
the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by
the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods or services in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant
interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the
same basis as other borrowing costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate. Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment and motor
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

J an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for sales” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a reasonable basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Rental income derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head
lease (adjusted for any initial direct costs associated
with the sublease) to measure the net investment in
the sublease if the interest rate implicit in the sublease
cannot be readily determined.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to written off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An Item of property, plant and equipment Is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is transferred to properties
for sales when there is a change in use evidenced
by commencement of development with a view to
sale of the relevant properties. The carrying value of
the property at the date of transfer is the deemed
cost of the property for its subsequent accounting in
accordance with HKAS 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Properties for sale

Properties for sale under current assets are properties
(under development or completed properties) held for
future sale in the ordinary course of business. Except
for the leasehold land element which is measured at
cost model in accordance with the accounting policies
of right-of-use assets, properties for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including
allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value is determined based
on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for
sale to investment property at cost when there is a
change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or
land for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE—
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities,
other than those classified as FVTPL, are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is not held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “fair value
gain on financial asset at FVTPL” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and bank
balances) and financial guarantee contracts which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE—

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables is assessed
individually for all debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

GREPBERRCFEREERERSE
SFTBERER @)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Finan
Finan
Impai
impai

i)

cial instruments (continued)
cial assets (continued)

rment of financial assets and other item subject to
rment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instruments
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitments is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEUKRRCHEREENREARE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHERER (#)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 32 BEAEIHEBR(E)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMTE(E)
Financial assets (continued) SREEE)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to BRI (B AR EA) BT ETH
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued) EMER S REEREMIEE FHE(E)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (0 SRR R AN(E)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness AEETHERANREESRK
of the criteria used to identify whether there 00 75 2 2 0 g AR AR R 0
has been a significant increase in credit risk and BB RELET  #TREEH
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the A S A I B HA AT R S S B R
criteria are capable of identifying significant o P 48 ] o
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
(i)  Definition of default (i) BONTEE
The Group considers the following as constituting INEE AT EEER NP
an event of default for internal credit risk AREEEHEL K HERBE
management purposes as historical experience 4 L B = A A 1) AT o] — IE AR Y
indicates that receivables that meet either of the FEU 2R IE A S U ]
following criteria are generally not recoverable:
° when there is a breach of financial covenants . XOUHEFERMBEEL
by the counterparty; or B sk
o when information developed internally or o REPETKE NI AREE
obtained from external sources indicates HWERET  BEARATD
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, G PR TERIFFERA (R
including the Group, in full (without taking EAEER)(TAREZENEE
into account any collaterals held by the FrisE M EAER D) o
Group).
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group MAEE FAN  AEERS -
considers that default has occurred when a T4 RS ERHEIBOE - BlEL
financial asset is more than 90 days past due BEE  BRIEAEERESLERA
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable EEKIEE T — 1T E A R E A
information to demonstrate that a more lagging A AN R o

default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence of credit-impairment
includes observable data about the following

events:

o significant financial difficulty of the borrower
or issuer;

o a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

o the lender of the borrower, for economic

or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession that
the lender would not otherwise consider; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Finan
Finan
Impai
impai

(iv)

cial instruments (continued)
cial assets (continued)

rment of financial assets and other item subject to
rment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Mate
Finan
Finan

Impai
impai

v)

rial accounting policy information (continued)
cial instruments (continued)
cial assets (continued)

rment of financial assets and other item subject to
rment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risk
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v} Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, loans from non-controlling interests and an
intermediate holding company and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

J the amount initially recognised less, where

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_mFEF A=+ —HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use
assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the

consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-
sale of properties that are held for meeting short-
term cash commitments. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and

cash equivalents as defined above and form an integral

part of the Group's cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme") are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS require or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BREVKRREFEEREERERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STBERER ()
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.0 BBAEHEEERE)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of (other than in a business
combination) assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures and
associates, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets
and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that they will be recovered primarily through
sale rather than through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group
is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining
assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that
no loss is allocated to deferred tax assets, employee
benefits assets, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties, which continue to be measured
in accordance with the group’s other accounting
policies108. Impairment losses on initial classification
as held for sale or held for distribution and subsequent
gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

=
FTHERER (#)

MHEBRZBUEERERSE

32 BEAREFERERE)

R H AN FRIR
EBREMENRBITIERFERE
R VIIATERIR - FTE R E M e IR
WEEKAR  BRFERRNOTETE
R ERBERTRREZSHEIIR

FEHEFRDEE
FRBDEESIREERABEAKNHLE
M MR T BB B E MR AR
FZUE - QISR AHE

HHREEFHEARTRERERAQT
EREERATHREETE - HEM
MEMBEBRELOEERE - AR
BEPISTRERNGREERAR  BELT
MAEE BERMNEE  BMEER
MEBAR BERTARASLLENRE
BRIN RIREMET D REMEE - %%
ERERRREENE MBS HR108E
T E - T D BRFBIEHERFED
IKEVBEEEAREREHAEN K
REBIGNIBERTER

—ToNEFR HBERBMARAE 187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised

or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no
longer equity accounted.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

ﬁégﬁﬁ%2ﬁ%§ﬁ&3ﬁ§
STHERER (#2)

32 BEAREFERERE)
B ()
(b) (#&)

v) ZEBRAAKEIAKH
M ERNERREREND
BRRENETE o

Vi) () BBMHATHEBE
EAVEN  HRER(H
BOSAF)HBRERA

(viii) ZEBIEMEEBEHIMA
KERAEESAAKEG R
IR EE A B R -

AAOIRBEEREREREAES
FERARXZATENTEKE -

—ToNEFR HBERBEMARAE 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEUKRRCHEREENEARE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. HETTBEBEZ2EERR

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated write-down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties
for sale is determined based on the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based on
prevailing market conditions, less applicable selling expenses
and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.

The Group writes-down properties for sale to net realisable
value. If there is an increase in anticipated costs to completion
or a decrease in estimated net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this might result in write-down of
properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write-downs requires the use of judgements and estimates.
If the expectation is different, it will impact the carrying value
of properties for sale in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

The net realisable values of certain of the Group's properties
for sale, located in Chongging, Nanjing, Xi’an, Guangzhou
and Foshan (2023: Chongging and Foshan), Chinese
Mainland, are lower than their carrying amounts which are set
out in note 22.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC, of which the
implementation varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC. LAT is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the land appreciation value.
The Group determines the land appreciation value as the
proceeds of sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right, borrowing costs
and the relevant property development expenditures.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
properties are delivered to the buyers, at the time when the
final amounts of LAT payments have not been approved by
the local tax authorities in the PRC. The Group recognised
the LAT based on management’s best estimates on the
applicable land appreciation value and the estimated
deductible expenditures. The final tax outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the period in which such tax
is finalised with local tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets of RMB760,899,000 (2023:
RMB931,491,000) mainly in relation to tax losses and LAT
have been recognised at 31 December 2024 as set out in
note 21. The utilisation of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. The
directors of the Company determine the deferred tax assets
based on the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates
and the best knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred tax assets are
expected to be utilised. The directors of the Company will
review the assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than expected or there is a
downward revision of estimated future profits, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period in which such a reversal
takes place.
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5. REVENUE

2
At

5. k&=

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

REBRARNFEZWSEAITAT

2024 2023
—E-_E =5
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
By types of goods or services 12 B i 2k R AR A
Asset management segment BEEEEDE
Asset management services income (Note 6) BEEERBSBWA (A Zs) 17,422 14,971
Properties segment /Rt
Sales of properties for sale SHERHHEYE 20,261,274 28,414,855
Properties operation income WIEEBEIA 98,192 109,891
Income from hotel operation B 5 & B A 33,106 =
Rental income from investment properties HEMENHS WA (HEE10)
(Note 10) 251,239 261,128
20,643,811 28,785,874
20,661,233 28,800,845
By timing of revenue recognition FRU 7 B R Y 5 fE
At a point in time AR — R 2L 20,261,274 28,414,855
QOver time A —ER B 148,720 124,862
Revenue from contracts with customers (Note) HRFE& AW (K1) 20,409,994 28,539,717
Rental income from investment properties REMENESIA 251,239 261,128
20,661,233 28,800,845

Note: Revenue from contracts with customers are mainly derived from the
Chinese Mainland except for RMB17,422,000 (2023: RMB14,971,000)
related to the operation in Hong Kong.

The Group enters into a sale and purchase agreement at
the stage the construction of the properties is still ongoing.
Upon the signing of contracts with the customers, the Group
receives certain percentage of contract value as deposits from
customers and recognised as contract liabilities under HKFRS
15. The Group may provide guarantee to banks in connection
with mortgage granted to the customers to finance the
advanced payment to the Group and the directors of the
Company consider the amount of consideration allocated
to this performance obligations not significant and no
transaction price is allocated to this performance obligation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W&m)

For contracts entered into with the customers on sales of
properties, the Group recognises the revenue from sales of
properties for sale at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the completed property.

RHEMEMREPFTLNENME » ANEE
RERTMEEET TP ERHER
HHEMENKE  IEFESERINEN
R o

Contract costs B KA
2024 2023
—E-EF —Eo=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
Incremental costs to obtain contracts EES LM ERK A 326,532 230,949

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers entering
into sale and purchase agreements for the Group's properties
which are still under construction at the reporting date.
Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which revenue from
the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
contract costs amortised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB381,917,000 (2023: RMB411,463,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the costs capitalised during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WHE®)

Contract liabilities AREE
2024 2023
—E_NE o =F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T

Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of BREEMFELZ S

properties 23,958,048 21,441,790
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to R-EBE-—_=—F—H—H AHBBAEARK

RMB25,992,261,000.

Contract liabilities are classified as current as they are
expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating
cycle.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

25,992,261,0007T °

HENABRARASE -—RELEBHAE
g AENBERRY -

i

TREJNAFERERBAGEEANAELZ
Wes S5 o

2024 2023
—F-NFE —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Revenue recognised that was included in the MIHE R EWETTA
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of FUEHEEERZ
the year in respect sales of properties for sale B R = 10,515,401 24,626,340

The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised
as income after more than one year is RMB7,090,515,000
(2023: RMB4,842,797,000). All of the other contract liabilities
are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

Leases

Included in rental income from investment properties are
variable lease payments of approximately RMB5,547,000
(2023: RMB8,003,000) depended upon the operating results of
lessees.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. The CODM is the Company's
executive directors.

For the management purpose, the Group is organised into
different property projects engaged in development and
sales of properties, property leasing and assets management
in various cities within the PRC, each of which is considered as
an operating segment by the CODM. For segment reporting
purpose, these operating segments have been aggregated
into two reportable segments: (i) Development and sales of
properties and property leasing (“Properties Segment”); and
(ii) Asset management for office premises and shopping malls
("Asset Management Segment”), according to the nature and
similarity of their products and services, the customer type
or class, the method of products distribution or providing
services, and the regulatory environment, which give rise to a

more meaningful presentation.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

N

7 BPE
AEEERM(BERMBREEN) F8HRELE
DEE - ZERREREDMIREREERRE

[EBLEBERRE D ROEBERES D BRF
HEXRBEMENEHNARES MM 2 ABRE
REETURR - TREZERRERARAH
TEE -

REEBNME  ARERID RETEEE
WHREMEREREE VMEHREREEE
ENTRMERE  SRERIBEERRE
BR—AKEDE - RO BREENMS © &
MRZFEE DA E m MRS 9 1 E K& 48 1
- BERPEIRER - D HEMIIERREH
TANREERE  HEEGHRUTHER]Z2
WOE  (VMEREREERMERE(TMED
1) RVMAENERBYESHNEEE R
(BEEENM]) ELETEEEENZE®R -

7 B R Ko KA
INTRIZA 2R EELDEHE D 2 AL B W
NEBDHT

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEESI LE Sk wE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR%T AR®T
For the year ended BE-ZE-WNE+=A
31 December 2024 =+—HLFE
Segment revenue pan:iLhEs
— external customers —HNEER 17,422 20,643,811 20,661,233
Segment results DERELE 10,501 (818,020) (807,519)
Unallocated net foreign exchange gain &% B0 (€ X E518% 58 (57,541)
Unallocated income ROBUA 129,251
Unallocated expenses Ko H (64,550)
Unallocated finance costs R R R E Ak AN (365,102)
Loss before tax A AT E (1,165,461)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH MEDEB aNe)
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

For the year ended BE-Z-=%+-A

31 December 2023 =t+—HLFE
Segment revenue D EBU R

— external customers — NP 14,971 28,785,874 28,800,845
Segment results DEPELE 5,674 3,231,011 3,236,685
Unallocated net foreign exchange gain &2 BCHE 3 IR 5 F 58 21,892
Unallocated income ROBLUA 24,390
Unallocated expenses AOBSEH (14,521)
Unallocated finance costs RAOECRLE A (577,376)
Profit before tax R B AT s A 2,691,070

There was no inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate costs, certain
finance costs, certain other income and certain net foreign
exchange losses or gains. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

DEER (&)

DHEENRAE

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities LNTRZAERREEDHE D 2 AEBEE
by reportable and operating segments: RBEI
Asset
Management Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M MED o=y
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

At 31 December 2024 R-B-WME+=A

EgF=E
Segment assets DEBEE 66,147 113,162,089 113,228,236
Goodwill PR _
Other unallocated assets HthADBLEE 11,515,794
Total assets BEMAME 124,744,030
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,398 56,744,461 56,750,859
Other unallocated liabilities HthAoBLARE 34,899,163
Total liabilities B{EEE 91,650,022
Asset
Management Properties

Segment Segment  Consolidated
BEEEEDH LZE SoR: ! SR
RMBO@) RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBFT ARBFT

At 31 December 2023 R=-B-=%+=A4

Sr=F

Segment assets DEPEE 60,381 119,171,168 119,231,549
Goodwill (S 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hi kDB EE 13,278,788
Total assets BERE 132,670,547
Segment liabilities HEEE 2,414 73,285,416 73,287,830
Other unallocated liabilities Hi kN AR 24,257,728
Total liabilities BEE%E 97,545,558
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EHE=

FomFEF A=+ —HAILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) DHBEERAGEE)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and HEEDHBERERRDHBESEERME

allocating resources between segments:

° all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the e FBEE(TEEBEREEERARZ
investment holding companies, are allocated to BE)VEIREFAZ2HRRELEHE : &
reportable and operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than loans from an intermediate e MEAGBTERE —REEERARE
holding company, bank and other borrowings and other Mo WEERARRITREMEE LR
payables of the investment holding companies, are HiENRIB) AN REAZ2RREES
allocated to reportable and operating segment. &b e

Other segment information HAh o B & #

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or ST 29 #B s M B8 5 B & A& Pt 2 FUE -

segment assets.

Asset

Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEESM L/E wma
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥®TT AR¥TT

At 31 December 2024 R-E-WE+=8
=t+—H

Addition to non-current assets (Note) FERBEERE (M) - 627,653 627,653

Interest income F B2 A - 205,559 205,559

Depreciation of property, M - BERZEITE

plant and equipment 5 37,461 37,466

Depreciation of investment properties & EMETE - 152,408 152,408

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 21,496 21,496

Impairment losses on properties for sale At & Y2 7 FiEEE - 542,057 542,057

Allowance of expected credit losses ?EEW?EE?T%}%{% - 334,610 334,610

Impairment losses on interests in joint ~ RA& &M TR

ventures VERIEY Gk - 211,453 211,453
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information (continued)

DEER (&)

Hip D BB (&)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEESH MEDEB =)
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

At 31 December 2023 N-ZB=-=%+=A#
=+—H

Addition to non-current assets (Note) EREBEERNE (MiE)

Interest income FEMA

Depreciation of property, M - BERRETE
plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties & E&EWETE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERESENE

Allowance of expected credit losses BEHEEBERE

3,062,993 3,062,993

- 430,754 430,754
4 50,022 50,026
- 150,778 150,778
— 30,893 30,893
- 1,161 1,161

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and non-current other
receivables.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from
the PRC, including Hong Kong. No single customer of the
Group contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for
both years.

Geographical information

The Group's Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi‘an, and
Hong Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations. Assets
of Properties Segment and Asset Management Segment are
presented based on the location of the operation and place
of management decision.

Bz - JERBEET BIEIRERIAE 2 M H o IF 7 3 18 YRk
T .

AEBERBINBEP 2 WERKFERTE(BEE
)  ARBEUERE-FPRNASBEMEFEZ
Wizs B RR10%Ek A | o

H 3R E Y
REBEZYED LRI - BN - ARRG
" BE ARKEFE-

BEXBIIREPHREZERTIEREE L
B2 - MENMREEEEDHNEETIE
REBHE R ERERKIMEZT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEPER @)

Geographical information (continued)

WIREH ()

Revenue from

external customers

Segment assets

REIINBEF 2= DEPEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mEF =5 —EmE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKET T AR¥T T AR®ET T
Foshan 1l 744,938 1,330,279 3,384,766 5,545,617
Guangzhou =0 1,506,184 1,425,271 26,341,472 27,288,193
Nanjing and Jurong AREAA 8,409,004 11,075,927 = 31,866,751 38,429,428
Chongging B5E 4,355,990 4,980,921 23,359,210 24,966,064
Xi'an [litk=y 5,574,929 9,922,881 24,696,880 21,953,581
Hong Kong BB 70,188 65,566 3,579,157 1,048,666
20,661,233 28,800,845 113,228,236 119,231,549

As at 31 December 2024, except for investment properties
amounting to RMB952,744,000 (2023: RMB951,327,000), the
Group's non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets,
financial instruments or investments in associate and joint
venture) are located in Mainland China.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMWA
2024 2023
—E-ME —To=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Bank interest income ERITH BUA 139,212 190,054
Interest income on amounts due from associates FEUEEE A 7718 2 5 2 A 127,708 137,265
Interest income on amounts due from RU A & ERIE 2 F BUA
joint ventures 52,774 67,479
Interest income on amounts due from JE UK FEFE AR A 2 R IB 2 I B A
non-controlling interests 13,916 10,878
Interest income on amounts due from FEUREE = 5 # A 2 F B A
third parties 743 24,661
Interest income on amount due from an investee FEUT— %1% & ¥ & FRIE 2 F E U A 238 430
Government grants IEg/SREHE] 2,754 5,304
Others Hp 20,258 17,666

357,603 453,737
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMA
2024 2023
—EBCoME —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
Interest on: F & -
— bank and other borrowings —RITREMEE 803,394 855,963
— lease liabilities —-HEAE 15,493 18,446
— loans from an intermediate holding company ——REEEKR AR 2 ER 478,742 681,055
— loans from non-controlling interests —JEEERE S 2 B 27,447 5,874
— loans from a fellow subsidiary ——HRRMBRRZER 31,476 5518
Total borrowing costs BIEEKAR 1,356,552 1,566,856
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of B BEERNEREEBEEKRAZK
qualifying assets bi) (779,305) (826,466)
577,247 740,390
Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development SANKI 27 ~ 28 R29PAHKEE - EBE RN RER
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of HAHEEME L BEREREEE 2A KT
respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 27, 28 and 29. HEETE o
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBHRxX
2024 2023
—E-ME —EI=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR¥EFTTT
The income tax expenses comprise of: FriSFiF X B1E
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEMEHR
— Current year —REE 60 (1,251)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") PRI ERER ([EMER])
— Current year —REE 252,243 716,821
— Under/(over)-provision in prior year —BEFERETRE (BEEH) 19,527 (3,640)
Withholding tax expenses SEEilkERS 1,693 12,386
LAT T HIEER 187,771 687,908
461,294 1,412,224
Deferred taxation (Note 21) RAERIE (H7E21) 62,875 27,031
524,169 1,439,255
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Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is 25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by Chinese
Mainland entities that are owned by foreign entities within the
Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less estimated deductible expenditures
including cost of land use right, borrowing costs and the
relevant property development expenditures.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group is subject to the global minimum top-up tax
under The Pillar Two Model Rules (also referred to as Global
Anti-Base Erosion, GloBE) published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development. The Group
has assessed the current implication arising from Pillar Two
income taxes and the exposure to future Pillar Two income
taxes, and determined it is not material.

REFBECEMESHA(TEEMETER]) ki
ERBBUEEMIRD] - 7P Bl 2 MY 8
RBEVZEELERFRBEB25% © ILHh - &
SEETEIERAAEAZTEAMER R
AR E AT EREURE N 2 I B AN 5% 5 10% 2 Ta TR
FiS®t -

THEENZ L MEEZERE(ANHEENEZ
P S SRR AT AT FOR R S (B L e A&
A BERARBENEERAS)) BN T
30%Z60% KR IE T KR -

HE_ZT-_NEER-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H
LEFE - BEMNESB IR ERB R MA16.5%
AE - ARREERA - BITHEHMES AT
R SEEGREMBHRRMS LTERK -

AEERETREAIEFRRRABAMAMN
XEZTERA(TEERRRERMRR
GloBE) THZIRFEMEN - AEEEFHEX
T PRISTRE £ E Al 208 DA ROR RS — P
BHARER  YEEELTEK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the (loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement of

9. P ®)

REEMENAXEFS B REMEREKE
KAKRBIAT(ER), (R ERET

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
(Loss)/profit before tax KRBT (E518), i F (1,165,461) 2,691,070
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%)  1%25%( =T = =4F : 25%)FT15%1
(Note) MEAE 2 HE (A7) (291,365) 672,768
Tax effect of expenses not deductible N HIF 2 X 2 s E
for tax purposes 62,483 78,512
Tax effect of result of investment in associates E’\H“#%Q AINEEREZIRE
and joint ventures HER IS 62,623 (22,516)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously i}jﬁﬁ BEARERZ HIEBEZ
not recognised s 2 (10,010) (7,450)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBMBABBZ G E 571,750 209,614
LAT T HbIE(E RS 187,771 687,908
Tax effect of LAT THIRER 2 B 2 (46,943) (171,977)
Under/(over)-provision in prior year BEFERETR(BEER) 187 (3,640)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  R#ER A O & b5 =58 2 Fi 1%
not recognised -1 251,185 76,372
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary &) L?Ifﬁﬁ@éwz—ﬁl]ﬁ%ﬁﬁ—i;
differences previously not recognised ERERRIETE (211,486) (166,206)
Dividend withholding tax expense EFEMBFHX (48,130) 44,833
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions E{ﬁ RVERER PRI R 2 228 (3,896) 41,037
Income tax expense FSHiRx 524,169 1,439,255
Note: 25% represents the tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the HiaE : 25%RAKRBAID EBFAERVEER 2B E -

Group is substantially based.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+-—A=+—HILFE

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BRELAT (B518) & T

2024 2023
—EBoME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived BRI (ER) w A&k,
at after charging/(crediting): (51 R) NH|&IEBEH -
Employee benefits expenses ERERNA (BRESHH)
(including directors’ remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances Hra KE MR 313,244 341,083
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIER 39,863 38,245
Total staff costs B TR A% 353,107 379,328
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties for sale & : &AM BRIt HEHERYE
Z5RIA (214,350) (230,216)
138,757 148,412
Gross rental income from investment properties 1% & %)% 4278 $ W A (f7315)
(Note 5) (251,239) (261,128)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred, W TEEZBEEKLERX
excluding depreciation (FrEBRIN) 156,825 186,369
Less: Depreciation of investment properties B REWENTE 152,408 150,778
57,994 76,019
Cost of carrying amount of properties sold B HEWEREE KA 18,773,251 24,085,601
Write-down of properties for sale WOR AT S 542,057 -
Depreciation of investment properties BEMENE 152,408 150,778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 21,496 30,893
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - fE KR EITE 37,466 50,026
Auditor’s remuneration: ZERB < -
Audit service FEaT RS 2,476 3,229
Non-audit service IEEFT R 524 230
Impairment loss on goodwill Fﬁiﬁ,z;‘)ﬁizﬁgﬂé 160,210 -
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures ReEhE R HERBE 211,453 -
Allowance of expected credit losses TEEE BB IERE 335,148 24570
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BE&EE
equipment BB () 48 (48)
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1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N EEREEZFHEH
EMOLUMENTS
(a) The emoluments paid or payable to each director (a) ENHENEEZZHMOT -
were as follows:
For year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_NF+-A=+—HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Directors'  and benefits Bonuses contributions Share-based 2024
fees in kind (Note (i) (Note (ii)) Sub-Total payments Total
e 2BR BB BIRGHEER WRfhE —B-RE
Ezpd ENER (Hr) (Brittiy) it HBEAR @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARMTR AR¥TZ ARETR ARMTR ARETT  ARE

T

Non-executive directors 31785

Mr. Jiang Tiefeng (Chairman) E#EEE(ZE) = = - - - -
Mr. Huang Junlong (Note (v)) &3518 %4 (472 () = = - - - -
Mr. Yu Zhiliang (Note (vi) — &EREEAZ() = - - - - _

Mr. Li Yao BEgHE - - - - - - -

Executive directors y7ES

Dr. So Shu Fai BEERT 37 - - - 37 - 37

Mr. Wong King Yuen BRRLE - - - - - - -

Ms. Chen Yan RELT - 613 288 - 901 - 901

Independent non-executive BiFH{TES

directors

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert T &+ 125 - - - 125 - 125

Ms. Chen Yanping F:5i 3 125 - - - 125 - 125

Dr. Shi Xinping LATEL 125 - - - 125 - 125

Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan E%s 125 - - - 125 - 125
537 613 288 - 1,438 - 1,438

208 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) The emoluments paid or payable to each director (a)
were as follows: (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2023

1N. EBREEZFHFMN =)
BRSRERSESZHFHET : (&)

BE-_Z_=F+-A=1+—HLFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances  Discretionary scheme
Directors'  and benefits Bonuses ~ contributions Share-based 2023
fees inkind (Note (i)) (Note (ii) Sub-Total payments Total
e EER WL RRGEIRT WeihE ZEZ=F
EZHe ENEH (W) E) e ER{AF &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARETn AR¥Txn ARETr ARETr  ARETR
Non-executive directors  317&%
Mr. Jiang Tiefeng (Chairman) E&%4 (%)

(Note (i) (Kt (i) = = = = = = =
Mr. Huang Junlong FERE 27 - - - 2 = 2
Mr. Xu Yongjun (Note (viii)  FFKE%E (Bt i) 21 - - - 27 - 2
Ms. Liu Ning (Note (ix) Y=aL(hrtly) 3 - - - 3 - 3
Mr. Li Yao (Note (xi) RESE (Wit) 15 - = = 15 = 15
Executive directors HTES
Dr. So Shu Fai KEEEL 3% - = - 3% = 3%
Mr. Yu Zhiliang (Note (vi))  REREEHratwi) 12 383 460 - 855 - 855
Mr. Wong King Yuen ERRLE 2 - - 1 8 = 28
Ms. Chen Yan (Note (iv)  BsL(Hisxiv)) - 79 408 = 1137 = 1137
Independent non-executive BIKHTEE

directors
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert TEEL 122 = - - 122 = 12
Ms. Chen Yanping [F:5i3 12 - - - 122 - 122
Dr. Shi Xinping LHTAEL 122 - - - 122 - 122
Mr. He Qi (Note (x) WBELE(H ) 42 = - - 8 - 42
Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan (Note (xii) 344 (H:2xiii)) 73 = = = 73 = 73

628 1,112 868 1 2,609 - 2,609
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11. DIREC

TORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) The

emoluments paid or payable to each director

were as follows: (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2023 (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the
individual performance.

Retirement benefits scheme contributions only include MPF in
Hong Kong.

The Company does not have any chief executive for which the
functions are carried out by all the executive directors. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

On 5 August 2024, Mr. HUANG Junlong has resigned as a non-
executive director.

On 5 August 2024, Mr. YU Zhiliang has been appointed as a non-
executive director.

On 3 February 2023 Mr.YU Zhiliang was re-designated as a non-
executive director and resigned as a non-executive director on 5
May 2023.

On 25 September 2023, Mr. XU Yongjun has resigned as a non-
executive director.

On 3 February 2023, Ms. LIU Ning has resigned as a non-executive
director.

On 5 May 2023, Mr. HE Qi has resigned as an independent non-
executive director.

On 5 May 2023, Mr. LI Yao has been appointed as a non-executive
director.

On 25 September 2023, Mr. JIANG Tiefeng has been appointed as
a non-executive director.

On 25 May 2023, Mr. IP Man Ki Ryan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director.

On February 2023, Ms. CHEN Yan has been appointed as an
executive director.
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BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(b) Details of the emoluments for the year ended 2024 b) BE-_ZE_NFILFE  ALZZ=H
of the five highest paid employees were as follows: AT ZFHEFBINT

2024 2023

—EmE —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBFIT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e o ZAL R EMER 3,416 3,021

Contributions to retirement benefits schemes iR {Kkt&@ Fl 5+ &4 5% 676 493

Discretionary and performance related B K 2% 25 AE B 22 B 1< 3K

incentive payments 5,313 5,980

9,405 9,494

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five REBEBEREN AR R T MA T

highest paid employees as inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

FM - MERENMATRINAREE R Z
BRI S IF R ELRERA(E -

BEFHNFUTRE -

Number of employees

BEAH
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 AR Z T2 /8%1,000,0007T
(2024: approximately RMBNil to (ZZ-WF : YARBZTEARKE
RMB926,040; 2023: approximately 926,007 : —BEZ=F : Y ARBEE LR
RMBNIl to RMB906,220) AR #906,2207T) - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75%1,000,001 7T E % #1,500,0007T
(2024: approximately RMB926,041to (=T[4 : H ARME926,041TE
RMB1,389,060; 2023: approximately ARHE1,389,0607T : —E =4 : HARK
RMB906,221 to RMB1,359,330) 906,221t & AR#1,359,3307T) - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 78 #1,500,001 7 2% #%2,000,0007C
(2024: approximately RMB1,389,061 to (= Z —[I4F : ) AR#1,389,0617TE
RMB1,852,080; 2023: approximately ARH1,852,0807 : —E-=F : HARK
RMB1,359,331 to RMB1,812,440) 1,359,331 LE AR¥1,812,4407T) 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 752,000,001 7T 2 A %5 2,500,0007T
(2024: approximately RMB1,852,081 to (= Z—[U4 : ) AR 1,852,081
RMB2,315,100; 2023: approximately AER#23151007T i ZE-Z=F : HARK
RMB1,812,441 to RMB2,265,550) 1,812,441 T E AR #2,265,5507T ) 3 3
5 5
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE—

12.

13.

212

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a final dividend of
HK$0.012 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 (2023: HK$0.03 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2022) was declared and paid
to the shareholders of the Company. The aggregate amount
of final dividend paid from share premium of the Company
during the year amounted to approximately RMB53,703,000

(2023: RMB135,459,000).

(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

12.

13.

iz B
RBEZZT_NF+_A=+—HIEFE ' &
ANREREZE T _=F+_A=+—H1t
FEZRERESREBREL02T(ZF

= EBEE-__F+_A=+—HLHF
EEREBRBE0.037T)  WEARFJZREIR
5 o REARR B 42 & B84 A R 53,703,0007T (=
T-=4: AR¥135,459,0007T) PRERNE
Z’K jHX'TJJ/ﬁﬂE/)EH'

ZR(EE) BF
AR T N IR A B T3 T 51 B
e

2024 2023
—ZE-F ZE=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners  AATHEH ABIEFERN(EE),/
of the Company (1,850,755) 133,414
2024 2023
—E-mF —EC=F

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Bl BREE

4,905,257,860 4,905,257,860

No diluted (losses)/earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - BMEREZE

Owned Leasehold Motor Office
properties improvements vehicles  equipment Total
FEENE BENERE RE BAERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R ARETR AR®T R
COST KA
1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—f—H 28453 336,959 9,009 21,781 396,202
Additions RE 322,619 9,802 2,469 2,599 337,549
Disposals HE - - (1,611) (2.547) (4.158)
Exchange realignment 0 1 = - - - 26 26
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-_=#+-A=1+-HEK
1 January 2024 “Z-NFE—-A—H 351,132 346,761 9,867 21,859 729,619
Additions RE - 1,293 368 1,385 3,046
Disposals HE = (116) (1,034) (1,149) (2,299)
Exchange realignment B A - - - 46 46
Cost adjustment AR (85,613) - - - (85,613)
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-EE+=A=1—H 265,519 347,938 9,201 22,141 644,799
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  Z:iHiE
1 January 2023 RZE-=F—-H—H 11,369 126,584 6,229 16,645 160,827
Provided for the year FEREE 1,026 44 341 1,332 3,327 50,026
Eliminated on disposals PR - = (1,531) (2,331) (3,862)
Exchange realignment B 1 s = = = 17 17
At 31 December 2023 and RIE-=%+-A=1+—-HEK
1 January 2024 “Z-N¥-A-H 12,395 170,925 6,030 17,658 207,008
Provided for the year ERBERE 8,972 25,219 1,515 1,760 37,466
Eliminated on disposals iR - (68) (991) (647) (1,706)
Exchange realignment 0 5 % - - - 34 34
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+=A=+—H 21,367 196,076 6,554 18,805 242,802
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-FF+=A=1—H 244,152 151,862 2,647 3,336 401,997
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F+-f=1—H 338,737 175,836 3,837 4,201 522,611
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

(continued)

The Group's owned properties are erected on land located in

Chinese Mainland.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into

account of their estimated residual values, at the following

rates per annum:

Owned properties

5% or over the lease terms of

JE1E7 SRS

the relevant land, if shorter

Leasehold improvements

20% or over the lease terms of

HEMERE

ME  BERSRE®

REERHEENYEEZNTERB L -

REE B KE B E MG R
BEREATEMNEUEROETENE

5%k (fH#5E ) Fe AR B -3

THH

20% 3k (W858 ) 1R AR R 1310

the relevant land, if shorter iR
Motor vehicles 15% - 20% R 15% —20%
Office equipment 15% - 20% N ] 15% —20%
15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FAEEE
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
+ih RAEF U HET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-mNE+=A=+—8H
Carrying amount REE 16,294 = 16,294
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-_=F+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 41,011 9,376 50,387
For the year ended BE-Z-mFE+=-A=+—H
31 December 2024 LHFEE
Depreciation charge FEER 19,933 1,563 21,496
For the year ended BE-_T-_=%+=-A=+-—H
31 December 2023 LEE
Depreciation charge heEZHA 27,768 3,125 30,893
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

15.

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

15. FAEEE®)

2024 2023

—E-MME —Eo=F

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBETTT

Expense relating to short-term leases FHARHESENZH 6,027 4,664
Total cash outflow for leases (excluding HERSRHRECTE SR

leasehold lands for properties for sale) HEMEZHEE L) 58,190 80,224

Additions to right-of-use assets NEFEAEEE 5,342 -

For both years, the Group leases various offices and vehicles
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 20 years (2023: 1 year to 20 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor
vehicles and office equipment. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash outflow
for leases is RMB5,366,867,000 (2023: RMB6,299,038,000),
including RMB34,018,000 (2023: RMB38,248,000) paid for
leased properties under subleases and RMB5,308,677,000
(2023: RMB6,180,566,000) paid for acquiring leasehold lands
for properties for sale.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants to the
Group.

RREFEE  AEEHREZERAZERAE -
AEEZE - iflEAAmMs - HiEAHEE
BIER0FE(ZTE-=F : 155205 )5 °
HAEGTIRERNEEER - BREZBETRIE
KR o RETE A RGN ARG BN R
B ASECREASHNEERETANT
HATH o

AEBEEHMITVERBAERRRERENE
HEE R-ZB_WUFEFR-_ZE_=F+_H
=+—B EHHEEMNESE FRENE S
MEXHeEMEEAS AL -

BHE-_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HIEFE" - #A
SRS R AEAANRMES366,867,0007T (=
f*fi AR #6,299,038,0007T) * B 3E5
SHEETHEEY S8 A RME34,018,000
T(ZTZ=F : AR 38,248,000t ) &
REBIHEEDEZHEL IO A
R #5,308677000c(ZTE == : AR¥
6,180,566,0007T ) °

T B 175 5 3 48 1) 7S 5 [ Ao AN AR BR 1) 1 R 3K o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REYHE

Total
st
RMB’000
AR®T T
COST 5%
At 1 January 2023 RZF-=%F—A—H 3,825,213
Addition NE 231
Exchange realignment BE 5, % 15,214
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZFZ=F+ZA=1t—-HRK
—E-HFE—A—H 3,840,658
Cost adjustment DTN S 30,754
Transfer to asset held for sale BRERELEEE (23,094)
Disposal hE (25,955)
Early termination of lease REKIEHEE (15,480)
Modification of lease terms CRG AT (12,858)
Exchange realignment BE 5 % 23,685
At 31 December 2024 R-ZFZEF+=—A=+—H 3,817,710
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rt E
At 1 January 2023 RZFZ-=%F—A—H 581,691
Provided for the year FRNEAE 150,778
Exchange realignment BE 5, % 1,532
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZFZ=F+-A=1t—-HRK
—E-pU&E—HF—H 734,001
Provided for the year FARE 152,408
Eliminated on disposals TR S B ST 85 (9,951)
Transfer to asset held for sale EBRERELEEE (4,297)
Exchange realignment BE AR 3,206
At 31 December 2024 RZFZMF+-A=+—H 875,367
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2024 RZB-MFE+=A=+—H 2,942,343
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=+—H 3,106,657

The Group's investment properties are erected on land
located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.
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16.

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December
2024 of RMB3,995,110,000 (2023: RMB3,949,851,000) has
been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out on the
respective dates prepared by management with the assistance
of Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer, not
connected to the Group. The Group is not exposed to foreign
currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases
are denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair values of investment
properties of RMB1,081,000,000, RMB1,726,000,000 and
RMB1,188,110,000 corresponding to the investment
properties in Nanjing, Chongging, the Chinese Mainland
and Hong Kong respectively (2023: RMB1,159,575,000,
RMB144,400,000, RMB12,528,000, RMB1,413,576,000and
RMB1,219,772,000 corresponding to investment properties
in Nanjing, Guangzhou, Foshan, Chongging, the Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong respectively), are determined based
on the income approach and direct comparison approach. The
fair value based on income approach is determined by taking
into account the net rental income of a property derived from
its existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases which have then been capitalised to determine the fair
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value based
on direct comparison approach is determined by assuming
sale with the benefit of immediate vacant possession and by
making reference to comparable sales evidence as available
on the market.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during both
years. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, Nanjing, Chongging,
the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong, used in the prior years.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

16. REWZ &)

REYWEZ AFER-_ZE-_NE+=-_A=+—
HAARE3995110,000(ZE == : AR
#%3,949,851,0007T ) + Jy % B 72N £ B 3 4% B8 &

ZBIRERBERMGEMTPERITEREFMGER
wAARARHIEEERENERE B HBAAE
AR - 786 B & R HH & 2% 5k i m B oM
R RESAEHESASEEENER)
REERFE HESNLTEERKREEER
K,/ AR ARTEE AR BB ROET

RZZTEZWME+=-A=+—8 ' FEAE
R EEREBREVELAFESFAARE
1,081,000,000 7t * A £ % 1,726,000,000 7T &
ARM1,188,110,000c (Z T ==4F : FERK
HMER - BN HL - BEERBEREVWER
FED R A AR1,159,5750007C © AR
144,400,000 * A K#12,528,0007T + A R¥
1,413,576,0007C & AR #1,219,772,00078) * #%
ERNFEDRBRNEREELEEETE © BRI
ANEHENAFEDLH R —EMFEREHER
BHER /KRB AMS EATWER 2 B KA
FEET  URZEREZERKRABNER
HRE AZSHEERCREEEAN L X
FTUERNMEABERAFE - EEELBEATE
HAFEDBREETNRREEL THELS
Ehis LRHEAOTENREEREMEE °

AEBREMEZAVFELAIR T _MOFR
:%:fiﬂ— A=T—BRE=H - NME
FEAR  RVPESRHBRESR - BEFE
REBEREEN B BEEREBREME
FTRz RERMITEES - fetzFWEZLR
FER ZEFNEERCAZAERERR -
HETREMENRTECERE - UMERIEN
HEEFHEEHERA - KB RERTE -
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties of
RMB281,155,000 (2023: RMB335,280,000) included right-
of-use assets and leasehold improvements that meets the
definition of an investment property, the Group measures the
right-of-use assets and leasehold improvement applying a
cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-of- use assets and leasehold improvement at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability. For
right-of-use assets and leasehold improvement that meets
the definition of an investment property and definition of
land and buildings held for own use, they are both carried at
depreciated cost.

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties together
with rental receivables with carrying values of approximately
RMB1,538,548,000 (2023: RMB1,631,575,000) and RMB 199,000
(2023: RMB1,071,000) respectively have been pledged
to secure bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB1,062,194,000 (2023: RMB1,109,994,000) granted to the
Group (see note 29).

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of lease terms
or 4% to 5%

Leasehold land and
building
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16. BEWHE &)

RZE-_NF+=_A=+—8 HEYWHE
ARHBE281,155000(ZFE==F : AR
335,280,00070) BREFEKEMEEENFEH
BEERBEMERE  AEEFRAKAER
STEFEAEEERASYERE - RIBERAE
A REBIEKARER RETHITE REARE
EBEFEFCAEEERTEEMERE WA
ERENTAENTEETARE - FEREY
XEEUNRFTEREFERTHREREFERNE
AL ERBEMERSIRITER A

RZZE_WMF+_A=+—H ' xEEEK
AR E 4 A R 1,538,548,000t ( =& — =
4 ANR#¥1,631,575,00070) 2 HEWMERE
HAEHARE199,000(ZE=—=F : ARK
1,071,00070) 2 FEURTHE - AFLIR T AL E 2 88
TREMEE ARE,062,194,000(ZE ==
&£ AR#1,109,994,0007T ) 1 &R ( B =%
29) °

LB EMERATFMRABREERE -

HETHRET RERNA%ES%ZBEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

17. GOODWILL 17. &
RMB'000
AR% T
COST AR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and MR-E_=F—F—8 —ZE-_=%F+=-A
31 December 2024 =t+—HE-_ZE-_WFE+-_A=1+—H 160,210
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES REFBEEE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-_=%—HF—B8B —Z=-=%+=—_H
1 January 2024 =t+—BRZZT-_ME—-HA—H =
Impairment loss AR 160,210
At 31 December 2024 N-E-_WME+=-_/A=+—H 160,210
CARRYING AMOUNT: BRMEE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NFE+-_H=+—H -
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=F+=-_HA=+—H 160,210

Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to
the Group of CGUs comprising the Properties Segment, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in
prior years. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use (“VIU") calculations. The Group
engaged an independent professional valuer to assist with the
calculation. These VIU calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management.

By reference to the result of such VIU calculation in
the impairment assessment, an impairment loss of
RMB160,210,000 was recognised during the year, as the
estimated future profit on property development segment
diminishes due to the lower average market price.

HEREANBE_Z—=F1+-A=+—HIL
FEZEA BELOIEEHBAHAXENBE
FERBZHRABMEZNED FEKR LIRS E
HBEUAR - ReELBMN A WD ERE
EABE(ERBEDHEEE - A5ERE
BUEXGEMBETHE - EREEHE
EREREEEHENYBRENE S RER
A o

BEREFEFEABETENER  AFE
HERREE R A R 160,210,000 @ B H &2 H
REAMGER T RERMEZR D M
KA TR o
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEE N B 2

2024 2023

—T-E —E-=F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARE T ARBETTT

Costs of investments in associates KEEE N A Z A 10,788,960 11,611,690
Share of post-acquisition results, net of AMEWEREE - MREKRE

dividend received 367,042 783,747

Exchange adjustment b o, & 61,740 11,634

11,217,742 12,407,071

Details of the principal associates as at 31 December 2024 and

2023 are as follows:

R-B-MER-T-_=4+-A=+—H2
FEBERNAFEEHINAT

Place of Registered Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/ share capital and ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation paid-up capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
HRRAR A5EREL
AREH R/ 8$h% LT 1 BRERRRELA FERERMA  TEXRH
2024 2023 2024 2023
CE-WE -3-=F ZE-WE -3-cF
% % % %
Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate Co., Ltd* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
ENBREHERRAR R ARH1,000,0007 NEER
Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate Co,, Ltd.* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
BN EHERRAA mERH A& ¥1,000,0007C ELH
Nanjing Shizhaoguansheng Property Co,, Ltd.* Chinese Mainland  RMB250,000,000 49 89 49 49 Property development
ERtRERERARAR R ARH250,000,0007C VES
Gezhouba Nanjing Property Co, Ltd.* Chinese Mainland ~ RMBS50,000,000 30 kl 30 30 Property development
BNAEREERRAR mERH AR 50,000,000 ELH
Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng Chinese Mainland  RMB50,000,000 3 3 31 31" Property development
Property Development Co,, Ltd * BER AK50,000,0007 I
ARRERREHERRAA
Xi'an Wocheng Property Development Co,, Ltd* ~ Chinese Mainland ~ RMB10,869,566 3 3 3 33 Property development
BRREFAEREARAR hERD AR¥10,869,5667C NEER
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BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2 %= ()

Place of Registered Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/ share capital and ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation paid-up capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
ifRAR A5EREL
ARER RI/E%$4%  BHRXK ERERRER L FERERLE  TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
Z8CRE CToF CECRE SRk
% % % %
Nanjing Shengwen Property Development Co., Ltd* Chinese Mainland  RMB1,687,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
AREXEHEREERAA HEm AERH1,687,000,0007 EL
Joy Origin Holdings Limited (*Joy Origin") Hong Kong HK$10 30 R} 30 30 Investment holding
KEEBERAA(E) &% Gl and property
development
REBRRNZER
Nanjing Shansheng Property Development Limited*  Chinese Mainland  RMB900,000,000 2 20 2 20 Property development
AREERHEREERAA hERH 900,000,007 EE
Xixian New District Wenmao Properties Limited* ~ Chinese Mainland ~ RMB10,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
(*Xixian Wenmao”) (Note | hER ARE10,000,0007 VESES
BRARXREEERA R (BRI M)
Guangzhou Eslite Real Estate Co. Ltd.* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB840,000,000 %5 25 25 25 Property development
FNEmERRRAT hER AR#840,000,0007 NRER
Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,000,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Development Co. Ltd* hER ABRH1,000,000,0007C ES
BNBRRHEREERAR
Nanjing Zhaoying Real Estate Chinese Mainland ~ RMB530,000,000 2] 2 27 21 Property development
Development Co. Ltd ¥ HERH AR 530,000,000 UELE
ARRRRHEREERAA
Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co. Ltd* Chingse Mainland ~ RMB3,250,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
(*Foshan Qinghao") (Note i ET ARE3,250,0000007C NEER
BB EFRRAR ([ fhlises (i)
Nanjing Shixin Real Estate Co. Ltd * Chinese Mainland ~ RMB102,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
ARTOEHERRAT HE R AR 102,000,007 ES
Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co. Ltd* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB2,446,756,200 49 49 49 49 Property development
("Guangzhou Kuangyu") hEm B2 446,756, 2007 EL

ENTRERAARAR(RMEER))
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. MEFE DN E 2w ()
Place of Registered Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/ share capital and ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation paid-up capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
AMRAR A5EREL
AR EAWR-E31 EdRa ERERRER L FERERLE  TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME —B-CE ZRCME CECCF
% % % %
Nanjing Huayao Property Co. Ltd* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB4,000,000,000 45 45 45 45 Property development
(“Nanjing Huayao") HERH AR %4,000,000,0007C ERE
ERERRHEREARAA ([FRER))
CITIC Jinshi - China Merchants Shekou Shopping ~ Chinese Mainland ~ RMB134,500,000 - Q9 - 49° Property development
Center Private Equity Investment Fund* PER ARE134,500,0007 NEER
("CITIC Jinshi CMSK Fund") (Note iv)
BESE-AERN-HEETHEEE
([hEeRREERE ) W i)
CITIC Securities - China Merchants Shekou Shopping Chinese Mainland ~ RMB137,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development
Center Private Equity Investment Fund* PER ARE137,000,0007 NEER
("CITIC Securities CMSK Fund") (Note iv)
RETA - AR N - REETHEEE
([RETHREERE ] (it i)
Cheer Smart Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$4 25 % 25 25 Property development
ERRBARAT (3 AR IE 335
Nanjing Jusheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* Chinese Mainland  RMB102,000,000 2 2 2 20 Property development
("Nanjing Jusheng") (Note i) BT ARE102,000,00070 NEER
ERREREREERAA ([FRRE]) i)
Nanjing Zhaojin Hongxin Real Estate Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,000,000,000 25 5 25 25 Property development
Development Co, Ltd.* HER ABH1,000,000,0007 nE%E
ARRR LN EHEREERAR
Nanjing Qiuzhen Decoration Engineering Co,, Ltd* ~ Chinese Mainland  RMB2,000,000 - 89 - 49 Property development
("Nanjing Qiuzhen”) (Note v) hERH AE2,000,0007 N=4k
BAREEHIRARAR (AR ) (i)
Foshan Nanhai District Fengshang Real Chinese Mainland ~ RMB407,000,000 3 3 33 33 Property development
Estate Co, Lid* hER ARH:407,000,0007 NEER

BlmrsEEERAERRAR
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BE—FT_WmF+-F=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2 %= ()

Place of Registered Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/ share capital and ownership interests of voting

Name of companies operation paid-up capital held by the Group power held Principal activity

ifRAR A5EREL

ARER RI/E$%%  R4RA ERERRER L FERERLE  TEXH

2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-ME -T-=F CZECME -3-°f%
% % % %

Yoying Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$400 %5 5 25 25 Property development

RHERAA 5 0T nEus

Shaanxi Ruixun Real Estate Co,, Ltd* Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,600,000,000 26 2 26 26 Property development

REGAEXRRAA R ABRH1,600,000,0007C EL:S

Guangzhou Tianhe District Shunxin Chinese Mainland ~ RMB3,000,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development

Real Estate Co,, Ltd* HERH ABH3,000,000,00072 EL

BMmRTREEFERRAR

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FEEHEXEE  EH2E -

Note i: The Group is able to appoint one out of three directors in the board Htazi : REBREARAM K EFG =2 EFFHP—
of Xixian Wenmao and relevant activities of Xixian Wenmao require % MARXENEEEEEESARNKES
consent with more than half of the directors in the board of Xixian SRAFHEZNEE - MAKEEEME TR
Wenmao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant influence in EEHEATE - At - HEABRAAREEBLE A
Xixian Wenmao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an associate of the A] e
Group.

Note ii: The Group is able to appoint two out of five directors in the board Htazii : AEEGEZEBLEEEESRRESTTEPR
of Foshan Qinghao and relevant activities of Foshan Qinghao % ML B AR E B B ESHILERES
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board ERBFHEFNRAE - WAEEREMEFEILE
of Foshan Qinghao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant HEEBEATE At EARARNEEBHER
influence in Foshan Qinghao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an A] e
associate of the Group.

Note iii: The Group is able to appoint one out of nine directors in the board o aiii AEEEZTEREREEGhEZEERHEF—
of Nanjing Jusheng and relevant activities of Nanjing Jusheng % MERRENEREE AECERERES
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board CRAFYHEZNEE  MASEHENEERAER
of Nanjing Jusheng, thus the Group is able to exercise significant REREAZE - Bt - EARKSKREEBE R
influence in Nanjing Jusheng. Accordingly, it is accounted for an A e
associate of the Group.

Note iv: The Group acquired the share of CITIC Jinshi CMSK Fund in Hiativ - AEBMR_Z_ZTF+AKRBFrEABEED
October 2020, holder of CITIC Jinshi — China Merchants Shekou FEIRD - AR AR EEA—BEROEER
Consumer Infrastructure Phase | Asset-backed Special Scheme W —HEEZHEEFE (A8 DB E
(“the Former Scheme”) to securitise a shopping center asset. The % AEBH BT LEE - R8N =—T=_=
Former Scheme was due to expire in October 2023 and its manager £+ A3H 0 RfBIEEAREMBEEALTER
and other holders extended the term of the Former Scheme [REHBIHAMR - i AP ERESF—R R e A K B AL
by launching the CITIC Securities — China Merchants Shekou R HEEEEEA R ([#atal]) - Wi
Consumer Infrastructure Phase | Asset-backed Special Scheme Bt B OB ERED  c R T NF—
("the New Scheme") which acquired the interests of the shopping A ANEBEEPEIEHI M % - BB B
center asset from the Former Scheme. In January 2024, the Group BE PR O ET B149% 8 R R R o
entered into agreement with CITIC Securities to acquired 49% of
the subordinated class of interest of CITIC Securities CMSK Fund,
which is the holder of the New Scheme.

Note v: The Company had been dissolved in 2024. Bty RATEDR T ZTUFRE ©
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18.

FEomFEF A=+ —HIFFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, Guangzhou Kuangyu,
Nanjing Huayao, Joy Origin and Foshan Qinghao are
material associates of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. Summarised financial information
of the Group's material associates are set out below, which
represented amounts shown in the respective associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Group.

18.

REEE N B 2R (#)

AN TR R EEA ISR E RS
ABE - AAFIEERA  RBE_T-NER
—E-=&+-fA=+-BILLEE  EME
B ERER - HERBILESEALERY
EAMBAT - AEBEABLAR 2 HBE
BESHMT (AREAEESHRERLY
SHBNTRBRENT £HE) -

Guangzhou Kuangyu BN EE
2024 2023
—ZE-F ZTE=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Current assets mENE E 4,240,466 5,033,295
Non-current assets ERHEE 18,486 25,628
Current liabilities mEaE 1,091,512 1,291,911
Non-current liabilities EmENEE 1,051,769 1,392,769
Revenue WS 760,656 1,722,848
Loss and other comprehensive income F A EE R E M2 RS
for the year (86,901) (22,470)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Guangzhou Kuangyu was set out below:

EX2 2 M AN EE R RN RE R
A EHERIIMT -

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR¥EFTTT

Net assets of Guangzhou Kuangyu BMNEE 2 EEFE 2,115,671 2,374,243
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in  ZN 5 [ fr3% B N IR 2 A 1

Guangzhou Kuangyu e %5tk 15 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBFFEMNBEE#EZRY

Guangzhou Kuangyu BRmEE 1,036,679 1,163,379
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BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REEE N R 2 %= ()
Nanjing Huayao R R
2024 2023
—EMME —E-o=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBET T

Current assets RENEE 4,336,985 5,665,659
Non-current assets EmBEE 17,077 8,691
Current liabilities mENAE 441,312 1,164,066
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 1,199 39,464
Revenue W s 976,139 6,557,117
(Loss)/profit and other comprehensive income  F R (E18) /% F) K E b2 @S

for the year (84,721) 521,616
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE2IN O BER S EENE R ERER
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in FREEHREIINT :

Nanjing Huayao was set out below:

2024 2023
—ENEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Huayao MRER s BEFE 3,911,551 4,470,820
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 78 £ [B] Fr45 B 5 8 12 8 75 4

Nanjing Huayao i Ealiatll 45% 45%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AN B PR R R

Nanjing Huayao REE 1,760,198 2,011,869
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REE NR 2 xR ()
Joy Origin R
2024 2023
—E-NE —E =&
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

Current assets RENVEE 16,421,659 15,255,599
Non-current assets EmEEE = -
Current liabilities mEAE 5,735,759 5,001,563
Non-current liabilities IEREAE 7,196,200 6,821,996
Revenue s - -
Profit and other comprehensive income A5 M B At 2 T W R

for the year 87,660 48,095
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE23zHBERSZ RN S #ER 2 RE
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in Joy EXRETIWT

Origin was set out below:

2024 2023
—EomE —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Net assets of Joy Origin HRZEERE 3,489,700 3,402,040
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in  ZN& @ fr3d4) &= 7 5 R #E e EL 1)
Joy Origin 30% 30%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Joy 7N &= B B i S 425 2 BREIE
Origin 1,046,910 1,020,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE=

18.

= A= — AR
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. RBtE ARl 2 s (@)
Foshan Qinghao #8115 A
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREET T
Current assets MEEE 3,216,305 3,246,002
Non-current assets FERBEE 1 2
Current liabilities mEAE 9,022 2,020
Non-current liabilities EmBEE - -
Loss and other comprehensive income FREE R
for the year H b 2 HE s (36,700) (2,869)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information X 2N HBEER B RN LSS ER
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in EREES RSN T

Foshan Qinghao was set out below:

2024 2023
—EmEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Net assets of Foshan Qinghao FILE 2 EEFE 3,207,284 3,243,984
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest NEBATIFHIL SIS

in Foshan Qinghao FEz5 LB 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBATHE LSRR Z

in Foshan Qinghao BEmEE 1,603,642 1,621,992
The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate, AEEPNMERIT S L NERRIBERIEARLZ
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually e N EEMBENREREAESR
material and are accounted for using the equity method are FIENR

set out below:

2024 2023
—ENE —Eo=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

The Group's share of (loss)/profit and total AREBDG(ER)HH &

comprehensive income 2 E =B (55,878) 66,640
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRIFEAE A AER L

interests in immaterial associates BREEA% 5,770,313 6,589,219
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BE—

19.

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REERXZER
2024 2023
—EoE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Costs of investments in joint ventures KESEE KA 3,299,963 3,902,234
Share of post-acquisition results, R 248 - KRB WK E
net of dividend received 51,255 215,224
Impairment loss recognised TR E R R (211,453) =
3,139,765 4,117,458
Details of the principal joint ventures as at 31 December 2024 RZ-ZTZWHFR_FT-_=F+_A=+—HZEZ
and 2023 are as follows: EREFBENT

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
rEEREZ
NAEH R/ €% ZRRE BRERRERLA iR R AL TERH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“E-mE —T--F ZBEDME —TC=F
% % % %
Nanjing Aojian Property Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000,000 6 6 6 6 Property development
Co., Ltd.*
("Nanjing Aojian’) (Note i)
HRREEXERAH RE R, AE#2,000,000,0007C NRER
(TARRR ) (Hit)
Nanjing Zhaoyang Property  Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 - 46 - 46 Property development
Development Co., Ltd *
("Nanjing Zhaoyang")
(Note ii)
HRAGERERERERAR  TERY AE#20,000,0007 NEERE
(TR 4385 ) (W)
Nanjing Huilong Real Estate  Chinese Mainland RMB40,000,000 33 33 33 33 Property development

Co., Ltd.*

("Nanjing Huilong")
AREERHERRAR

(T Ek )

EML AE#60,000,00070
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HE_F_mEf—_F=+—HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. RE-ELEZET @)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
REBREZ
NRER R/ E$8% R ERBERERILE R E LAl TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“¥-RE -T--F  CRCRE CF-CF
% % % %
Foshan Dingtu Property Chinese Mainland RMB140,800,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Foshan Dingtu”)
BLSBELERRAA MR AR140,800,0007C ME%E
(EI=1E0Y
Guangzhou Xinhe Property  Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Development Company
Co,, Ltd*
BNFEEHERRALAR  HEAML AE¥100,000,0007 ES S
Nanjing Hongweisheng Chinese Mainland RMB4,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Property Development
Co,, Ltd*
BRLABFHERRARAR EML ARE4,000,0007 ME%RE
Chongging Hanzhi Merchants ~ Chinese Mainland RMB533,596,100 50 50 50 50 Property development
Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* ("Chongging Hanzhi")
ERNERREHERT EIA NE¥533,59,1007C VERH:
BROR(TEERE])
Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd.* Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 14 14 14 14 Property development
(Note i)
BRERERERATMG) HERY AE#10,000,0007 NRER
Nanjing Tiesheng Business ~ Chinese Mainland RMBS50,000,000 55 55 55 55 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
EREREXERARAR  PEAML AE¥50,000,0007 VESE
Nanjing Ximao Zhiye Chinese Mainland RMB36,000,000 13 13 13 13 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note )
EREXEXBRAAME) TEM AEH36,000,00070 ER S
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BE_—FT_mF+-F=+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. B

EECERE)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
REEREZ
DRER R/ E$4% ZERMRAE BERBERERLA iR E L) TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“®-RmE -To-F ZBCRE CFCCF
% % % %
Nanjing Zhaohui Place Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
BRRELEERARAR  TEAL AR#10,000,00070 VESS
Guangzhou Runjia Real Estate  Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 30 30 50 50  Property development
Co., Ltd.*
BMEREXARAA R AE#50,000,0007 ESE
Guangzhou City Suiyun Chinese Mainland RMB40,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Property Co., Ltd.*
BNTREEXARAA ER AE40,000,0007C NRRE
Guangzhou Zhaoying Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
("Guangzhou Zhaoying")
ENAREREARALLR  TEML AR#100,000,0007C NEER
(TEMBE])
Foshan Baohua China Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Merchants Real Estate
Co,, Ltd*
BUAREZEHEERAT  TEMD AR#1,000,000,0007C NEER
Nanjing Yuening Property Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 33 33 33 33 Property development
Development Co., Ltd *
AR ERMEREARAT  REA AK#50,000,0007 NEERE
Nanjing Jinhua Real Estate  Chinese Mainland RMB318,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Development Co., Ltd *
HRGEERERAR FEAH AR#318,000,0007C ESE
Nanjing Yuelin Property Chinese Mainland RMB60,000,000 20 20 20 20 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
ARUREHEREERAR  REIRY AR #60,000,0007 NEER
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REE X 2 (&)
Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
rEEREZ
NRER R/ E$8% R BERERRERLA R E LAl TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“¥-RE -T--F  CRCRE CF-CF
% % % %
Chongging Wanzhao Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Real Estate Co. Ltd.*
EREREXARAA EIA AR#10,000,00070 ER S
Foshan Merchants Shangxian ~ Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 40 40 40 40 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
FIIABHEZOERRAR  EAML AE%30,000,0007 NxRER
Foshan Merchants Xiangshun ~ Chinese Mainland RMB101,000,000 - 51 - 51 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd ¥
(Note iii)
RLAEFREOERRAR  REAN AR#101,000,0007C NRER
(Hictiii)
Foshan Zhaorui Real Estate  Chinese Mainland RMBS50,000,000 - 34 - 34 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BhiRinRE s ERRA A (Hitin) T EA AE#50,000,0007T VESE
Foshan Merchants Puhai Chinese Mainland RMB3,300,000 36 36 36 36 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
BLBEESERESRAR  FENL AR#3,300,0007C UER S
Nanjing Yueyi Decoration Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 20 20 20 20 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note )
ARGIREERARME)  EA AE%2,000,0007T NRER
Nanjing Jinda Decoration Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Co., Ltd.*
BERBERHBRAF PEA AR#%2,000,0007C ES S

ZENEFR HBEREMARAR
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEE 2R &)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
REEREZ
DRER RI/E$8% R BERERRERLA iR E L) TEXH
2024 2023 2024 2023
“¥-PE -T--F CRCRE CR-CF
% % % %
Guangzhou Zhaoying Urban  Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 - 50 - 50  Property development
Renewal Investment
Co., Ltd.* (Note i)
BMBRATENREARRAR HEAL AR#10,000,00070 UES S
(Hritiii)
Foshan Nanhai District Meijing Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Real Estate Development
Co,, Ltd*
PumEsRIRREILE PEA AR#2,000,000,0007C UES:S
HERRAT]
Foshan Merchants Yinyue Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 40 40 40 40 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
FLBERABRESRAR  EAL AR#50,000,00070 VESS
Guangzhou Suixin Real Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 33 - 33 - Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
BNREERARAA RE R, AE#50,000,0007 NRERE
Nanjing Shengke Real Estate ~ Chinese Mainland RMB87,000,000 50 - 50 - Property development
Development Co., Ltd *
("Nanjing Shengke")
ARENEHEREERAR  RERY AR 87,000,000 NRER
(FEmERL)
* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * B EE  EHaE o
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BE_T_mFEF A=+ —HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Note i:  According to the articles of associations of these companies, relevant
activities require consent of all shareholders, thus the Group is able to
jointly control with other investors on these companies respectively.
Accordingly, they are accounted for joint ventures of the Group.

Note ii: The Group disposed the investment of Nanjing Zhaoyang and a
disposal loss of RMB1,820,000 was recognised in loss of disposal of a
joint venture in 2024.

Note iii: These companies had been dissolved in 2024.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, Guangzhou Zhaoying, Foshan
Meijing and Nanjing Shengke are the material joint ventures
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Summarised financial information of the Group's material joint
ventures are set out below, which represented amounts shown
in the respective joint ventures’ financial statements prepared
in accordance with the accounting policy of the Group.

Guangzhou Zhaoying

19. RE-ELEZET @)

Wt - REZSRAINABERAA - BEXBELDBRR
AT ELAEEEHEEBIREEHZFARERL
=] o Eit - WEURKENAEREANR ©

Wi - ARBHERRBENRE IR _F_MFEHE—
& &bk 2 BIRER L EEEARE1,820,0007T

Hitii - ZFRARER T NFHE -

AECENRZERAVBREREAEREA
c KNREERE  REE-_Z_NFEKR—
T_=F+_A=+—HLFE  EMNER -
HILEBRERERYAREEZEAA &1
¥ - AEEEAALEEZUBEREEET
T (BREASESFHBERRE A &R
EVBHREANZSEE) -

>}| Pl

BN B
2024 2023
—E-NE T4
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Current liabilities MEEE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

3,988,743 4,422,342

1,650 1,650
2,353,301 2,135,190
- 512,808

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the

bBiEERBEZEBBREATER :

followings:
2024 2023
—E-mE  —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Bank balances and cash RITAES MRS 85,508 196,222
Non-current financial liabilities FEnBermaE(NaEEBK
(excluding trade and other payables) H fth FET5RIE) = 512,808
Loss and other comprehensive income FREEREMEERE
for the year (138,902) (9,138)
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BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Guangzhou Zhaoying (continued)

The above loss for the year included the followings:

19. REELEZET @)
BEMNEE (&)
FREREBEENTES

2024 2023

—E-NE —E=F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFT

Interest income B U A - 1,333

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Guangzhou Zhaoying was set out below:

EXE2FZHBEERNRZERENBRERZ

FREESREHIWT

2024 2023
—gF-mE —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBEFTTT
Net assets of Guangzhou Zhaoying BMNBEm. EEFE 1,637,092 1,775,994
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ARE B PrRs M B A R
interest in Guangzhou Zhaoying FEZR LB 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBFFEMNBREER 2 REE
in Guangzhou Zhaoying 818,546 887,997
Less: impairment loss recognised W FRNEER ZRERR
during the year 211,453 -
Carrying amount of the Group's interest MR E R 2R EE R
in Guangzhou Zhaoying net off impairment NEBAFEMNBEERZ RAE
loss recognised 607,093 887,997
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. RE-ELEZET @)

Foshan Meijing GANESS: =
2024 2023
—E_ME T =4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Current assets mEEE 3,039,126 4,173,046
Non-current assets EmEEE 6,629 37,158
Current liabilities mEAE 850,899 1,640,704
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 10,008 543,788

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the

FREBEERBBEZERABRENATIER

followings:
2024 2023
—E-NE =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T AREETTT
Bank balances and cash RITHEREIRS 170,048 183,593
Non-current financial liabilities FRBECRMEE
(excluding trade and other payables) (T EEEB N EMENFRIE) = 532,800
Revenue Wrzs 1,470,443 1,226,303
Profit and other comprehensive income F g A & E b 2 E U RS
for the year 159,136 79,792

The above profit for the year included the followings:

ERERENBIEATIER

2024 2023

—E-mF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Interest income FEWA 1,762 3,298
Income tax expense FriS#iFA > 53,435 26,598
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BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REE&LE R (&)

Foshan Meijing (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Foshan Meijing was set out below:

GHINESHE )

EXE2NZHBERBBERFILERER 2
FREESRFINDT

2024 2023
—EMmEF —Eo=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Net assets of Foshan Meijing HILEEREEFRE 2,184,848 2,025,712
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AN B P R LU SR 3R G A A 2w EE D)
interest in Foshan Meijing 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBAFHILESRER 2 RAE
in Foshan Meijing 546,212 506,428
Nanjing Shengke B2
2024
—E-mE
RMB’'000
AR¥T T
Current assets mENEE 3,290,478
Non-current assets EMEEE 36,661
Current liabilities mENaE 1,300,822
Non-current liabilities EmBAE 1,200,461
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the FBEERBRZSBEBENATIER -
followings:
2024
—E-—mE
RMB’'000
AR¥TR
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 675,482
Non-current financial liabilities FERBTRARE
(excluding trade and other payables) (D EIE R K B A E T FRIR) 1,200,000
Revenue Wz -
Loss and other comprehensive income for the year FREEEEMEEKES (44,090)
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BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Nanjing Shengke (continued)

The above loss for the year included the followings:

19. RE-ELEZET @)
I RERRHE)
FREREBEEATIES

2024
—E-mE
RMB'000
ARBT T
Interest income FEUA 150
Income tax credit FTiSHiF < (11,442)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXRFHBERNRBENE RN R
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in FREEHRSEINET
Nanjing Shengke was set out below:
2024
—E-MmEF
RMB’000
ARBTT
Net assets of Nanjing Shengke MRREZEEFE 825,856
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest RNE B P R R R A R L (]
in Nanjing Shengke 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest RE B s R B B s 2 AR (B
in Nanjing Shengke 412,928

The aggregate information of the Group's interests in joint
ventures that are not individually material that are accounted
for using the equity method are set out below:

AEENERME L TEANRIZEREARZ
BECFESCELBERFIIWT

2024 2023
—EB-ME ZEZ=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETET

The Group's share of (loss)/profit and total NEBMH 5 (EE),BF Rk
comprehensive income TER R BT (65,965) 49,351

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRIEERGERE

interests in immaterial joint ventures a2 BREE AR 1,573,532 2,723,033
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EE—

20.

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

The amounts represented the Group's investment in 15%
equity interest in the registered capital of an unlisted company
incorporated in Chinese Mainland, which is engaged in
property development.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a fair value gain
of RMB29,649,000 (2023: fair value loss of RMB36,420,000) has
been recognised.

20 AP EFABENEREE

B REAEEN —HED B A EM KL
MIE LT A REMRANISHEENRE - %
RANEMERE -

BE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLFE B
BARE29 649,000 AFEWRFI(ZE—=
& RNF{EEIEAREE36,420,0000T) °

21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21. IEFERIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement HEAMBRARNZEIIME - & TEEFRIE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BENBBELEE - UTRAELEHIBELER
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred DITALERA B ER3R2 F9 -
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥EFTTT
Deferred tax assets AT I & B 760,899 931,491
Deferred tax liabilities EERIES & (391,988) (499,706)
368,911 431,785
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 21, IERERIE ()
The followings are the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) UTRARENERZELEHEEE,(BF) R
recognised and movements thereon during the years: A%

Temporary

Fair value Temporary ~ Temporary  Temporary ~ differences

Temporary adjustment differences ~ differences ~differences related to

differences onproperty  Dividend relatedto  relatedto related allowance

on LAT Tax under withholding impaiment  rightofuse  tolease forexpected
provision losses ~ development tax  of inventory assets  liablties ~ creditlosses  Others* Total

HRRE HRHEE

THRER LD SRERE 8 HEE  ERER

i %z BBe  RE: GBREz  EEZ

ERZE  HBEE OVERE RERAR  EMEE  EWEE  ERER  ERER R it
RMBOOO  RMB'00  RMB'0O0  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00
AR¥Tn  ARETR ARMTZ ARMTR ARMTR ARMTRL ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR  ARMTR

At 1 January 2023 RZB-=F--A 676,583 194,888 (1153600 (249.681) - 108,148 (90.49) 121713 (193,039) 458816
(Chargefcredittoprofitorloss (Note ) RER(HR) /A9 (17687) 93815 - ) - (158 155U QU2 %0tz @)

At31 December 03 and 1 January 04~ R=F==E+-F=1-A}

“3-RE-F-A 499706 288703 (115,360)  (282,128) - 92323 (T4972) 125731 (102217) 431,786

(Chargelfcredittoprofitorloss (Note ) WER(HR)/ZAK9) (96548 (113,100) - 984 20919 (2043) 20780 17 75450 (62879)
At 31 December 2024 NE-MET-A=+- 403158 175603 (115360) (232304 20979 7886 (54192 125908 (26,767) 368,911
* Others mainly included tax effect of temporary differences arising from i Hih T BRIEETREMBER 2 AR AR EZER

contract costs and deduction of construction costs of certain property AMRES 2 ERER 2 HIEHE -

development projects.
At 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of R-ZFE-_WFE+-_A=+—8 A5EH#ESF
approximately RMB7,695,033,000 (2023: RMB5,763,626,000), REAIEEELN ARK7,695,033,0007T (=
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax T =% : ANR¥5,763,626,0007T) * A1
assets have been recognised in respect of such losses of HE®BEF - HEEEARK702,412,0007T
RMB702,412,000 (2023: RMB1,154,812,000) at 31 December (ZT==%F: AR®1,154,812,0007T) ' B
2024. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect R-ZBE-_WMF+-_A=+—HBHEREELEH
of the remaining RMB6,992,621,000 (2023: RMB4,608,814,000) TEAE o AT 8B R 3% 5 KB - FE it
as at 31 December 2024 due to the unpredictability of future R-_ZE-_NFE+-_A=+—BIERBTA
profits streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are R#6,992621000 (T -=F : AR¥
losses of RMB5,789,308,000 (2023: RMB3,814,409,000) as at 4,608,814,0007T ) RIELEFHEHEE - R=F
31 December 2024 that will expire in five years from the dates “E+ A=+t —HMARERBIEBSES
they were incurred. Other losses may be carried forward BB ARS5,789,308,000L(ZT==4F : AR
indefinitely. #3,814,409,0007T ) # A E & H B 5t L F 12

m o ELA R 1E Al SRR B A o
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21.

22.

FomFEF A=+ —HAILFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary differences of RMB889,936,000 (2023:
RMB1,091,406,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings and
RMB1,102,250,000 (2023: RMB878,987,000) attributable to the
write-down of properties for sale, expected credit losses and
impairment of investments in joint ventures. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

21.

EREFRIE #)

RZZFEZWAF+ZA=+—H ' "&EERE
SRA] T AR R AR A R 889,936,000t (=
T—=4F: AR¥1,091,406,0007T) * Itk 553
AREEARBEEELEZEALFERAS
i AR#1,102,250,000 L (ZE==4F : AR
#878,987,0007T ) AIl §5 5 7 7] it Y 5 ¥ 2 2 #f
W B EEBERRAECEZEREZR
B ° RN A] T8 R AR 2% F KR d I S i RR
BERIBEE -

22 A HEYE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —T-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARBET T

Completed properties for sale B3R T Al N EYE 16,422,740 17,409,366
Properties under development for sale EREP R HEEEYE 42,831,935 50,225,533
59,254,675 67,634,899

The amount of properties under development for sale
expected to be completed and available for sale after more
than one year is RMB8,841,439,000 (2023: RMB19,150,3%0,000).

As at 31 December 2024, leasehold land with carrying
values of approximately RMB RMB12,233,355,000 (2023:
RMB10,673,297,000) have been pledged to secure bank and
other borrowings amounting to RMB2,036,955,000 (2023:
RMB2,664,126,000) granted to the Group (see note 29).
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T8 BB B — F 18 3 T 37 A] 4t & Ay 28 R Fh A it
HEYELTE S ARES 841,439,000 (=
—=% : AFR#19,150,390,0007T) °

R-ZBE-_NME+-—A=+—H0  A£=EDIK
EREEAN A AR 12,233,355,0007T (=
T—=%: ARE#¥10,673,297,0007T) 2HE
T UMBRFASEZRITEEMEER
R#2,036,955,000t (ZE==4F : AR¥
2,664,126,0007T) EHER (RKIEE29)
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued) 22 A HEYE®)

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company
conducted a review on the net realised value of the Group's
properties under development for sale and completed properties
for sale. As at 31 December 2024, due to a decrease in the
expected selling price as referenced to the actual selling price
during presale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of
similar properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of the Group's
completed properties for sale and properties under development
for sale, located in Guangzhou, Foshan, Xi’an, Nanjing and
Chongqing, the Chinese Mainland, were lower than their carrying
amounts by RMB542,057,000 (2023: Nil) in aggregate.

Certain properties under development impaired in prior year
was sold during current year, the respective impairment of
RMB781,479,000 (2023: RMB334,290,000) was written off. As
at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of properties
for sale amounted to approximately RMB59,254,675,000, net
of write-down of RMB639,566,000 (2023: carrying amounts
of approximately RMB67,634,899,000, net of write-down of
RMB878,987,000) in Chinese Mainland.

The acquisition cost of interests in leasehold land for property
development for sale in the ordinary course of business are
included in properties for sale.

R-ZB-WE+-—A=1+—8 KRFEEH
REERZEREFR AT EMERE R T A
EVENILIEFEETEN - RZT_MF
+ZA=+—H BRSEFRESHBEDE
NEREEREUMENTPEEMHEE
T - AR A ERETANE BB R E
Mo BRIl AR mRAEEMNE TERIA
HHEMERBERFAIHEEEMSE 2 A I
FEAEREEREEEEARES42,057,0007T
—T_=F ) o

=

EFEHBRBENE TEREFMEERAFE L
& - BRREMEARE781,479,0000T (=
T =4 : AR¥334,290,0007T) - A==
—FE+—A=+—H FEAHAIHEE
YR BREEL ARES9,254,675,0007 (0
B AR®639,566,000 KR (ZFE ==
& REEYARES67,634,899,0007T @ 1k
AR #5878,987, 000 CHIMIUR) ©

ERABEFBRET  AHOEFERRYEEE
TR B R AT AR R &2

RMB’000

ARBTT
Analysis of leasehold lands: HEL o D4 :
As at 31 December 2024 R=B-mMFE+=A=+—~H
Carrying amount BREE 43,338,301
As at 31 December 2023 R=-B-=%+=-HA=+-—H
Carrying amount AREE 46,599,972
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_WNE+-A=+—HLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HE T IR & 4258 5,308,677
Additions NE 3,061,017
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—ZE-_=F+-A=1t—BLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HETHBE SR LA 6,180,566
Additions NE 6,209,243

—ToMFEFR BEBREMBRAR 241



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
i

CREE & A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EHE=

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FomFEF A=+ —HAILFE

23 EX R HEMMEWRFIE

2024 2023
—E-WEF TR
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Trade receivable (Note i) TSGR (K aEi)
— contract with customers —HEEHEL 9,352 16,882
— operating lease receivables — ST E A 6,606 3,161
15,958 20,043
Other receivables H e R IE
Other prepaid non-income tax H A TBR IEPRIGHR 2,052,639 1,726,537
Other receivables and prepayments H ) & R IE & FB A /I8
(Note vi and viii(e)) (Bt viRviii(e)) 634,401 1,147,911
Amounts due from intermediate holding FEUR B iR 1 B FRE
companies (Note ii and viii(a)) (K1azii Kviii(a)) 3,566,608 2,705,052
Amounts due from non-controlling interests JEUR FE 2 B he 2 R IR
(Note v and viii(c)) (Ktatv Rviii(c)) 17,194,230 17,267,178
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUR [ R BB A Bl FUR
(Note ii and viii(b)) (KratiiRviiib)) 16,647 334,915
Amounts due from associates JE Uk B 2 A ) FRIE
(Note iii and viii(d) (Kt eiii Rviii(d)) 4,791,238 4,445,893
Amounts due from joint ventures JEW & & EFRIA
(Note iv and viii(d)) (Kt ativ&viii(d)) 2,245,981 2,293,441
Amount due from an investee (Note viii(d)) FEURIS & 5 SRIE (A At viii(d)) = 12,163
30,501,744 29,933,090
Less: Amounts expected to be received after W TR — F R WA IR
one year:
Amounts due from associates JE KBS & A R FRIE
(Note iii and viii(d)) (B &Eiii R viii(d)) 1,852,052 2,272,089
Amounts due from joint ventures JEU & &b TR
(Note iv and viii(d)) (BaFiv Rviii(d)) 1,935,122 861,980
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUL FE I A hE 2 TR IE
interests (Note v and viii(c)) (Kt v Rviii(c)) 15,210,522 15,280,508
Amounts due from an investee (Note viii(d)) JE UG A% & S5t 5 SR I ([ et vidi(d)) - 12,163
Non-current portion of other receivables H b U ZIE ) IER BN B 18,997,696 18,426,740
Current portion of other receivables H fth FE W SR IE B R BN B 11,504,048 11,506,350
Current portion of trade and other receivables  Z75 & H b f& I ZIBH) R ENE0 11,520,006 11,526,393
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes:

(i) Trade receivables mainly arise from properties operation income and

rental income from the Properties Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally within
30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are

reviewed regularly by senior management.

Considerations in respect of properties leasing are paid in accordance
with the terms of the rental agreements, normally within 30 days from the

date of invoices.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23. ZB R H R UF IR ()

Bt -

(i)

EBEBKREIEEEBMED BOYEEBRARAE
SN °

AEBEEEESEPZEEH—RB0AN - AKE
TISRERAE PR B E R IR O 2 FEGRIE - AR EREEER
o RREEARTEREMAER o

MEHEZREREEBEEHRGR—RRNEREH
ABET30H AT -

W& RRAE ARERBEE 2 2B REFURRR
DA

2024 2023

—B-mEF —T-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥F T ARBFIT

0- 180 days 0%E180H 11,770 16,667
181 — 365 days 181HE365H 60 596
Over 1 year HBiA—F 4,128 2,780
15,958 20,043

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are customers with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB157,000 (2023: RMB296,000) which
are aged over 30 days and past due at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group
assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records to consider adequacy
of allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.

(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iii)  Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2024, amounts of
approximately RMB254,668,000 (2023: RMB528,917,000) are unsecured,
interest-bearing at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 6.175% (2023: fixed rate
ranging from 4% to 6%) per annum and repayable on demand or within
one year. The remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand for both years.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the amounts of approximately RMB1,643,804,000 (2023: RMB938,586,000)
are unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 8%
(2023: 6.18% to 8%) per annum and repayable over one year. The
remaining amounts of non-current receivables are unsecured, interest-

free and repayable over one year for both years.

(ii)

(iii)

7 55 (B 3 75 WO IR A e ) BR DL 48 38 A R #5157,000
T(ZEZ=%F : AR¥296,0007T) - B #BiB30R -
RNBEPREEREBH - MAKEL R ELREESE
B - AREENBE ZBHEREFLCEFEEBTR
HBUE BB FEER  TRRERREAREEH
TEHFED BHE -

ZEEREIER  RRWERERKER -

RZT-_WEFE+—A=+—BHRBERFIEARN - AR
5 4)254,668,0007T (= ZF = =4 : AR% 528,917,000
TT) BEERA - 2% E6.175%(Z T =4F : EEHM=X
4% % 6% ) M E E FF Rt EB RBREREERR—FA
B2 - RMEFER - RENERFIEN &R EER -
EERIRERIERE -

KRB WER-ZT_=F+-A=T—HMNFRDE
WHRIER - ARKEL1,643,804,000L(ZF==4F : A
R 938,586,0007T ) &M - LA2%ZE8% (=T ==
F : 6.18%E8%) MEE FF KT R RN —FAE
RWEFER - IERBERFIAN LR B EEF - 28
RN —FRIEE -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(vii)

Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2024, amounts of
approximately RMB100,000,000 (2023: RMB812,643,000) are unsecured,
interest-bearing at fixed rate of 2% (2023: 8%) per annum and repayable
on demand or within one year. The remaining amounts of current
receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand for
both years.

The non-current receivables as at 31 December 2024, amounts of
approximately RMB1,416,788,000 (2023: RMB833,240,000) are unsecured,
interest-bearing at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 7% (2023: 4.2% to 7%)
per annum and repayable over one year. The remaining amounts of non-
current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one
year for both years.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of RMB1,465,000 (2023:
RMB771,569,000) were denominated in HK$.

The non-current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
over one year.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of RMB1,294,000 (2023:
RMB39,360,000) are denominated in HK$.

Details of the expected accredit loss assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 33.

(viij(@Amounts due from the intermediate holding companies mainly

represented advances to such intermediate holding companies, which
may be used to settle the balance due to the other intermediate holding
companies.

(viii)(b)Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries mainly represented advances to

such fellow subsidiaries, which may be used to settle the balance due to
other fellow subsidiaries.

(viii)(c) Amounts due from non-controlling interests of project companies mainly

represented (i) advance distributions of project profits, which may be
settled by dividend to be declared to such non-controlling interests, and
(i) temporary receivables from the non-controlling interests. Pursuant to
the respective cooperation agreements or the articles of association of
the project companies, when the project companies have excess funds
which was initially injected by the shareholders of the project companies,
such excess funds may be transferred upwards to the accounts of the
shareholders of the project companies in proportion to their investment,
resulting in a temporary receivable from the non-controlling interests.
This provisional account will eventually be settled as the non-controlling
shareholders of the project companies inject funds to the project
companies in accordance with the funding requirements of the project
companies at various stages.

(viii)(d)Amounts due from associates, joint ventures and investees mainly

represented the shareholder loans required for the development of
the projects carried out under the respective project cooperation
agreements.

(viii)(e)Other receivables and prepayments which consisted of (i) other

receivables which, in descending order of significance of the amount,
were deposits and property maintenance fund etc.; and (ii) prepayment
which, in descending order of significance of the amount, were
prepayment of construction fees to third parties, prepayment of
water charges, prepayment of electricity charges and prepayment of
distribution commissions.
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23. ZHB R H tRUE IR ()

Htet - (&)

() RoE-mE+- A=+ —BRRBRKRER - AR
# 47100,000,0007T ( = =4 : AR¥ 812,643,000
T)AMIEM - L2%(Z B =4 : 8%)MEREFIRE
BRAREREERN—FRHEE - RREFEN - 7
BEKIEN S BEIER - S8 RRBREE -

R-ZZE-_NMF+_A=+—BHFERDEKKEA
R ARM#1,416788,000L(ZTE-_=4 : AR¥
833,240,0007T ) AEEM 2% E7%(—Z B =4 :
42%%7%) M EEFFEFTERR—FRER - RWE
FEA - FERBERBOE SR ERR - BB RN —
FIREE -

v R=ZT-—WFE+=-—A=+—A0  AR¥1,4650005(=
T =4 : AR¥771,569,0007T) )& BBIABEHE ©

ERMENEW R IBAEER - RERR—FRIEERE
(viy RZZZMFE+=—A=+—H8 ' AK%1,294,0007t(=
T =4 : AR#39,360,00070) & HEABHEHE o

(vii) XBREMEKRFAZBHEEBEEFGEFERR

PFFE33 ©

(viii)(a) FEUR R EAR A RIFRIA £ BIE M S MBE R A R E
b ﬁﬁﬁﬁm RE A RB BRI B AT AR R RIR
g4

(viii) (o) B U R R A B IR E R AR SR A ME A
K BRERAT BEARE E R EA R KA B R R
R -

(viii)( FHSZIEE TiH Hx%‘*ﬁlﬁig?a( 18 B A7
FBRED BEFR A% S IR R E
i)ﬁﬁﬁﬂx%?ﬁﬁ &nXQéH s 2 O T o FRE MK R
H o REBIFE ARZANEEBAXIRRER - KA
BRAEAFEIINES (BR&yEEE RAREREE)
- RSN E S AR A LM R EIRA R A
BIRZBRP - B A A SF 2 A R o A ' B 1 B MK
I8 o ARRIE B R A IR AR AR ARIBIR B R AT
FEEMESFRAIAE RANEE - AUt REHRP &
RS (S

(Vi EUEEEE DT - A EEERREHRFIREZRIERE
BRIAE AEHHANITRE REMBHBRRER -

(viii)(e) L EULGIB R FRIBRHE « (VEMBUWGRIA « 1%
SEANEFEEED S E‘Jﬁ?ﬁzﬁ&%%?ﬁ EEEE R
(NENRIE - REBEANNEFHIIS R RME=HTE
% - BAKE  BENEEREMS#HES -
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24,

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

Bank balances and cash include demand deposits and
short-term bank deposits amounting approximately
RMB10,540,868,000 (2023: RMB6,755,442,000) for the purpose
of meeting the Group's short-term cash commitments, which
carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.1% to 2.1% (2023:
0.1% to 5.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, included in designated bank
accounts in accordance with the applicable government
regulations in relation to designated property development

24 MITHEMRRBAEE ZRFBTER

RTEBR LR SPREARBEASERHR
CHRANEFHERREHRABRTEROAR
#10,540,868000 L (Z T = =F : AR
6,755,442,0007T) *© E TR HENEN F0.1%
E21%(ZF==%F : 0.1%E5.3%)zTE °

R-ZE-_WFE+-A=+—8  BEBEBEGF
EREBETWEMEIEENTFRRIEERIT
BRERRITESR A ARK2,193,581,0000 (==

projects, there are restricted bank deposits amounting to —=%F : AR#3,527,880,0007T) ' :ZE R
RMB2,193,581,000 (2023: RMB3,527,880,000), such balances BIARIEEMXFREEE -
are restricted to be applied in the designated property
development projects.
Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies AR EEEBERB e EEUINEBTEZR
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group TR EREATWT
to which they relate:
2024 2023
—E-E —EF=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥EFTT
Denominated in HK$ PAB R SHE 264,330 103,648
Denominated in US$ AETEHE 56,554 102,354
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. ER R HEMMEA KA

2024 2023

—E-E —ZEC=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARBFT

Trade payables (Note i) RSB (K 5Ei) 7,807,293 11,228,026

Other payables H At T FRIE

Other non-income tax payables H (b FEPTIS R B 28 2,537,579 2,558,932

Other payables and accrued charges (Note iv)  E b 578 & FEETF > (AT ativ) 991,756 1,579,958
Amounts due to intermediate holding FE < B 12 B A RISk IE (B 22ii)

companies (Note ii) 4,927,084 7,701,537
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEASE S5 R He o SR I (B i)

(Note iii) 2,172,040 2,320,622
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note ii) FET R R M B A R kB (K aFii) 3,479,599 2,864,777
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note i) FES & & IR (M aFii) 1,625,492 2,144,829
Amounts due to associates (Note ii) JE AT Bl 2 N ) FRIE (B atii) 3,396,020 3,649,055
Dividend payable FEAT AR 969,075 962,031
Interest payable FERFIE 274,008 233,395

20,372,653 24,015,136
Less: Amounts expected to be paid B TR —F R TR IR

after one year:

Other payables H ST RRIE = 88,030
Non-current portion of other payables HAb N AR IER BN 2 - 88,030
Current portion of other payables H e IR R ENED D 20,372,653 23,927,106
Current portion of trade and other payables BN E A FE R FRIER R BN S 28,179,946 35,155,132
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Trade payables arise from Properties Segment comprise construction
costs and other project-related expenses which are payable based on
project progress and the average credit period of these trade payables
is 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
date, at the end of the reporting period:

25. ¥R EMENTE )

wi -

(i)

WIS B2 N A B IR R SR AN R E IR B AR R
Fx DIRBABEESN - ARZFEBERNFIRZF
BIEEHR60R - ARBEHENBRREZRE « M
RRAARNFIREEEERRA -

AT ARERE BRAE B RER A B EZ EBEAR
BRER T -

2024 2023

ZEIME =%

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARBF T

0to 60 days 0Z60H 2,374,676 6,476,523
61 to 180 days 61%180H 1,716,228 896,699
181 to 365 days 181Z365H 2,663,800 2,243,008
Over 365 days #BiB365H8 1,052,589 1,611,796
7,807,293 11,228,026

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Included in these amounts is an aggregate amount of RMB981,237,000
(2023: RMB2,313,979,000) which is related to the reverse factoring
arrangement (see note 33).

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2024, amounts of RMB26,707,000 and RMB1,058,584,000
(2023: RMB31,443,000 and RMB1,035,926,000) are denominated in US$
and HK$ respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of RMB6,436,000 and RMB3,728,000
(2023: RMB 1,994,000 and RMB2,034,000) are denominated in US$ and HK$
respectively.

(jii)

(iv)

ZLBEREER  REWERBEREER - ZEWTE
R ARE R AR AR AR 981,237,000 (=&
=% : AR¥2,313,979,0007T) (R HIFE33) ©

%R AEER  LEVRRBREER KR-_FT_MF
+TZA=+—H  £8ERARE26,707,0007T R AR
1,058,584,0007C (= = =4 : AR 31,443,0007T &
AR#1,035,926,0007T) 3 B ASE T BB #FHE

R-ZZFE-_mWE+=—_A=+—H ©EAHEARKE
6,436,000 % AR¥E3,728,000L(—E==4 : ARK
1,994,0007T } A R #62,034,0007T ) 5 Bl A S 7T K i B =t
(=
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26.LEASE LIABILITIES 26.fAE8E
2024 2023
—E-mEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBT T
Lease liabilities payable: ERNHEEEE
Within one year —ER 29,425 54,038
Within a period of more than one year BB — BB IR M E A A
but not more than two years 30,697 35,476
Within a period of more than two years B3R PR £ B N R R T F AR A
but not more than five years 27,127 31,749
Within a period of more than five years BRAFEEA 200,293 248,029
287,542 369,292
Less: Amount due for settlement with B P 218 A AR EI S E BV FRIE (RO
12 months shown under current liabilites B & &5R) (29,425) (54,038)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months K128 A& B & ERNFIE(RIERS
shown under non-current liabilities BEYR) 258,117 315,254
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to REEREREAMNMEFAEEETMNERS
lease liabilities at 4.66% (2023: 4.69%). 4.66%(ZF-=1F : 4.69%) °
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Amounts represent loans from non-controlling equity holders

27. IR

=3

ERTBEARRME

ha

AR FERE

REREE

of subsidiaries of the Company. AERK -
The maturity of the loans from non-controlling interests are 3H BREZERVEBABEAERSERBZEM
based on respective loan agreements and are analysed as d ﬁ*ﬁﬁlﬂ— :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —EF=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥EFTT
Within 1 year —F R 129,420 479,241
Between 1 and 2 years —ZERE 148,120 353,691
Over 2 years 8 38 W F 1,350,148 1,055,344
1,627,688 1,888,276
Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown B B BEIE I —FERNEH
under current liabilities V% (129,420) (479,241)
Amounts due after 1 year shown as —F R I BIIEIERE B FEHFIE
non-current liabilities (Note) (K1) 1,498,268 1,409,035
Details of the terms of the loans are set out as below: BERETEFBNAT
Effective
interest rate
per annum 2024 2023
BRFER =R —EF-mE —T-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Fixed-rate loans FEEER 3.65% to 6% 464,209 406,640
(2023: 3.65% to 6%)
3.65% % 6%
(ZEB-=%F : 3.65%F6%)
Non-interest bearing loans &t B & & - 1,163,479 1,481,636
1,627,688 1,888,276

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024, the non-current portion of
loan from a non-controlling interest amounting to RMB1,046,859,000
was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in 2027 (2023:
RMB1,015,194,000 repayable in 2025 or 2026).

et - BE_T-WET A=+ —HIEFE  FERER
ERESEN S

AR#1,046, 859 OOOR?%ETEH’@

T BRER-_FT_LFEERE(Z

1,015,194,000 7T /8 QEJF_E_EEE‘E_ZE:/\ELE

&) -
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28.

29.

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY AND LOANS
FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the non-current
portion of loan from an intermediate holding company was
unsecured, interest-bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China or RMB Loan Prime Rate
published by the National Interbank Funding Centre (“LPR"),
and repayable in 2026, 2027 or 2029 (2023: repayable in 2025 or
2026). A loan amounting to RMB700,000,000 which was due in
2025 originally, was extended to be repayable in 2029.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, loans from a fellow
subsidiary was unsecured, interest-bearing at LRP minus 130 or
160 base points (2023: LRP minus 130 or 160 base points). The
current portion amounting to RMB528,409,000 was repayable
in 2025 (2023: RMB205,937,000, repayable in 2024).

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. FEﬂ%zT

RAFNE R [RZH B AT

,\/T/\

BHEZ E¢+ A=1T—HLFE B
ERARERZIEREB BN HEER - ZHE
AE%ET??ET?EZ}\E%%%EE*MWT‘iilfﬁ
TRBEEFET O AMHAREERBENX
( TEREFFNE] ) 78 XAR-_T R
i‘_y_ti‘k_?_jlﬁaa —F-=
FARZE_AFH-_FT_RFEE) - R
ER T - RFE HH) ARK700,000,0007T
ENCEME_T_NFEE -

HE-_T-_WNE+_A=+—HBLFE AR
MBARERAERT REREBFRR
1305k 1601EEE (ZE=_=F : ERE=F
KR 130K 160MEES) 58 - RBHFSAR
#528,409,0007C BN " T - RFEE (—F
— =% : AR®¥205,937,000c BN -—E =M
FEE) -

29 RITRHMEE

2024 2023

—E-NE —E =5

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREETTT

Bank borrowings RITEE 19,429,337 18,958,545

Other loans HiE™ 1,214,000 1,012,059

20,643,337 19,970,604

Unsecured (Notes i and ii) AR (M e i) 17,544,188 16,121,635

Secured (Note iii) IR (M atiii) 3,099,149 3,848,969

20,643,337 19,970,604

Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities W o BAREBEZEE (4,021,610) (9,663,814)

Amounts classified as non-current liabilities DEAFRHEBEZLE 16,621,727 10,306,790
Carrying amount repayable:* FEEERREE © *

Within one year —F R 4,021,610 9,663,814

More than one year but not more than two years i@ —F {8 N BBHRE 3,102,807 5,752,573

More than two years but not more than five years B/ F (2N BB A F 11,509,923 2,380,060

More than five years BilEAF 2,008,997 2,174,157

20,643,337 19,970,604

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.
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29.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

The Group's bank borrowings were subject to variable-
rate interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the
People’s Bank of China or Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate

("HIBOR") at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements

or fixed-rate interest stated in borrowings’ agreements. The

effective interest rates on the Group's bank borrowings ranged
from 2.20% to 3.70% (2023: 2.20% to 6.00%) per annum. The
effective interest rates on the Group’s other borrowings
ranged from 3.80% to 4.60% (2023: 3.80% to 5.00%) per annum.

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

Amounts of RMB2,474,381,000 (2023: RMB2,982,142,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate of
CMG.

As at 31 December 2024, amounts of approximately RMB703,348,000
(2023: RMB1,475,766,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

As at 31 December 2024, leasehold land with carrying values of
approximately RMB12,233,355,000 (2023: RMB10,673,297,000), investment
properties with carrying values of approximately RMB1,538,548,000
(2023: RMB1,631,575,000), and trade receivables with carrying values of
approximately RMB199,000 (2023: RMB1,071,000) have been pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB3,099,149,000 (2023:
RMB3,848,969,000) granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, there are no foreign currency denominated bank
and other borrowings (2023: RMB3,896,746,000 of HK$ denominated bank
borrowings).

30.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

2. BITREMEE )

AEEBZRTEEERSAZEERZB BF
BEARBITRHEZ AREELEERF RS ES
IRITRIZEFRFE ([BARITRIZEFRFIE])
BERZZEERNEEREM Y EE B X
B AEEBITEEZEBRFERNENT2.20%
E370% (=T =4 : 220%%6.00%) ° A&
B HMEENERFHNENT3.80%E4.60%
(ZZE==4F : 3.80%%5.00%) °

Kt -

(i) 2BARM2474381000t (=% : AR
2,982,142,0007T) & B B FH R E 2 Bt & A B R iRT
(THBRSBIT)ZRITEE -

(i) RZZB-_mE+-A=+—0 ' & AR¥%703,348,000
T(ZT =% : AR¥1,475,766,0007T) )& REHB R
IE AR o

(i) R=ZZ-_WE&E+-—A=+—0 ' A&ESEAEEE
WA ARE12,233355000c(ZE-=4F : AR
10,673,297,0007T) 2 FHE L - lREEN A AR
1,538,548,0007C (=T = =4 : AR #¥1,631,575,000
TIZREWE  EEEHNAARKE199,000T (=T
=% : AR¥1,071,0007T) 2 ¥55EURIE - MABER
FTAEE 2 R1TREAEE AR3,099,149,0007T (=
T =4 : AR#3,848,969,0007T)fEH &R °

(v) RZZ-WFE+=-A=+—8 ' $EAIIEFE
ZRITREMEE(ZE =5 BTEEARE
3,896,746,0007T * LABEEEHE) ©

30. AR R

Ordinary share capital of the Company IN/N] e S 1 gN
Number
of shares Amount
B E &5
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BREES0.01 T2 Tl
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZTE_=F—HA—1
and 31 December 2024 —E-=F+-A=+—HK
— &+ —-A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
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30.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(continued)

30. AR K fit )

Ordinary share capital of the Company (continued) RRAE 2 ERRIRA (&)
Number
of shares Equivalent to
R4 & B HER
HK$’'000 RMB'000
BT T ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: BITRAR
At 1 January 2023, E"_ Z_=%—H—H"
31 December 2023, and —ZEI=F+A=+—Hk
31 December 2024 —E-MFE+=-A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
Notes: Kiat -
(i) Included in retained profits of RMB1,856,998,000 (2023: RMB1,919,899,000) (i) AR IEF M AR 1,856,998,0007C (=T = =4 :

represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the PRC,
wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their
net profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations,
to a non-distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend
to equity owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset previous years’
losses of the relevant subsidiary, if any, and is non-distributable other than
upon liquidation.

(ii) The other reserves comprise:

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company
arising from the completion of restructuring in prior years;

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring
in prior years as deemed distribution to the shareholder; and

(c) The difference between (a) the consideration of the restructuring;
and (b) the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the
restructuring contributed by an intermediate holding company at
the date of restructuring, deducted by the share capital and share
premium of China Merchants Land Limited (the "Company”) at the
date of restructuring.

(i) The equity transaction reserve represents the difference between the

proportion interests of the subsidiaries’ net assets being acquired or
disposed and the amount of the consideration paid or received.
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AR#1,919,899,0007T) B EARKFE ([ E )
BRI 2 AR RERE - RIEHRERER - R
B2 ECERMERRA ADIKBE AT - REE
BB FFEZT R R OIMEE) 2T 2K
BESL - FHFEES T REEHARNBEARBESF
EzER(E)  BRIEER  BAZREESATH
DIk ©

(i) HtREEEeR:
() BEFESATKAELERBEZRERIRZH

{ER MR

(o) B EAREEHERD 2 BEMBRES R
RAE R

© (@EEZRME ROSEEMERRATIEY
i gma%za@h$z§;

HERERERERAR([ARXENKREARH
ZIRA B E o

(i) HERXFEBEEERHENBARNNEEFENER
HAIRBENRB KRR ESEZ MNEHE -
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(i)

(ii)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay long service payment
("LSP") to qualifying employees in Hong Kong under
certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers
or upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years
employment period. In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022, which has immaterial
impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
employees that participate in MPF Scheme.

Plans for employees in Chinese Mainland

The employees employed in Chinese Mainland are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the PRC government. Subsidiaries
in Chinese Mainland are required to contribute certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is
to make the specified contributions.

31. BRIRERIETE

(i)

(ii)

el hEl
AEBRERBMACEREESERES
itEl - BESA B CEERBR —RBEIRE
FREAEN 2 ESBAKBMTEED AR
B AREHBBEEFEZE-—RERR
Rz AT BIE R EHR - WAL WA HK
AT (AR R 2R 6 2 A 13 o

RAREREELZZHBARAME @ R
BREEEO(FE57E)  AEEREERE
THERT (e X fR B RNRIRE) A&
BREREEXNERHRE 2 (T RARS
) EXZEAFEFEHRR -R_-F
—ZERA BEAFERBRFEREBHRNE =
T _FRMBRRKFTEVAD EIHE L)
(EETMED - ZIGPIBAEE 2 HgiEse
AEMEENRERESABEFETK -

B A g B 52

FEALESSETBEBTMEFEIER
EIRRENE S o B RMHE R RA
AZEREHFENEEFHETED
2R RRERIERES - A5H
HRARBHGE B 2 —BERELREHR

e
N
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32.

FomFEF A=+ —HAILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from non-
controlling interests and an intermediate holding company
and bank and other borrowings net of bank balances and cash
and equity, comprising share capital, share premium, various
reserves and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as the issue of
new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

Group entities which were established in Chinese Mainland
maintained RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance
of these funds out of Chinese Mainland is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

2. ETERERE

AREEREAS  WRRALEZ BB
LS EEE TR RE - A ERERTE
EHEBAZ BERRTAREFREAE
o AEEBEERREFRETE o

AEEZEARBREFE RS RERIER
RBEEFRARRITREMEE - EHBRITE
HNIRE A RS (BB - BiRE - 81
[t MR bR )

ARBIEEZFEHRA BERNERE o ERIRT A8
EABLEEREBEEREBIER - RBARQ

REEZHEBER  AEESHEETHR K
B IARBITHEREERAEY  FEHHE

BREXRGE -

KRB AR 2 AEB B RS UARES
BZRITAER - BRBERMEDZFRIARE
ST R B BR A B B 2 B S PR )

AEBERRERAFEERAZERBBLRDT ¢

2024 2023

—EDmEF —E=%F

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®ET T

Debt (Note i) (=530 0rz2D) 36,072,351 36,719,723

Bank balances and cash/restricted bank deposits $8774582 RIS IR $I5R1T 172k (12,734,449) (10,283,322)
Net debt SHETE 23,337,902 26,436,401
Equity (Note ii) 5 (HTaEii) 33,094,008 35,124,989
Net debt to equity ratio SFEG B E 0.71 0.75

Notes:

(i) Debt is defined as loans from non-controlling interests, an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary and bank and other borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling
interests.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

33.¢mIT A

Categories of financial instruments (a) BT AEHKE
2024 2023
—E_E —E=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T T AREET T
Financial assets ETMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEFABENESHEE 121,671 92,022
Financial assets at amortised cost BHEN AT ECEREE
(including bank balances and cash and (BREBITESRERESUAR
restricted bank deposits) BRI ERITF ) 41,213,560 38,620,027
Financial liabilities SEasE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BBHEKATTECERARE 62,002,260 69,284,413

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, restricted
bank deposits, financial asset at FVTPL, loans from
non-controlling interests and an intermediate holding
company, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities and loan from a fellow
subsidiary. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

(b)

B R B IR B R RIBR
AEETIZeRTABRRREREMER
KB R|ROTEHERE - IRHRTE
K BAFEFABENEREE - JFE
s M EMEERARER - FBREAM
ENFR - RITREMEBE - HERBMN
R—RRENBRRER - &MTAZF
B AERE T AR

ZEemTARERREET SRR (B
REgRkMXER) - FERRERDE SR
b - BRAMMREZERR ZBERENT
X - BEEEERLERZERAR - UHER
KX BERERA EEE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

33.€mITE )

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BrEsREPREIR B RRBE (&)
(continued)
Market risk 5 E
Currency risk B m
The Group has foreign currency denominated other REE 2z Kb RIE » RITEHR KRR
receivables, bank balances and cash, bank and other & RITREMES - IEIERERZEFTIA
borrowings, loans from non-controlling interests and NEHAMEMNFRIBAINEEE » ERAEE
other payables, which expose the Group to foreign ¥ NS R B o B IR ) BE R AN R
currency risk. The management has closely monitored R R ERER S AR R B R B LR
foreign exchange exposure and will undertake necessary
procedures to mitigate the currency risk.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency REBEUIIMNEAECEREEREREE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at RpEREAE R ZREENT ¢
the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
aE afE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoNE —To-—F ZEBNFE —T_-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TTE AR¥TT AR¥TR AR%Trx
HK$ ik 1,367,769 871,552 6,239,620 4,964,933
US$ ETT 1,650,516 30,405 111,907 35,058
Inter-group balances SENFIRER
HK$ ik 5,108,968 7,244,013 2,825,129 4,911,518
US$ =TT 3,392,173 4,970,712 3,392,184 3,488,452
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk from
assets and liabilities denominated in HK$ and US$.

At the end of the reporting periods, if RMB, the
functional currency of respective group entities, had been
appreciated or depreciated by 5% (2023: 5%) against US$
and HK$ which represents management's assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rate,
and all other variables were held constant, the loss for
the year of the Group would have decreased or increased
by approximately RMB43,813,000 (2023: profit for the
year of the Group would have increased or decreased by
approximately RMB11,827,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest-bearing
bank balances, bank and other borrowings and loans
from an intermediate holding company. The directors of
the Company considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is limited due to their short maturities.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
its fixed-rate loans from lease liabilities, non-controlling
interests, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from joint ventures and bank and other borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure on an on-
going basis and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China and HIBOR.

(b)

33.¢mIT A

PR EIE B AR SRR ()

iR (&)

GRRZE ST

REBFEAZUBE RETLTENEE
REEEERER

REEHEAER WARB(EESEE
BINEEE) SETRBEAAESEE
5%( =B = =4 : 5%) (BB L INEE =X
AR 2 AR E L) BAEME
HREFAE - BIAEEFAEEGR DK
HEANH AR #43,813,0000( —FE = =4 :
N5 B F RE F H G sk R A A R
11,827,0007% ) °

P
AEBETREE BT B BRITHER R
TTREMBEARERZERQBTEREH
MIRERENEER - RRABEEFRRS -
FRBITHEMRB T BRRREE - KFMES 2
HAEnEMNERBRBABR -

AEEz A FENERREEEEHEE
B2ERER - FFimhuiEas - RS
BIFUR - B A E DRI RIRITR
fEEER -

AEERBUEBSEQTFEMNEARKE
EREN KRR 2 M EEIHBK o A
AEEERERBELEMNERRE - XHR
FEREEBEREAN KRR o

AEERSRENEAREIBEPRF
ARBRITREZ ARBEEERNXEE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest-bearing
liabilities and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year would not be impacted
because all floating rate interest expenses are capitalised
(2023: post-tax profit for the year increase or decrease by
RMB17,130,000).
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33.Fl
(b)
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NANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of each
reporting period; and

e  the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 37.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of bank balances and restricted bank deposits. At 31
December 2024, approximately 56% (2023: 41%) of
the total balances were deposited at CMB. Except for
approximately 15% (2023: 17%) of the total balances
deposited at Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. and
approximately 11% (2023: 15%) of the total balances
deposited at Agricultural Bank of China, deposits in other
banks are individually less than 10% of total bank deposits
and bank balances. The credit risk of these liquid funds
is limited because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in Chinese Mainland or banks with
high credit ratings.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee. In order to minimise
the credit risk on these amounts, the management of
the Group continuously monitors the credit quality and
financial conditions of intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee of the Group and the level
of exposure to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Based on the assessment on
the market condition and current budget of property
development projects held by the relevant joint ventures,
associates and an investee of the Group, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk
in respect of these balances is insignificant except for
the impairment losses made on the amounts due from
associates and joint ventures of RMB335,148,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB2,497,000) due to a decrease
in the actual and expected selling price of the property
development projects of the associates and joint

ventures.

Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of properties operation income
receivables from customers. The Group monitors the
outstanding balances on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are performed by the management before
properties operation agreements are entered into
with counterparties. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk on trade
receivables is insignificant.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables

In determining the credit risk on other receivables,
the directors of the Company have taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking
information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding other
receivables is insignificant.

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection
with certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans
to finance their purchase of the Group's properties. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the period of guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to repossess
the properties for resale. Therefore, the management
of the Group considers it would likely recover any loss
incurred arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties occurred
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group also provides guarantees to banks in
connection with borrowings of certain joint ventures
and associates. The maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
RMB2,341,730,000 (2023: RMB2,491,500,000) as at 31
December 2024. At the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
of the financial guarantee contracts.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

=M IEm®

(b) BrEsREPREIR B RRBE (&)

FERRE)

Bt U =008 (42 )
AEER AT EERR TR HEEFEAT

Rl

Other financial assets/

rating Description Trade receivables other items
A EE R s BB LR HittemEE HibER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
and does not have any - not credit-impaired
past-due amounts
Ve HFEHAWELRRRE BVETAEORE 2PRHEEER 12 HiafiE BB R
- REERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
but usually settles in full - not credit-impaired
BRLE EBALERIHRRETR BE EHEEGEERR 12 AR HEEER
- REERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
in credit risk since initial recognition - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally
7% ABHETNEHNBEREERRETNRERRER 2HRHEESHR FHRBEEEHRE
LERdill —REERE -~ AEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
518 BRBRAZECEERE FHRHEESR FHRHEEEHRE
—fEERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i gH BREBRAGBARNERENBEE  AEE HEEHEN HisHA B A

W Bl ZER A AT ST
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

3. eMITE e
(b) BITSEMEIEEIEREE(E)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of

the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

FERRE)

TREMAEENSREE (AR TR

FEERBRFH)NEERRKO

Internal credit  External 12-month or Gross amount as
rating credit rating  lifetime ECL at 31 December
12885
RABEETER HHEEIAR 2HEHGEEFE RT=A=+-B2&H
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
il AR¥TR ARETT
Amounts due from related parties 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 25,700,542 25,399,844
B Uk B 7 3 OE FitzE NER PEABHEESE
Amounts due from related parties 23 Loss N/A Lifetime ECL - 1,724,053 998,152
credit-impaired
& Uk AR 7 08 B NEA FHRBEEEE
—EERE
Bank balances 24 N/A Prime 1 - 12m ECL 12,734,449 10,283,322
Prime 2
RITHEH NERA F-EBHRE 12EAABBEEEE
EZER
Other receivables 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 472,512 1,007,870
Hth YRR Fiazt TEA AR BREERE
Trade receivables 23 Lowrisk N/A Lifetime ECL 17,465 20,043
3 360 el NiE 2HEBEERE

Note: For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, there is no significant increase in credit risk of the

amounts as the amounts are not past due.

Ha AR EERBREEMS - ASBEERRDHER
AR ERE B IREREE D AR LT - &
AREFRR - BEFANEERRY AR L

Tt TYRRE BRI R

—ToNEFR HBERBHMAERATE 263



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

33.€mITE )
(b) HERKREEBIEREEE)

Credit risk (continued) FEERRKE)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRINTHERE LB ERIBERH 2 H
that has been recognised for amounts due from joint TRHEEBENES) -

ventures.

Balance of
provision for
lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)
EHAMEER
BR(EERE)
Bk
RMB’000
ARBTR
As at 1 January 2023 RNZE-_=F—F—H 508,426
Changes due to financial instruments recognised RZZEZ=F—H—AERN
as at 1 January 2023: SET EEHNET
— Write-offs —TEH (8,007)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R=ZE-_=F+=-A=+—-HK
“E-ME—HA—H 500,419
Changes due to financial instruments recognised R-Z_MFE—H—B#ERN
as at 1 January 2024 CRTEEBHMNES) :
— Impairment loss recognised -BRRRERR 333,735
As at 31 December 2024 RZZ-_WF+-_A=+—H 834,154
Liquidity risk mEE SR

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and
issue of new debts. The directors of the Company
closely monitor the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the Group's
projects and operations.

As stated in note 25(ii), reverse factoring services are
offered to suppliers providing construction, decoration,
equipment, and other related services for the Group's
property development business. These services
are facilitated through agreements between China
Merchants Shekou and multiple financial institutions.
Qualified suppliers can apply for factoring arrangements
with these institutions, which will directly pay the
suppliers upon approval by both the financial institution
and the Group. China Merchants Shekou then settles
the full payable with the financial institution before the
factoring due date, and the Group subsequently settles
its payable to China Merchants Shekou.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

When the financial institution pays the supplier, the
Group derecognises the corresponding account payable
to the supplier and recognises a payable to China
Merchants Shekou. This liability recognition does not
involve cash inflows. When the Group repays China
Merchants Shekou, such cash outflow is classified as
operating activities in the statement of cash flow.

Under these arrangements, financial institutions pay
suppliers upon application of factoring payments. The
Group settles with China Merchants Shekou within one
year after factoring payments were made by the financial
institutions.

Banking facilities and debentures of the Group
amounting to RMB14,089,188,000 are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to the Group's financial
metrics which are tested periodically, as are commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial institutions.
The metrics include assets to liability ratio and current
liability to current asset ratio. If the Company were to
breach the covenants the related loans and debentures
would become payable on demand. As of 31 December
2024, the Company did not identify any breach of such
covenants, nor any difficulties in complying with the
covenants.

The following table details the Group's expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting
period.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

33.€mITE )

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BrEsREPREIR B RRBE (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted
average  On demand Total
interest or within 61to 181to Over undiscounted  Carrying
rate  60days  180days  365days 1- 2years  2-3years 3years cashflows  amount
nE  EERS AERRE
TAE  Re0BR  61Z180R 1812365A 15828 253% i3 hERE Rak
RMB'OOO  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE¥TR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+=R
Z1-f
Trade and other payables  EBREMEMNFE - 25,642,367 - - - - - 25642367 25,642,367
Lease liilities HEaR 4.66% 9,489 18978 28,467 42,22 37640 220168 356,964 287,542
Loans from non-controlling ~ FHERERES
interests
- interest-bearing 8 3.99% 3,042 6,084 22165 164205 303,621 - 499117 464209
-non-interest bearing Fit& - - - 116,620 - 1,046,859 - 1163479 1163479
Loans from an intermediate ~ EEARATER
holding company 3.10% 64714 129428 199,534 8005126  4337,502 739,833 13476137 12,699,218
Loans from a fellow subsidiary  FIZHBAEH 2.25% 4068 361119 183825 581,074 - - 1,130,086 1,102,108
Bankandotherborrowings ~ SAREMREE
~fixed rate ) 3.50% 73916 2180219 825605 2493156 10259519 826545 16,658,960 15490,829
- varigble rate 28 2.86% 1411 969,832 984,805 1,119,545 917,860 218293 5796455 5152508
25819073 3265660 2,361,021 12405328 16903001 3,969,482 64723565 62,002,260
Financial quarantee contracts BT ERAN 5400816 - - - - - 5400816 -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. 2/ I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MBERERBFERBEE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted
average  On demand Total
inerest  orwithin b1to 181t Over undiscounted ~ Carmying

rate 00days  180days  0days  1-2years  2-3years 3years  cashflows amount
mE BB ARAE

= WN0RA  61Z1808  181E365H 122F 153 #isE REAH FAE

RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBY00

ARBT  ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

At 31 December 2023 RZE-=E+-p

=t-H

Trade and other payables  EBREMENTE - 30476660 = - 88,030 - - NBAE0 3564690
Lease liabilities HERE 4.69% 9,301 18,601 28617 37,144 RRWLY 259,686 386,650 369292
Loans from non-controlling S RIERES

interests

- interest-bearing 8 377% 250 5,044 20,562 48,057 370,464 - 446,649 406,640

- non-interest bearing AitE - - - 4bp 442 319070 696,124 - 148163 148163
Loans from an intermediate ~ BERATE

holding company 4.38% 101,587 23,173 326 189090 13115453 - 1562859 14111183
Loans from a fellow subsidiary - FHZHBAFES 215% 340 81,743 124,194 3129 216410 - 7,048 749,660
Bankandotherborrowings ~ HIREMEE

- fived rate -E8 403% 03387 3817852 2131383 2232305 931,589 962209 10138685 9,740,716

- variable rate -8 355% 91,510 6119 3476481 3,742,040 9%578% 1870331 10749614 10,229,888

RS 4731709 6560925 8712955 1631237 309226 72173501 69,653,705

Financial quarantee contracts ~ BIBERAH 6432174 - - - - SV KAV -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
the counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee, which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties that are
guaranteed by the Group suffer any credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

The below tables summarised the financial instruments
measured at fair value:

33.¢mIT A

() A¥E
ARBEERE R_TE_NFE_FT
—ZFE+-A=1+—H  REEFBRE
EERAARz SREEREREBEZ
BREEEEAFERS °

TRBMIR A FEFEN SR ITA

Fair value as Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial instrument at 31 December hierarchy significant key or unobservable inputs
SRIA RTZA=+—B2ZAVE 2AVPERER HEFEREXTEIFTEZHAHNE
2024 2023

—TEoNE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTE ARETT

Financial asset at FVTPL 121,671 92,022 Level 3
EBEAFEFABZHNESE F=H
BE

Note: A slight increase/decrease in the market prices used in valuation
would not result in a significant change in the fair value of the
financial asset at FVTPL.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Market approach. The key unobservable
input is market prices of comparable
residential units. (Note)

Wik o FE ARG AR BRI LLRE
EEMHTISEE o (f:)

Htat - HEERNTSERER LR THRISEBRATE
FPABRENEREENRTEAREZE) -

BE_Z-_NFR-_FT-_=F+=-A=+—H
WWFE - WEEAEHE = -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of

financial asset

33.€mITE )
© 2ATEGE)
BATESE-HRHBHNLREEYE

RMB$'000
ARBTT
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—F—BH4%E 128,442
Unrealised fair value change recognised RERERNRERA 115&
in profit or loss (36,420)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 W-_Z—-_=%+—_A=+—HK
ZETNFE— A —E AR 92,022
Unrealised fair value change recognised RIESERANRER A TES
in profit or loss 29,649
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZT-_WFE+—A=+—BWHEH 121,671
Valuation processes fHERRE
Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value for RAFEFAER E’]imﬂé%?ﬁ’&iﬁd‘; '

financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement are
determined by the directors of the Company.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation when considered necessary. The directors of
the Company work closely with the independent qualified
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The directors of the Company
review the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the assets
and liabilities semi-annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

34.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 34. REFE 2 BEHE
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities THRANAREEREEZH 2 EEZS  BER
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- MR ED  c REEDELEZBBENER
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are Benesd R RBEERENGFARERERT
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, SDERBEEFDRERECAE -

classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes
FRE2E
Finance Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange costs Dividend ~transactions 31 December
2024 cash flow adjustment incurred declared (Note 41) 2024
kSl 13 EE FrEEN FRERE 1.3

-A-H kS EXHE HEHAK BERRE (W#41) t=R=1-8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N S N S NS NS NS NS N A

Bank and other borrowings ~ H{TREMEE 19,970,604 630,193 42,540 - - - 0843337
Lease liabilities REEE 369,292 (74,573) - 15,493 - (22,670) 287,542
Interest payable (includedin -~ A7 S (GFAER

tradeand otherpayebles)  RE(ERZE) 233395 (1,300,446) - 1,341,059 - - 274,008
Dividend payable (included in RS (;t AEH

tradeand otherpayebles)  REfERFIE) 962,031 (53,703) - = 310,988 (250,241) 969,075

21,535,322 (798,529) 42,540 1,356,552 310,988 (272911) 22,173,962
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

34.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(continued)

A__\
AL

4 METSH 2B EEHER®)

Non-cash changes

e
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance Dividend ~transactions 31 December
2023 cash flow adjustment  costs incurred declared (Note 41) 2023
ZTICF BE HEEH FRERH %=

-A-H Reng B A% HERA EERRE (fit41) +=RA=1-H

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Bank and other borrowings ST REMEE 19,846,634 82,260 4,710 - - - 19,970,604

Lease liabilities fERR 432593 (75,559 - 18,446 - (6,188) 369,92
Interest payable (includedin & (I AZBR

trade and other payables) b ER 2R 218,167 (1,527,308) - 154253 - - 233,395
Dividend payable includedin ~ ERTRRE (GIAZHER

trade and other payables) EfpERFE) 963,946 (401,425) = = 399510 = 962,031

21,461,340 (1922,032) 4,710 1,560,982 399510 (6,188) 21,535,322
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

35. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as a lessor

A number of the investment properties held have committed
tenants for the next one to eleven years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

35. K& E
AEBEAEEA

A2 ZHRENEZHPARRNT —F&E

+T—FHMEER -

KRB ENREREFENT

2024 2023

—ETWEF —T-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR%T AR®ET T

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases  EWBENRIEREFIEMN T :

are as follows:

Within one year —FE R 164,352 149,954

In the second year F-FERN 158,176 124,618

In the third year E=FN 131,369 93,245

In the fourth year FOMER 104,853 65,900

In the fifth year EFRFNA 75,669 50,365

After five years AF% 115,999 173,152

750,418 657,234

36. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following commitments contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of:

36. HIE

RBEHREEER  AEEEHATREAEA]
BRI ER S ISR B 2 AFEN T

2024 2023
—E-mF —EC=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Construction of properties under BEERPIHEEME
development for sale 8,865,265 8,991,972
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

37.FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 37. BERELN

2024 2023
ek S——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTE
Guarantee given to banks in connection with R TR ZEMEMEA TRITZER
facilities granted to customers (Note i) (Bati) 3,059,086 3,940,674
Guarantee given to banks in connection with RETEECEREE AR ZBEM
facilities granted to joint ventures and 1B T RIT 2 YR (A atii)
associates (Note ii) 2,341,730 2,491,500
Notes: et
()  The Group acted as the guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to () AKERETETAKRENXERZEZBES ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁi
certain purchasers of the Group's properties and agreed to repay the RA - YRBMERREREHNEZEREEER -
outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default AEESEENAEEEREEETE - $ AIEE
the repayment of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The RATVEERNTBRERENZ AFELTERK
directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition is not significant.
(i) The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial (ii) AREERRUBERNEHZERE B 2 ATEL
guarantee at the initial date of providing this guarantee is insignificant. TEK
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

38.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 38.EAEANLTHEE
(a) BEALRS

(@) Related party transactions

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties:

BRREM B RREMEAREEI -
AEBHEREALHEANTRS ¢

2024 2023
—Eo@mE “To=f
Related parties BEAL Nature of transaction ReME RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREBFT
An associate of an IR A ) 2 Bt % Asset management service & EEIE RS 17,422 14,971
intermediate NG
holding company
Fellow subsidiaries R ZHiE AR Property management MEEEBHRY (B 181,326 71,704
fee expenses (including W R BT
reimbursement and
miscellaneous expenses)
Construction service fee TIRREER 78,010 119,495
Operational support EETFRBRA 249 1,395
service income
Rental income e WA 2,682 3,628
Consulting and operation R L EEERA 6,641 8,830
management income
Main operating costs FEEERAK 1,085 525
Other expenses HiBH 13,903 41,799
Carpark space underwriting 285 EE A 57,834 18,727
expense
Repayment of lease BEHEAE 8,875 10,580
liabilities
Interest expenses arising ~ HEBBELZFIE 4,988 4,450
from lease liabilities X
Interest expenses MERAL 29,649 -
An associate of the  SA4ZRR AT Z B4 Finance costs RERKA 104,873 133,147
ultimate holding NG Bank interest income FATHEHA 41,893 50,631
company Rental income GEEALON 833 808
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EE—

—AFEF= A=+ —HILFE

38.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Related party balances

Details of the Group's balances with related parties are
disclosed in notes 23, 25, 27, 28 and 29.

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and restricted
bank deposits of approximately RMB6,150,105,000
(2023: RMB4,200,460,000) were deposited at CMB, an
associate of the ultimate holding company. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, proceeds from bank and
other borrowings of RMB1,334,244,000 and repayments
of bank and other borrowings of RMB1,840,916,000 were
in relation to loans from CMB.

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately RMB85,342,000
and RMB99,826,000 (2023: RMB103,968,000 and
RMB115,627,000) was arisen from the lease agreement
with a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

Related party cash flows

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following fund
flows with related parties:

38. B4
(b)

BATKEZE®)
B AN L%

AEBREBALTZE
2325272829 °

AN

RZZZME+ZA=+—0 ' RITEH
RZHERITERLOAR6,150,105,000
T(ZTZ=%F : AR 4,200,460,000
TL) TF R S AR AR A R RO B & R R 48 7
BT - BE-E-_ME+-A=+—H8Hit
FE CHBOREMEEMSHREBEBARE
1,334,244,0007T R EERITREMEE A
R ¥1,840,916,00070¥9 EL 1B S SR 1 TR B 3K
£ -

R-_ZE-_NE+—_A=+—H8  FAEE
ENAEAEH ARESS,342,0007T & A
R#99,826000L(ZE=_=F : AR%
103,968,0007T &2 A R #115,627,0007T. ) J&
BEEAEE -—RERXMNBATZITNHEE
ek ©

RARMBEmMREME O AREEN - K
BEEEINESERDT

2024 2023

—E-NE —EBEo=F

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBETTT

Advances to fellow subsidiaries BRTRFRME QA - (19,575)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries A Z T /8 A R B - 6,652
Advances to other related parties BT EMEAET (4,839,054) (1,760,790)
Repayment from other related parties HRE R ER 5,648,112 954,936
Advances from intermediate holding companies [E# 1% A Bl £ 8,171,503 15,271,238
Repayment to intermediate holding companies AR A 7E & (11,049,790)  (13,935,329)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries EEY NGRS 2,426,550 1,849,660
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries BIEEI =N 75\%#\ (1,167,880) (367,618)
Advances from other related parties Eﬁﬁfﬁ%@ﬁ - 823,349
Repayment to other related parties A E b Bg i3 ‘:ﬁ’\ - (463,969)
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38.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(d) As at 31 December 2024, bank and other borrowings of

approximately RMB700,000,000 (2023: RMB1,475,766,000)
were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

3B EEATEE®)

(d)

R-ZE-_MNE+-_A=+—8 HAR
®700,000000 L (ZZTE==F : ARK
1,475,766,0007T ) KR 1T R Efb g B Th B
RGP O R -

Compensation of key management personnel (e) TEEBEBABZHE
2024 2023
—EB-NE T =F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Short-term employee benefits R EE BT 10,167 10,632
Post-employment benefits RIRREF 676 538
10,843 11,170

Transactions with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government.
In addition, the Group operates in an economic
environment currently pre-denominated by entities
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“PRC government-related
entities”). Apart from the transactions with the related
parties as set out in (a) and (b) above, the Group also
conducts businesses with other PRC government-
related entities in the ordinary course of business. The
Group's bank deposits and bank and other borrowings
are entered into with certain banks which are PRC
government-related entities in its ordinary course of
business. In addition, the Group entered into various
transactions, including purchases of land use rights,
construction of properties and other operating expenses
with other PRC government-related entities in the
ordinary course of business. In view of the nature of
those transactions, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that separate disclosures would not be
meaningful.

HEMPBERFEEERIRS

AEESHETEBRFZEH 2 BRREEE
THREBXEERFZ 82 - Bt » &
RAEERR  AEBEXPBEBTHRE
B o UbSN s REBMEELEREREZ
PREIBFMES - ARZEHRRETAS
TENER(HEBFEEER T
BoREX@Eb)MFEEBEALTZR
29 AERETN AR BES BEM
TEBFREERRETER AREZER
TERRBITREMERETIRBEELB
R EBTERTEERRZE TR
Moo i AEEBFVEZERS B
REFXEBBEETREGPBERAFREER
BREELHERE ZEVEREAGBEE
X - AZERZEEER  ARAES
RARATRELESE -
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38.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(9) Management services

The Group's activities were planned, directed and
controlled by the management of China Merchants
Shekou, which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

38.EEATEE®

(9) BEERS
AEBEPHREEHEAEREERE - =5
BRES - NMEFEAREEDILER
PR ft 2z BRFSWEE R & -

39. A RAEIMB AR 2515

JiN

=

=

—ENER T -_=F+_H=+—8 -
AR EZMBARIZFBHOT

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
gEMRY  ERORERERE EREMEER
i 2 B & 7 B33t B BRUTEN PR L fl FEXH
2024 2023
—E-mE —EoCF
% %
Directly owned
EEER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100 100 Investment holding
ERBRAT BB 75 110,0007C REER
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited ~ The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
REREBRAH RERUHE  100XT REER
Harvest Allied Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding

EXRERRAH BB #8#10,0007C
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

3. KA RNAIMB B 25 1B (#)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective

incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
TMARELS ERTRESRE ERAREER
) kg B 3L 3t B R PRl FEXH
2024 2023
k2 I
% %
Indirectly owned
BEEE
Nanjing Jiangzhou Shengrui Real EstateChinese RMB1,200,000,000 51 51 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
BRIMNEIREEBRAR (M) RERM AR #1,200,000,0007T NEER
Nanjing Xuansheng Real Estate Chinese RMB6,800,000,000 100 100  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. * (Note ii) Mainland
HRZBEHERFERAR M) TERL AR #6,800,000,0007C MEER
Xi'an Zhaoxi Yunyue Real Estate Co.,  Chinese RMB14,280,000 70 100  Property development
Ltd. * (Note iii) Mainland
AR BBERE HERRAR (M) REIR AR #14,280,0007 NEER

—ToNEFR BERBMARATE 279



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

39. RN BB AR ZFEE (&)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
TMREL/  ERTRESRE EREEER
i) ke BB R FrARRE Bl FEXHK
2024 2023
s S 2 I e
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Nanjing Yaosheng Real Estate Chinese RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. * (Note iii) Mainland
BERRRE R I ERBERAR (Hzti) TEAM AR #20,000,0007C NEER
Xi'an Zhaoguang Co., Ltd. * Chinese RMB400,000,000 51 100  Property development
(Note iii) Mainland
REREEREBRARA(MZi)  FEAL AR #400,000,0007C B
Nanjing Zhaorui Real Estate Chinese RMB900,000,000 100 80.4  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
AR RREHEREBRAR M) FER R#900,000,0007 B
Xi'an Shanglin Huayuan Real Estate Co.,Chinese RMB1,000,000,000 99 99 Property development
Ltd. * (Note iii) Mainland
R HERERERR AR (A i) T B AR 1,000,000,0007C B
Xi'an Zhaoxi Jiuyue Real Estate Co., Ltd.Chinese RMB14,280,000 70 100  Property development
* (Note i) Mainland
BZREAWERERR DR (A i) FEAL AR #14,280,00070 B
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

3. KA RNAIMB B 25 1B (#)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
dMEL BRAREERE ERAREER
WEAREHE B 3t 3 TR A gt ¥ 30401 FEXH
2024 2023
k2 —F-zf
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BERE (&)
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen)*  Chinese RMB1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Note i) Mainland
BERERCRIDERAR (ML)  HERM AR H1,000,0007C REER
China West Premier Housing Chinese US$533,960,015 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes i and iv)
EERBERREBRAA FERL 533,960,015% 7T MEER
(HiztiRiv)
China Merchants Land Asset Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 100 100  Real Estate Investment Trust
Management Co., Ltd management
RERENEEARAA BB 7111,500,0007T BHERAGRER
Guangzhou Zhaosheng Real Estate Co.,Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Property development
Ltd. * (Note iii) Mainland
BMAREREBRAR Mi)  FENY AR#10,000,0007 NRER
Chongaing China Merchants Yi Yun  Chinese MB20,000,000 100 100  Property development
Property Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
EERAKEREMERR AR (M i) PERL AR #20,000,0007 NEER
Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng Chinese RMB759,000,000 100 100  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Note iii)
ERRBKNFERERZBRAR  FEA AR 759,000,0007C B
(Hiatiii)
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share capital/

39. RN BB AR ZFEE (&)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR, ERTRESRE ARRFHER
HEAR AR B33t B ERUTEN FERERR LAl TEEK
2024 2023
—E-mE —EoCF
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
MERE (&)
Chongging Yizhi Business Chinese US$200,000 50 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes i and iv)
BERRERFERERAA Bl 3 200,000 7T MEER

(BftiRiv)

Coming Wealth Limited Hong Kong HKD2

EREE AR AT B BT
Chongaing Merchants Jinshan Yi Ku Chinese RMB10,000,000
Business Management Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Notes ii and iv)
EELECILEEREER H 3y AR #10,000,0007

BRAR (M aiRiv)

Chongging Merchants Yi Gang Chinese RMB1,050,000,000

Property Development Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Note iii)

EERRRERLERS PEIA AR 1,050,000,0007C
BRAR(Hrztiii)

Converge Holdings Limited The BVI US$10

EZERARAF REEZES  10XT
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 39. RN BB AR 25 1B (&)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR, BERTREARE ARRFEER
HEARAR B33t B EALINEN FEERR LA TEXH
2024 2023
e S 1S —EoCF
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BERE (&)
Cosmo City Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50 50  Investment holding
BUBRAR (M tiv) BB 74,640,010,0007C REER
Xixian New Area Zhaocheng Chinese RMB459,000,000 100 100  Property development
Yongsheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. *  Mainland
(Note iii)
ARARRAKRFLEERAR  PEAL AR#459,000,0007C NREE
(Hiatiii)
Foshan Yi Yun Property Chinese RMB3,640,000,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
BUKERHEERRT hE A AR#3,640,000,0007C B
(Kr#iiiRiv)
Foshan Merchants Property Chinese RMB948,030,000 100 100  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i)~ Mainland
BURRBEEBRDR(Mti)  PERE AR#948,030,0007C ES
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property ~ Chinese RMB10,000,000 - 55 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Note iii and v)
BUKEZEFREFRAR PEIA AK#10,000,0007 ES
(Wi kv)
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

39. RN BB AR ZFEE (&)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
gMRY  EROREERE EREEER
i) ke BB R FrARRE Bl FEXHK
2024 2023
s S 2 —F-cF
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan Property Chinese RMB10,500,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
BILKE FREEFR A H A3t AE#10,500,0007T NEER
(KraiiiRiv)
Foshan Merchants Luhu Property  Chinese RMB948,030,000 90 90  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
BLBRSAEEERAR H A3 AE#948,030,0007 NEER
(KraiiiRiv)
Foshan Merchants Hanlin Property ~ Chinese RMB 192,000,000 100 100  Property development
Development Co., Limited* Mainland
(Note iii)
LR E SR ER R AR (Aatii) PRI AR 192,000,000 NEER
Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan Chinese RMB1,614,000,000 50 50  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
BLREPREERRL A B At AEH1,614,000,0007C NEER
(Wi Riv)
Foshan Merchants Guolin Property ~ Chinese RMB50,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) ~ Mainland
B RRREFMEBR AR (K i) T B AR 50,000,007 B
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39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 39. "R BB AR ZFH IR @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
TMARELS ERTRESRE ERAREER
) kg B 3L 3t B R PRl FEXH
2024 2023
k2 —F-zf
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Foshan Merchants Brilliant Property Chinese RMB2,016,000,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
BLREAER ERRD A A AR #2,016,000,0007T NEER
(Bfatiii Riv)
Guangzhou Junyao* (Note iii) Chinese RMB650,000,000 50.1 50.1  Property development
Mainland
EMNEREWEBRAR(Mdi)  FEAM AR #650,000,0007 NEER
Guangzhou Yi Yun Property Chinese RMB100,000,000 100 51  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) ~ Mainland
BMNKEFUEBRAR (Hatii)  FERL AR 100,000,007 MEER
Xi'an Zhaoxing Yongsheng Real Chinese RMB510,000,000 100 100 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
P REKBFMERRDR (M) P EA AR#510,000,0007C NRER
Harpen Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 50 50  Investment holding
(Note iv)
eREHEXRERAR (Mitv) BE 710,000 REER
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Chinese RMB148,380,817 51 51  Property development
Ltd.* (“Merchants Nanjing”) Mainland
(Note ii)
RRRHRE(FER)BRAF H 3t AR¥148,380,8177C NEER
(THRmA =) (i)
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BE—F-_mMFE+-A=+—FAIFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully

incorporation/ paid share capital/

Proportion effective

ownership interest

3. KX RNAEIMB AR ZFE &)

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
TMREL/  ERTRESRE EREEER
i) ke BB R FrARRE Bl TEEK
2024 2023
s S 2 I e
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Merchants Property Development ~ Chinese RMB200,000,000 100 100  Property development
(Guangzhou) Limited* (Note ii) Mainland
BEMNRBEREARAR(MZI)  FEAM AR 200,000,007 B
Nanjing Shengtong Property Chinese RMB1,500,000,000 51 51  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i) Mainland
HRBREUERFERAR M) TERG AR 1,500,000,0007C B
Nanjing Chuangma* (Note iii) Chinese RMB 100,000,000 60 60  Property development
Mainland
ARASRERRARDA(MZi) TERM AR #100,000,0007C B
Nanjing Zhaochuang Technology ~ Chinese RMB53,000,000 60 60  Property development
Innovation Service Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Note iii)
HRREIR AR RB AR AR A AR53,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
Nanjing DJZ Trading* Chinese RMB891,000,000 60 51 Property development
(Notes iii and iv) Mainland
AR FHEERRAR FEAL AR 891,000,007 B
(KiaiiiRiv)
Nanjing Zhaorong Property Chinese RMB1,200,000,000 51 51  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) ~ Mainland

BARREEHERZER AR (A i) RRAM AE#1,200,000,0007T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_WFE+-A=+—FAIFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

Issued and fully

3. KA RNAIMB B 25 1B (#)

Proportion effective

incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
dMEL BRAREERE ERAREER
WEAREHE B 3t 3 TR A gt ¥ 30401 TEXK
2024 2023
k2 —F-zf
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng Property Chinese US$205,000,000 - 51 Property development
Development Limited* Mainland
(Note i and v)
HRRRREEERRAR A 205,000,000 7 NEER
(Hietiky)
Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng Chinese RMB100,000,000 51 51 Investment holding
Investment Limited* (Note iii) Mainland
BRABTHRRERRA R (ML) HEAM AR 100,000,000 REER
Nanjing Merchants Zhaosheng Chinese RMB400,000,000 - 51 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Notes iii and v)
AR RERRESERRAR PRI AR #400,000,0007C B
(Hietii%v)
Pride Qasis Limited ( “Pride Oasis”) The BVI US$599,095,420 50 50  Investment holding
(Note iv)
ARBRDA(TRR]) (HZiv) EBEAE  599,095420%TT REZR
Nanjing Jinsheng Decoration Chinese RMB2,000,000 - 40  Property development
Engineering Co.,Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and v)
MRYRRHTEERAR FERL AR%2,000,0007C NEER
(Hietii&v)
Nanjing Xuansheng Commercial Chinese RMB1,000,000 85.4 - Property development
Management Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
HRZBAXERARDA(H i) TERL AR#1,000,0007C NRER
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BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

3. KX RNAEIMB AR ZFE &)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
gMRY  EROREERE EREEER
WEAREHE B 2 TR A gt ¥ $:3040] FEXHK
2024 2023
s S 2 —F-cF
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Sino Action Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$500 100 100 Investment holding
ZEHREERAH BB 5007 REER
Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property Chinese RMB500,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Limited* Mainland
(Note i)
AR (EM)EHEREBRAA PRI AR #500,000,0007C B
(Hati)
Xi'an Mao On Property Chinese US$172,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company Mainland
Limited* (Note i)
RRRXZEREBRARA(MZ)  FEAL 172,000,000 7T MEER
Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property Chinese US$29,900,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i) Mainland
EINEERERBRARAN)  HERNM 29,900,000 7 NEER
Xi'an Zhaohua Yongsheng Real Chinese RMB400,000,000 100 100 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
BELREKREE EBR AR (M) R E R AR #400,000,0007T NEER
Xi'an Zhao Ping Property Chinese RMB1,860,800,000 51 51  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i) ~ Mainland
B RTEHERRAR ML)  PEARL AR #1,860,800,0007T NEER
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan * Chinese RMBA4,227,500,000 52 52 Property development
(Note iii) Mainland
MREEE (M) PEAL AR#4,227,500,0007C ES
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

3. KA RNAIMB B 25 1B (#)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
dMEL BRAREERE ERAREER
) kg B 3L 3t B R PRl FEXH
2024 2023
k2 —F-zf
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Xi'an China Merchants Jiashi Chinese RMB980,392,157 51 51  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.* ~ Mainland
(Note iii)
AR REEREEGR AR (M i) RER AR #980,392,1577C NEER
Chongqing Zhaoke Zhiye Co., Ltd.* Chinese RMB10,000,000 51 51  Property development
(Note iii) Mainland
BRANEXARAA(Hatii) FERL AR%10,000,0007T MEER
Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise Chinese US$100,000 100 51  Property management
Management Consulting Mainland
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
LEAREXEREATRAR Bl At 100,0003 7 NEER
(Hiitiii)
Guangzhou Baosu Real Estate Co.,  Chinese RMB4,000,000 50 50  Property management
Ltd. * (“Guangzhou Baosu”) Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
ENRBEXBRAR(TEMNRE]) hEAM AR #4,000,0007C NEER
(Hiatii&iv)
Guangzhou Yueshang Real Estate  Chinese RMB1,000,000 50 50  Property management
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
EMTHERNEREER A Bl At ARE#1,000,0007C NEER

(Biatiii Riv)
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BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

39. RN BB AR ZFEE (&)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
TMREL/  ERTRESRE EREEER
WEAREHE B 2 TR A FrARRE Bl FEXHK
2024 2023
s S 2 I e
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Nanjing Jinsheng Real Estate Chinese RMB720,000,000 40 40  Property management
Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Notes iii and iv)
HRYEEHERERRAR H A3t AE#720,000,0007 NEER
(KraiiiRiv)
Xi'an Zhaolin Real Estate Co., Ltd.*  Chinese RMB260,000,000 100 100  Property development
(Note iii) Mainland
B RBEHERRAR (ML)  FEAL AE#260,000,0007C NEER
Xi'an Zhaoli Yunshu Real Estate Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
ARRREFEHEERAR FERL AR #10,000,00070 MEER
(Hizziii)
Xi"an Shengxi Decoration Chinese RMB2,000,000 100 100 Property development
Engineering Co., Ltd.* (Note iii) Mainland
AERERAHTRARAR(Matii) FEAL AR#2,000,0007T NEER
Chongging Merchants Qisheng Real Chinese RMB540,600,000 100 100 Property development
Estate Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Note iii)
EERERBFHEREARDA  PEAM AR #540,600,0007C B
(Hiatiii)
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BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

3. KA RNAIMB B 25 1B (#)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
dMEL BRAREERE ERAREER
) kg B 3L 3t B R PRl FEXH
2024 2023
k2 —F-zf
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Chongqing Merchants Zhiyuan Real Chinese RMB152,000,000 100 100  Property development
Estate Development Co., Ltd.* Mainland
(Note iii)
EERARERMEREROERAF T EARML AR #152,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
& The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity * EXABEMRER - BRZEXBBAPX -

is in Chinese.

Note i: The entity is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
Note ii: The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture.
Note iii: ~ The entity is a wholly domestic-owned enterprise.

Note iv:  The entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite
the Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the
equity interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity,
which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

Hiati: BRRIEBERE -

Hiatii: BRRTIEERE -

Hratiii: BRERARERNERE -

Hitiv: ZEBEEAK/EARZMEAR - #AARAEHE
REESEZERBTZR —FERE  BARERZ

ERCEFERRAARAZBESE  wHZER
ZEREREN -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T_HF+—A=+—HLFE

39.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in Chinese Mainland. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

3. KX RNAEIMB AR ZFE &)

RBERK - ARABEMEAKEN S TE
ERNMBAR - Z5WBRRARIMBO R E
MIEE - ZEMBRRNTREBHAMNT

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FEXK FEEXMH M AR #E
2024 2023
—ECQmE O —F-=F
Property development Chinese Mainland 14 25
MEER R [ A3
Hong Kong 2 -
BB
Property management Chinese Mainland 4 1
MEER HR [ (A 3
Hong Kong - 1
B
Investment holding Chinese Mainland 1 0
KB H B A3,
Hong Kong 7 2
B
The BVI 1 -
KBRS
29 29

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the year or at any time during the year which is
held by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUB®RRWNE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

40.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

AOBEBEARFERER ZAEBHE
PGS

TREBVNEBE R ERZAKEIFEE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling (I PNCIES
interests:

Place of

incorporation/

establishment and

principal place Voting rights held by (Loss)/profit allocated to Accumulated

Name of entities of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ARAL/ KL% PEFFERER
REEE REBEXBE FERERAFRER (B8)/ &5 it FERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“¥-mE -ToCF CRCWE -TooF SRCmE CToCf
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Guangzhou Baosui Chinese Mainland 50% 50% (5,277) 1,783 1,998,089 2,003,365
BMRIE RE A,
Pride Oasis The BVI 50% 50% 182,601 70828 5,713,190 5,530,589
Merchants Nanjing Chinese Mainland 51% 51% (42,921) 270016 7,141,997 7,199,801
TEER R
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests 26,722 775714 10,218,869 10,478,984
BAERER 5 TBEARB AT
161,125 1118401 25,072,145 25212739
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

40.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
each of the Group's entities that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated

financial information below represents amounts before intra-

group eliminations.

HRERBEBEE AR 2 AEE
EUBERBMBHENTX - TXHAUBEH
BRIEREANIH HAI 2 S5

AOBEBEARFERER ZAEBHFE
EMBARFES @

= [
B 4

Notes: Hfat
2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREFT
Guangzhou Baosui EMRTE
Non-current assets FEnBEE 3,633 587
Current assets MENEE 11,088,531 11,158,866
Current liabilities mE B & 7,095,987 7,152,723
Non-current liabilities FEnRBEE - =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARTHEA AEILHER 1,998,089 2,003,365
Non-controlling interests FEFERR 1,998,089 2,003,365
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income attributable to AR REH AL (EB), /55 &2 EKkSa%8
owners of the Company (5,277) 1,783
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income attributable to  FE#ZERk iR L (E51E),SEF k2 kS E5E
non-controlling interests (5,277) 1,783
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEE(FR), w7 R amikesa s (10,554) 3,566
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities fraseae S8 S (Rl RAERE (395,852) 460,086
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEK RS R %R (150,194) (613,200)
Net cash outflow BemtiEsE (546,046) (153,114)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

40.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

AOBEBEARFERER ZAEBHE
EMBARFB @

Htet - (%)

2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AREFT
Pride Oasis (=R
Non-current assets JEREEE 1,092,610 1,183,277
Current assets TRENVEE 16,957,001 14,247,302
Current liabilities mE AR 4,427,889 2,266,031
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE 2,195,342 2,103,370
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNRAHER AR 5,713,190 5,530,589
Non-controlling interests JEEARAE 25 5,713,190 5,530,589
Revenue g 2,204,731 1,589,165
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to RAREA AR R E KA
owners of the Company 182,601 70,828
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to PR AR 2 FEAG s A R 2 e 42 58
non-controlling interests 182,601 70,828
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REFHN R 2EksE5 365,202 141,656
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [BAREZZINE $ai o5 - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities R IBEMA Rt ) B5E 412,548 (536,553)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities BEER B2 (RY), /R ERE (287) 211,991
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEBH 2 RSRMAFE 409,723 8,706
Net cash inflow/(outflow) inflow BERA/ R ) RAERE 821,984 (315,856)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HEFE+-A=+—HALFE

40.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

40%ﬁik#ﬁ&%¥2$$ﬁ#%

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Mt - (%)

EMBARFES @

2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT
Merchants Nanjing BEER
Non-current assets FERBEE 8,934,341 9,865,355
Current assets TRENVEE 12,648,965 20,748,908
Current liabilities mENA K 5,081,021 12,917,469
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 3,489,200 4,448,587
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNRAER AR 5,871,088 6,048,406
Non-controlling interests e AR 2 7,141,997 7,199,801
Revenue s 5,074,743 4,203,164
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income attributable to  ARQRHHE AFEE (E1R), % H B2 E ka5
owners of the Company (173,848) 355,143
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to IR s A s A R 2 E a2 58
non-controlling interests (42,921) 270,016
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEF(BER), SN EmEkSEE (216,769) 625,159
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [EARE Zediie gl oy 20,000 127,200
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities s B EmA (R ) F5E 1,046,764 (73,048)
Net cash inflow from investing activities REEBZHRLRNFR 1,100,212 101,506
Net cash outflow from financing activities AR ZRERE RE (2,776,251) (263,632)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow ReORt),/mAFHE (629,275) (235,174)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Az —

41.

—AFE+=A=+—HILFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets
amounted to RMB1,692,000, investment properties amounted
to RMB10,668,000 and lease liabilities of RMB15,154,000 were
disposed off from the early termination of lease during the
year. Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, lease terms were
modified for an existing lease contract resulting in a reduction
of investment properties and lease liabilities amounted to
RMB12,858,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into a new lease and right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities amounted to RMB5,342,000 were recognised with no
contractual cashflow incurred at initial recognition.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, dividend declared
from associates of RMB19,600,000 have been settled through
amounts due to the associates. Also, capital deduction of
associates amounted to RMB825,230,000 has been settled by
amount due to the associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, dividend declared
from joint ventures of RMB33,546,000 have been settled
through amounts due to joint ventures. Also, capital injection
to joint ventures of RMB16,500,000 and capital reduction
of joint ventures amounted to RMB1,042,218,000 has been
settled by amount due from the joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, dividend declared
to non-controlling interests amounted to RMB250,241,000
have been settled through amounts due from the non-
controlling interests.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, properties, plants
and equipment amounted to RMB85,613,000 were reduced
with cost realignment upon settlement of construction
contracts.

4. ERFRERS

BHE-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HIFE " FH
BEEARE1,692,0007T « EWEARE
10,668,0007T R & & & AR ¥ 15,154,000 A
RENREIRIEROMBES - At © WES
HEETREAER -

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HBLFE  HR
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁhﬂﬁﬁ@& BYEREMER
HEaER D AR12,858,0007T ©

HE-_ZT-_WF+=—A=1+— Eﬁiﬁ REE

aTi%ﬁ g TR
AR #5,342,0007T ° %)JW:E
Eﬁiuwi ®

hI*FEAﬁ

HE_T_MNME+_A=T—HIEFE B

AR S A R #19,600,0007T 2 2 38 & 1< Bk
**’“T RIRAE)S ° BEHN - BiE & R B & AN HIRLA
R #825,230,0007T B 375 38 & < Bk & X R FRIE A%

B e

HE_T-_NF+-_A=+—HLEFE -

TS ﬁH%AE%%ﬁ%mmnEﬁﬂﬁﬁ
BEDHERIBEE - LN MEBRFETEA
R #16,500,0007t k& & EEARNHRHARE
1,042,218,0007C E B BEIN & & D EFKIBLES ©

HE-_T-_WFE+_A=+—HILFE  AF*
ﬂ%**&%%AE%%mmome%ﬂ
FEURIEE B E RS FIBAEE o

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—HLFE  HE
BEANEEMETHRAAZE 9% BER
SRR A AR #85,613,0007T °
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42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
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2
At

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

42 EERARAMBRAKRZER

COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_NE -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREET T
(Restated)
(&%)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE k& 51 23
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIEE 1,996,636 10,017
Amounts due from subsidiaries A S NG B 16,333,065 17,032,911
18,329,752 17,042,951
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TARFRIR ~ 25 N H M R UGRIR 1,047 1,434
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B 2,876,933 3,973,466
Amount due from intermediate holding company J& J i # 12 fi A 5] 8 2,297,909 1,520,953
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FE L [R) Z [ /B A B 3K IR 1,111,450 317,860
Bank balances and cash RITEB LIRS 304,033 173,915
6,591,372 5,987,628
Current liabilities HREBEE
Other payables and accruals H At T RIE K T E A 77,296 74,341
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESTBT B A B RUAR 2,446,195 2,870,914
Amount due to intermediate holding company  FE{fE#EIZR A B FIE 3,861,108 4,227,690
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries I EL =G ESE 3,448,507 1,537,043
Bank and other borrowings PITREMES 2,070,000 1,483,750
11,903,106 10,193,738
Net current liabilities REBEERE (5,311,734) (4,206,110)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABERE 13,018,018 12,836,841
Non-current liability E =R
Bank and other borrowings PRITREMES 11,802,587 11,096,746
Net assets EEFE 1,215,431 1,740,095
Capital and reserves EAXRfHfE
Share capital A% 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note i) (B aEi) 1,176,299 1,700,963
Total equity RS HEER 1,215,431 1,740,095
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F-_HF+-A=+—HALFE

42 . INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 42 EBAQA R BR AT 2ER (#)

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note i: Reserves Bz - s
Share Translation  Contributed Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserves losses reserve
IR A58 B S & E N Rt HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT AR¥EFTT AREFTT AR¥EFTT AREFTT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE=_=%—H—H 4,015,014 8,076 46,004 (2,601,441) 1,467,653
Profit and total comprehensive 4 A& & 2 H Kz 4258
income for the year (restated)  (&&7%)) = - - 368,769 368,769
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (135,459) - - - (135,459)
At 31 December 2023 and Rem——&F+-—A=+—pn
1 January 2024 (restated) R-—E-—mE—H—Q
(&E5) 3,879,555 8,076 46,004 (2,232,672) 1,700,963
Loss and total comprehensive &R EE K2 WA
income for the year - - - (470,961) (470,961)
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (53,703) - - - (53,703)
At 31 December 2024 RZZT-_MF+=-A=+—H 3,825,852 8,076 46,004 (2,703,633) 1,176,299

The amounts due from subsidiaries and the accumulated
losses as at 31 December 2023 require correction due to the
printing errors.

HREIRER R _=F+_-_H=+—
B BUHBARKERRFTERSKERTESE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TFHBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 as below.

NTHIASERBEARAETRFEEZEEUAREER
BEME  IREgEE—_Z_TF T —F
TR R CFRIFCNF A= 4—
BIEFE 2 BT &R RE ©

RESULTS E3 Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=1+—ALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —E-=F T —E-—F —TCTE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT AREFT
REVENUE Wz 20,661,233 28,800,845 29,871,347 25,921,416 18,956,418
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BBA (BE) HH (1,165,461) 2,691,070 2,980,643 3,530,869 3,605,146
Income tax expenses FERE X (524,169) (1,439,255) (1,250,617) (1,948,003) (2,091,701)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A% (BE) /%A (1,689,630) 1,251,815 1,730,026 1,582,866 1,513,445
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER As at 31 December
R+=BR=t+-8
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —Eo=& —E-—F T —F “ET-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETF T
TOTAL ASSETS BEEMAE 124,744,030 132,670,547 130,868,300 138,727,655 111,025,883
TOTAL LIABILITIES BE4E 91,650,022 97,545,558 98,142,035 104,877,058 79,759,049
Net assets BESE 33,094,008 35,124,989 32,726,265 33,850,597 31,266,834
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Stock Code B2 LR : 978
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